EPISTEMIC AND PSYCHOLOGICAL BENEFITS

OF DEPRESSION

by

MAGDALENA ANNA ANTROBUS

A thesis submitted to the University of Birmingham for the degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

> Department of Philosophy School of Philosophy, Theology and Religion College of Arts and Law University of Birmingham September 2017

UNIVERSITY^{OF} BIRMINGHAM

University of Birmingham Research Archive

e-theses repository

This unpublished thesis/dissertation is copyright of the author and/or third parties. The intellectual property rights of the author or third parties in respect of this work are as defined by The Copyright Designs and Patents Act 1988 or as modified by any successor legislation.

Any use made of information contained in this thesis/dissertation must be in accordance with that legislation and must be properly acknowledged. Further distribution or reproduction in any format is prohibited without the permission of the copyright holder.

ABSTRACT

In this thesis I propose a new way of understanding depressive illness as not exclusively harmful, but as related to particular, empirically evidenced, epistemic and pragmatic benefits for the subject, alongside the associated costs.

For each of the benefits considered, I provide and concisely analyse the empirical evidence both in its favour and against it, suggest ways in which these benefits could apply in the circumstances presented, discuss some outstanding problems for that application as stated, and describe potential implications. The issues discussed involve topics in cognitive psychology as well as in ethics, which I regard as complementary to the debate.

I take the view that depression related phenomena such as low mood, low self-esteem, and mood-congruent delusions offer potential benefits to a subject under certain circumstances, but not under others. In discussing the hypotheses presented, I argue for a more complex view of depression, which includes its potential epistemic and pragmatic benefits as well as its costs and I propose possible directions for future research.

For Graham, Helen, and Julian

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost I would like to express my special appreciation and thanks to my supervisor Lisa Bortolotti, you have been a tremendous mentor for me. I would like to thank you for encouraging my research and for allowing me to grow as a doctoral researcher. I was incredibly lucky to have you as my supervisor and so to have insight into my work from both philosophical and psychological angles. Your advice has been priceless. I would also like to thank Anneli Jefferson and Michael Larkin for serving as my co-supervisors even at times of hardship. I am grateful for your brilliant comments and suggestions, thanks to you both.

My special thanks go to my patients, the people who shared their personal stories of depression with me, so openly, honestly and courageously. Thank you for being co-researchers with me. Your stories have touched me permanently, and will always be a part of me. I have learnt so much from you, not only about depression, but also about myself.

I received invaluable comments on elements contained within this thesis from participants at the XVII Oxford Philosophy Graduate Conference (2013), The British Society for the Philosophy of Science Annual Conference in Manchester (2015) and the 17th Conference on Philosophy, Psychiatry and Psychology in Chile (2015), and would like to thank you all for helping me to develop my arguments.

A very special thanks goes to my dearest husband. Graham, you have always encouraged me, supported me and accepted me unconditionally. I owe you a debt of gratitude that words cannot adequately express. I am also hugely appreciative to my wonderful children, Helen

and Julian. Thank you for your love and support, your willingness to make sacrifices for my sake.

I am grateful to my mother and father for their continuous spiritual support. Thanks to my brother Michal for being a great friend and an inspiration in this challenging and joyful academic journey. Thanks to my mother-in law and father-in-law who looked after my children when I panicked about meeting the deadlines.

Finally, I wish to offer my thanks to the European Research Council who provided funding for this research (Consolidator Grant, *Pragmatic and Epistemic Role of Factually Erroneous Cognitions and Thoughts*, Grant Agreement 616358), without which this work would not have been possible.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page No
INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 1 REALISM	14
1.1 DEPRESSION AND THINKING	16
1.2 DEPRESSIVE REALISM	19
1.3 SADDER AND WISER	20
1.3.1 Empirical findings in favour of DR	23
1.3.1.1 DR in self-judgements of control	25
1.3.1.2 DR and the recall of self performance	26
1.3.1.3 DR and self-related predications about the future	28
1.3.1.4 DR and personal circumstances	30
1.3.2 Empirical evidence against the DR hypothesis	32
1.3.2.1 DR and non-self related judgements	33
1.3.2.2 DR in immediate and delayed judgements	35
1.3.2.3 DR and mediating variables	36
1.3.2.4 DR and severe forms of depression	37
1.4: SUMMARY	38
CHAPTER 2: DEFFENSIVE PESSIMISM AND SELF-HANDICAPPING	40
2.1 THE TRADE-OFF MODEL	42
2.2 DEFFENSIVE PESSIMISM	44
2.3 SELF HANDICAPPING	50
2.4 SUMMARY	55
CHAPTER 3: POSITIVE ILLUSIONS AND WELLBEING	58
3.1 POSITIVE ILLUSIONS AS INSTANCES OF OPTIMISM	59
3.2 POSITIVE ILLUSIONS IN CONTEXT	62
3.3 THE PSYCHOLOGICAL COSTS OF ILLUSORY BELIEFS	66
3.3.1 The psychological cost of self-enhancing illusions	67
3.3.2 The benefits of optimism based on realistic self-evaluation	69
3.4 SUMMARY	75

CHAPTER 4: DEPRESSIVE DELUSIONS	76
4.1 SCHIZOPHRENIC DELUSIONS VERSUS DEPRESSIVE DELUSIONS	78
4.2 LEARNING ABOUT THE SELF IN DEPRESSION	81
4.3 A HYPOTHESIS ABOUT THE DEVELOPMENT OF DEPRESSIVE	
DELUSIONS	84
4.4 PSYCHOLOGICAL AND EPISTEMIC BENEFITS OF DEPRESSIVE	
DELUSIONS	90
4.5 SUMMARY	96
CHAPTER 5: EMPATHY	98
5.1 EMPATHY IN PHILOSOPHY AND IN THE EMPIRICAL SCIENCES	99
5.2 EMPATHY IN DEPRESSION	104
5.2.1 Empathy and depression in developmental psychology	104
5.2.2 Empathy and depression in neuroscience	105
5.2.3 Empathy, depression and guilt	107
5.3 THE COSTS OF GUILT-BASED EMPATHY	110
5.4 THE BENEFITS OF GUILT-BASED EMPATHY	116
5.4.1 Depression and the sense of loneliness	117
5.5 SUMMARY	121
CHAPTER 6: CREATIVITY	122
6.1 MAD GENIUS?	125
6.1.1 The evidence supporting the links between depression and creativity	126
6.1.2 The evidence against the links between depression and creativity	135
6.2 EMINENT ARTISTS AND DEPRESSION: NEUROCOGNITIVE	
ARGUMENT	141
6.3 CREATIVITY AS AN EPISTEMIC BENEFIT OF DEPRESSION	144
6.4 SUMMARY	147
CHAPTER 7: SPIRITUALITY AND RELIGIOSITY	149
7.1 SPIRITUALITY, RELIGIOSITY, AND RELIGION	150
7.2 SPIRITUALITY, RELIGIOSITY, AND DEPRESSION	153
7.3 SPIRITUALITY, MEANING, AND MENTAL HEALTH	156
7.4 SUMMARY	164

CHAPTER 8: THESIS SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND	
SUGGESTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH	165
8.1 SUMMARY OF THE KEY FINDINGS	165
8.2 CONCLUSIONS AND LIMITATIONS	168
8.3 FURTHER SUGGESTIONS	172

BIBLIOGRAPHY

175

"You say you're 'depressed'-all I see is resilience. You are allowed to feel messed up and inside out. It doesn't mean you're defective-it just means you're human."

David Mitchell, Cloud Atlas

INTRODUCTION

Depression begins when everything else slows down and when an infinite diversity of colours bizarrely fade to monochrome; where all that you have known so well become dead, cold and indifferent; where the only progression you make is to slip further downwards, further into the dark space of loneliness. The time ahead of you feels infinite: it has no shape and no limits; neither has it any handles to grab nor signposts to offer you a clue of where you are going. Ironically, your past has become your present, blindly galloping forward, still in a hurry, reminding you of all the chances you ever wasted, all the people you ever hurt, all the hopes you ever failed. Depression has the body of an old, bitter individual, full of self-pity, needlesharp guilt, and bad intentions. She spits in your face, she calls you names, she says you are too old and too worthless to live; she takes away your heart, your will, and your senses. Slowly, with no warning signs or even a sound, with a magic wand of self-doubt, she turns you into a lifeless piece of rock. Without awareness, you suddenly enter the realm where life and death no longer matter, where love or hatred no longer exist and where anything you do no longer makes a difference. Depression is a detachment from life; it detaches you from yourself. But depression is not at all poetic. Ironically, it can be almost banal: feeling too tired to get dressed in the morning or to wash the dishes up after last night, being too anxious to answer the phone or too afraid to open the letter. Depression can be quiet, cold and deserted, but it can also be busy and noisy, surrounding itself with drama, involving others in a reckless game of guilt and punishment. It may come as a long-repressed anger, as a postponed disintegration, as a rejected pain, an unwanted choice, or as a defence against joy. It may come invited or completely unwanted; it may come as a reaction to loss, as a no longer bearable memory of a childhood trauma, or it may slip into your life for no legitimate reason. Depression has touched the lives of all of us, one way or another, directly or through the eyes of the loved ones, and yet it remains the most poorly understood of all the forms of psychopathology (Seligman, 1975, p. 76). Many people mistake depression for sadness. We commonly use the expression 'being depressed' to describe feeling sad after something has gone wrong or when we grieve. Kay Jamison reflects on this common and unfortunate misunderstanding:

Others imply that they know what it is like to be depressed because they have gone through a divorce, lost a job, or broken up with someone. But these experiences carry with them feelings. Depression, instead, is flat, hollow, and unendurable. It is also tiresome. People cannot abide being around you when you are depressed. They might think that they ought to, and they might even try, but you know and they know that you are tedious beyond belief: you are irritable and paranoid and humorless and lifeless and critical and demanding and no reassurance is ever enough. You're frightened, and you're frightening, and you're "not at all like yourself but will be soon," but you know you won't. (Jamison, 1996, Epilogue)

For those who suffer from severe depression, life becomes relentlessly bleak and meaningless. The lack of motivation makes sleep the only worthwhile activity if you only were able to fall asleep. The overwhelming and disproportionate guilt is the poison in a body and mind, keeping you awake at night and casting a shadow on every minute of your day. Depression is living in hell.

On such a picture of despair, to ask whether there might be anything at all positive related to depression sounds ridiculous at first. It might be regarded as pathetic and naïve. The intensity of suffering and the number of lives that have been taken away by depression usually removes the question of possible benefits out of the picture.

Being aware of the above risks, I take up the challenge and ask: is there anything at all positive about depression? It is not my intention in this thesis to cast a doubt on the established facts related to the enormous harm and suffering caused by depression, neither do I want to deny that it is an illness that can be treated by pharmacological, behavioural or cognitive means. My intention here is to propose a new, more complex way to think about depression, as a source of unique experiences associated not just with mental and physical harm, but also with certain short- or long-term benefits of cognitive, emotional, pragmatic and epistemic character. Here I use the word 'benefit' to indicate a local and context-dependent advantage which does not necessarily translate into a source of *value*. For example, when children play on the edge of the river bank it might be beneficial for them to be warned by a loud shout in order to stop them falling into the river. However, in other circumstances (for example, when reading a book at home), being unexpectedly shouted at might not be perceived as beneficial and may not contribute to their wellbeing.

I want to show that depression is an experience which can sometimes constitute a creative force; an experience which has the potential to teach us more about ourselves, if we only want to listen; an experience which might support us in noticing the truth, when others choose to put on rose-tinted glasses; an experience which equips us with greater empathy and urges us to search for a deeper meaning. My hope for this thesis is that once we see the wider picture of this undoubtedly harmful and difficult illness, we shall be able to help those who suffer make more sense of their puzzling and unwanted experience.

The impetus for this work is a direct but complex result of my repeated reflections and insights, made upon the number of consultations and therapy sessions I had over seven years with people who suffered from depression. These encounters were as beautiful as they were difficult; they were full of hope and they were full of exhaustion; they were filled with emotional drama and they were filled with sixty minutes of blunt silence. The story of every person was different and-at the same time-all the stories were somehow similar. After having heard many of them throughout the years of my psychological practice I came to conclusion that the common link for all the stories about depression is one's feeling of resignation: resignation from attachment, resignation from involvement, resignation from giving attention, resignation from saying 'no'; resignation from living here and now, resignation from having hopes and dreams, resignation from trying and from fighting. Depression felt like a crush of the mental immune system. It felt like there was nothing left for people to hold on to, nothing to get happy about-or at least they were somehow unable to see it.

However, as their stories unfolded, they started taking new, unexpected, interesting turns, often revealing that there was more to the experience than the excruciating pain of surrender. Whilst my role, as a cognitively-oriented therapist, was to re-focus clients' attention away

from depression towards more positive aspects of their lives, it frequently occurred, much to our mutual surprise, that some of the 'good' things came into clients' experience together *with* depression, rather than *despite* it. In other words, people frequently made a discovery, that some of the positive aspects of their lives had not been available to them before their depression started. For example, one of my clients who had been suffering from depression for many years discovered that the illness made her more open to the suffering of other people. This openness gradually led her to take up a volunteering job in a charity helping young people fighting addictions. Despite battling her own illness, this woman was able to see the potential in her own enhanced emotionality and, with therapeutic support, consequently act upon it in order to make sense of her depressive experience. A number of recent empirical studies, both in social psychology and neuroscience, provides evidence that depression is highly correlated with empathy, a claim which I further investigate in Chapter 5 of this thesis. In the case of my client, such a connection has not only been discovered but also, by having been acted upon, turned into an altruistic achievement, a therapeutic tool in its own rights.

Another example comes from the memory of a man whose long-term depression prevented him from working. Working previously as a manager of a busy public relations agency, he used to be responsible for organising large music events, liaising with a variety of people, working under time pressure, carrying a heavy responsibility for famous people's time and money. After he fell ill, this man felt he could no longer fulfil his job's demands and took an extended time off needed for recovery. Encouraged to record his days and express his moods and feelings with pen and paper, this man discovered his love for writing. With his consent, one of his artist friends turned his writings into song lyrics and went on to perform them at public events. This client of mine found a new passion for writing and never looked back on his old job. The suggestion that suffering from depression enhances our creative potential is perhaps the most widely researched claim out of all the claims regarding beneficial aspects of depression. Chapter 6 explores this in more depth and addresses the key questions related to creativity and depression.

It may be argued that the above examples are rare; that the majority of those who experience depression will have no chance to discover new talents or to change their careers as the result of their experience. Some of the people affected by the illness may not even have the opportunity to receive psychological support and, therefore, their chances of finding similar encouragement will be limited. Whilst it is true that depression does not reveal its beneficial sides and that in order to find them much time and effort is needed, the possibility of depression–related benefits is a huge and important discovery both for the psychological treatment of people affected by the illness and for philosophy.

The time for pursuing this issue could not be more appropriate, as the exploration into the practical use of possible benefits of human cognitive and emotional imperfections has recently started. The idea that people may epistemically or psychologically benefit from otherwise harmful experiences may sound familiar to psychoanalytically oriented psychologists but is still relatively new to philosophers-with some exceptions. It has been my privilege and pleasure to be a part of the team which pioneered such research in the United Kingdom. Based at the University of Birmingham, Lisa Bortolotti and the project PERFECT team (which I joined from October 2014 to September 2017) made a series of philosophical inquiries into the complex nature of mental imperfections, providing arguments for their

epistemic and psychological benefits (see for example Bortolotti and Antrobus, 2015; Antrobus and Bortolotti, 2016; Bortolotti and Miyazono, 2016; Sullivan-Bissett et al., 2016;). The notion of epistemic innocence, developed by Bortolotti (2015b), has been primarily applied to beliefs and suggests that some beliefs that are epistemically costly, because they are inaccurate or weakly supported by the evidence, can nonetheless play an important epistemic role, for instance by allowing the person to remain connected with her environment or react to the often paralyzing effects of anxiety on learning.

Another example of related philosophical inquiries is the model of value-based medicine (VBM) (e.g. Jackson and Fulford, 2002; Fulford, 2004; Fulford, 2011). The proposition here is that the values underlying mental illness are legitimately diverse: depression can be evaluated as either a positive or a negative experience, depending on the person making the evaluation. The proposed value-based practice that follows from that approach relies on a number of factors and in particular, specific *clinical skills* that can be learned to support balanced decision-making where values conflict. The values in question apply predominantly to ethics, but also encompass values of many other kinds-preferences, needs, hopes, expectations, and so forth-and all these are important areas of values in medicine (Fulford, 2008). According to Fulford, the most important reason for the inclusion of values in medicine has to do with the emergence of a model of patient-centred practice in which the values of individual patients are principal to evidence-based clinical decision-making. Fulford's proposition is close to the approach presented in this thesis in such respect that a particular depression-related experience might be regarded as either costly or beneficial for the subject depending on one's subjective evaluation and their personal circumstances. In

some cases, the same experience turns out to be both costly and beneficial, contradicting the stereotypical clinical view of depression as an exclusively harmful phenomenon.

Researchers rarely speak directly of the possible beneficial aspects of mental illness; those who do, focus predominantly on bipolar disorder: illness-related characteristics such as elevated mood or quicker mental associations seem to offer more immediate and measurable benefits. For example Galvez and colleagues (Galvez et al., 2011) provide a short review of empirical evidence pointing at correlations between bipolar disorder and various personality traits such as spirituality, empathy or creativity. Kay Jamison (Jamison, 1993; Jamison, 1995) in turn offers extensive research exposing links between creativity and bipolar disorder, predominantly in famous artists. Finally, Nassir Ghaemi (Ghaemi, 2010; Ghaemi, 2011) shows that affective disorders might sometimes have a beneficial impact on personality; the author argues that many famous people such as Winston Churchill or Abraham Lincoln were able to achieve extraordinary things in life not *in spite*, but *because of* the illnesses they were battling.

However, the very argument which I develop in this work, that – in certain circumstances – symptoms of depression can deliver epistemic and psychological benefits to the subject alongside the associated costs, has not yet been made. One explanation for this gap in the literature is that the psychological and epistemic costs of depression are so obvious that the very possibility of them being somehow good for us is dismissed before being carefully examined. The existing psychological, philosophical and psychiatric literature tends to focus exclusively on the harmful effects of depression and to identify strategies to 'treat' them or to correct them. Very rarely are intellectual or clinical resources dedicated to the detection of

beneficial aspects of depressive symptoms, and when some benefits are identified, they are approached as interesting but practically unhelpful marvels. This is also due to our current Western frameworks of mental wellbeing, which promote continuous 'optimism' attitude in life and prioritise it over other virtues such as strong character, knowledge or altruism. Meanwhile, as the mounting empirical evidence shows, optimism can sometimes be associated with serious psychological and epistemic costs to the subject (e.g. Baumeister et al., 1996; Robins and Beer, 2001). For example, overly optimistic people frequently fail to make rational and unbiased decisions, often with catastrophic consequences; they are also prone to positive illusions about reality, preventing them from making accurate judgements about themselves and self-related circumstances. It is by no means my intention to discourage anyone from having a positive attitude in life; this has been repeatedly linked to good health and better achievements. My intention is rather to show that the links between low mood, pessimism and their costs and benefits are more complex than it is sometimes presented both in clinical literature and in popular science. Too often we are told that being optimistic is undoubtedly 'good' for us, whilst feeling sad or having low self-esteem is 'wrong' and ought to be treated. The story behind depression is more complicated and deserves thorough multidisciplinary research in order to determine what exact function various symptoms have to play in one's life. This is both a difficult and a long-term task. The ambition of the thesis is therefore twofold: in the first place, based on empirical evidence, I will argue that depression is not an exclusively harmful phenomenon, but is related to particular epistemic and pragmatic benefits for the subject, alongside associated costs. Secondly, I will conclude that certain depression-related phenomena are beneficial to the subject under certain conditions, but not under others.

My methodology is to critically analyse and to evaluate empirical literature and make my own arguments based on the conclusions. My investigation into the question of whether depression might be linked to any benefits has brought in some interesting and unexpected results. The claim that depression can be somehow 'good' for us, received a considerable amount of attention in empirical science. Out of a large amount of research I selected seven returning themes, indicating *realism*, *defensive pessimism*, *self-handicapping*, *mood-congruent delusions*, *empathy*, *creativity* and *spirituality* as alleged beneficial traits associated with depression.

Throughout the thesis, I present and analyse selected empirical literature exploring links between depression (or certain clinical symptoms related to depression) and the seven benefits of psychological, epistemic or/and pragmatic character. For each of the benefits considered, I provide and concisely analyse the empirical evidence both in its favour and against it, suggest ways in which these benefits could apply to the circumstances presented, discuss some outstanding problems for that application as stated, and describe potential implications.

I begin in chapter 1 by providing an overview of the phenomenon known as *depressive realism*, the claim that people who suffer from depression make more accurate inferences about reality than 'healthy' individuals. I carefully examine the empirical evidence for and against such a claim and outline the applications and constraints. I show that the phenomenon of depressive realism is real for people who suffer from mild or moderate symptoms of depression, but not for individuals suffering from severe, clinical forms of the illness. Moreover, I show that the circumstances in which depressive realism is observed, relate to the self and self-associated circumstances, but not to other situations.

Can symptoms of depression enhance wellbeing? In chapter 2 I present examples of practical applications of *low mood*, *low self-esteem*, and *anxiety*. Based upon the investigation into the empirical literature I show that these depression-related symptoms may play the key role in successful implementation of *defensive pessimism* and *self-handicapping;* these are psychological strategies, the role of which is to protect the subject from greater psychological harm.

In chapter 3, building on the conclusions coming from the previous chapter, I take a closer look at the phenomenon of *positive illusions* in order to address the question whether holding unrealistically optimistic beliefs with regards to oneself is a hallmark of mental health, as suggested by some authors (for instance Taylor and Brown, 1988; Taylor, 1989). Based on the review of psychological literature I argue that unrealistically positive self-related beliefs come at a serious psychological costs, and that therefore, they cannot be considered as psychologically beneficial. Instead, I argue that optimistic self-related beliefs grounded in realistic evaluations are more desirable than illusions and linked to psychological benefits.

In chapters 4, 5, 6 and 7 I provide a detailed analysis of the empirical literature investigating alleged beneficial aspects of depression. In chapter 4, based on psychological cognitive theories, I develop my own analysis of what is involved in the process of forming depressive delusions. I propose that depressive delusions constitute acknowledgements of self-related beliefs acquired as a result of a negatively biased learning process. Furthermore, I show that the key role of mood-congruent delusions in depression is to preserve a person's overall coherence and narrative identity at a critical time. Therefore, I argue that depressive delusions have the potential for psychological and epistemic benefits despite their obvious epistemic

and psychological costs. From this point of view it is possible to view mood-congruent delusions in depression as *epistemically innocent* (Antrobus and Bortolotti, 2016).

In chapter 5 I expand my search for beneficial aspects of depression by looking into associations between depression and empathy. Based on the data coming from psychology and neuroscience I argue that people who suffer from depression show elevated levels of empathetic response to the suffering of others. Next, I ask whether enhanced empathy in depression can be seen as beneficial. Upon further analysis of the empirical literature, I show that the answer is a complex one. Deeper empathy in depression is evidenced to be linked to increased personal distress and, in a majority of cases, does not constitute a basis for charitable action. From this viewpoint, increased empathy cannot be seen as a beneficial trait. However, in many cases, it has also been linked to temporary relief from loneliness and strengthening the feeling of social belonging. On this basis, it is possible to see enhanced empathy in depression as a source of a particular psychological benefit, in spite of associated costs.

Chapter 6 is occupied with an investigation into the links between depression and creativity. I provide the detailed overview of the empirical literature dealing with the question of whether people who suffer from depression are more creative. Based upon the available evidence I argue that depressive symptoms are evident among famous artists (especially poets), but not in the general population. Based on a further investigation into psychology and neuroscience I offer a possible hypothesis to explain this phenomenon. I argue that famous artists are more likely (than people in the general population) to exhibit a specific, spontaneous and automated mode of creation, which has been empirically linked to certain depressive symptoms.

Finally, in Chapter 7, I assess the empirical evidence examining the claim that depression is associated with enhanced spirituality and religiosity. I propose that the concepts of religiosity and spirituality should be understood as distinct, on the basis that they involve different types of experience and associated behaviour. Drawing on the empirical data I show that by offering one's life a meaning, spirituality has been linked to better mental health. However, routinely following religious practices with no sense of deeper connection has been repeatedly associated with low mood and other symptoms of depression. Interestingly, on the other hand, attending religious orders and ceremonies frequently offers a sense of belonging to the wider community and prevents loneliness. This leads to the conclusion that although spirituality and/or religiosity cannot be seen as direct benefits of depression, they can – under certain circumstances – support psychological wellbeing and mental health, and therefore, they may be actively used in depression prevention strategies.

The last part of this work contains my final conclusions, together with some suggestions for future research.

CHAPTER 1: REALISM

This chapter presents a critical analysis of a certain conception of the relationship between mood spectrum in depression and the accuracy of one's judgements. More specifically, I want to take a closer look at the phenomenon known in cognitive psychology as a 'sadder but wiser' and ask whether it is true that people who suffer from depression are in any way 'wiser' than those who have not been affected by depressive symptoms.

As depression is commonly perceived as a mental illness that compromises wellbeing, the analysis offered in this chapter puts special emphasis on the rather overlooked question of whether the symptoms of depression may deliver any benefits despite the harm they cause. Specifically, I will investigate the impact of depressive mood on the accuracy of one's beliefs.

For a very long time I have been intrigued by the popular idea that pessimists seem to be 'wiser' than optimists, where 'wiser' is understood (in the folk view) as 'more realistic' or 'more detailed' in their beliefs about the world. The traditional clinical definition of depression as an exclusively deteriorating mental illness seemed to me merely evasive, and the philosophical question of possible links to 'wiser' cognition, neglected. I have written this chapter with a desire to investigate this possibility in more detail.

The analysis presented here is largely based on a thorough inspection of the available empirical studies. Historically, there have been a number of either enthusiastic advocates or sceptical opponents of the idea that 'feeling low' may somehow enhance the accuracy of human thinking. Both enthusiasts for and opponents of the phenomenon (nicknamed as 'depressive realism') still wave the files of data in support of their view-and their evidence, surprisingly, seems equally reliable.

During my work as a clinical psychologist and psychotherapist I met many wonderful people, whose lives have been greatly affected by depression. Their ability to see the world as a friendly place and to greet every new day with hopeful excitement (abilities, which many of us take for granted) was long gone and with no prospect of a quick return. At the same time, despite their generalised pessimism and overwhelming sadness, many of them could offer a detailed and accurate analysis of their own circumstances during therapeutic encounters. Whilst talking to a person diagnosed on the depressive spectrum of conditions, I often felt amazed by the amount of detail they provided when describing recent events or recalling particular memories. I did not feel satisfied with the functioning definition of depression as a 'debilitating mental illness' and believed, rather intuitively, that the clinical description of cognitive and emotional deficits related to depression was only one side of the more complex story. I saw many people who despite being categorised as 'depressed' coped well with reality thanks to their unique insight into the limitation of their own mental resources. I also saw many 'depressed' people who-in the final analysis-put much more conscious reflection and incomparably more detailed attention into some aspects of reality than most 'healthy' individuals I knew.

These encounters led me to believe that there might yet be some, unexplained factor (or factors) in depression, which enhances the accuracy of one's beliefs. I decided to make an attempt to investigate whether-and under which conditions-such a hypothesis was true. This chapter presents the results of my investigation.

In section 1.1 I review and assess the relation between depression and the thinking presented in philosophy and fiction. In section 1.2 I turn to the notion of depressive realism itself and describe its epistemic features that can be constructed as the acquisition of more accurate beliefs with regards to certain aspects of self and reality. In section 1.3 I consider empirical evidence supporting the claim that certain factors in depression carry epistemic benefits to the subject. Subsequently, in section 1.4, I review and analyse empirical studies providing evidence against such a claim. Finally, in section 1.5, I argue that certain depressive symptoms (namely, depressive mood) may lead the subject to the acquisition of more accurate beliefs related to self, and therefore might be seen as epistemically beneficial.

1.1 DEPRESSION AND THINKING

What is the relationship between depression and thinking? Or to put the question in a different way does one's thinking change together with the experience of depression? Aristotle, who famously claimed that the insight coming from melancholy is of great value for self-knowledge (*Problemata* XXX.1 953a10-14) made an important discovery, the significance of which has not yet been fully recognised until now. Following the development of the clinical view of depression as a mental illness which leads to the deterioration of one's cognitive and emotional processes, philosophers have mainly been focusing on illness-bounded human suffering and distempered mood. Whilst psychiatric investigations were focusing on 'clinical symptoms' and argued about 'diagnostics', countless phenomenological works offered a unique insight into personal narratives and subjective experiences of depression-an insight impossible to overestimate (Ratcliffe, 2014) Similarly, striking examples of depressive

narration come from the literature and other works of art, depicting intensity of human emotions woven with pain, sadness, regret and guilt, to name only a few. It seems apparent that the cognitive side of such dramatically portrayed emotional states will be implicated as similarly impaired belief states: I am worthless, incompetent, sinful, nothing good will happen to me, and so on (Radden and Varga, 2013). Thinking about oneself and about the world in depression will have to be dominated by generalised negativity, judgements of one's own failure, expectations of things going wrong, ruminating on past mistakes and in the most severe forms of the illness by delusions. Indeed, one of the most popular psychological accounts of depression (so-called cognitive model) provides strong empirical evidence in support of the view that depressive thinking is dominated by negative bias and other cognitive errors, such as 'learned hopelessness' described by Martin Seligman (1972) as a phenomenon of not attempting an effort after previously having failed in a particular task.

What kind of insight then did Aristotle have in mind when he suggested that melancholy (as chronic sadness was called those days) helps one acquire self-knowledge? Is not such a claim counter-intuitive given what we now know about depression, and what has been measured and evidenced in countless experimental settings? Are there any forms, or elements, of depressive thinking, which might be related to more accurate or more realistic beliefs, as opposed to what is assumed by clinical theories of depressive thought disorders and irrationality?

There has been a surprisingly long gap in time between Aristotle's claim and empirical findings which shed some light on the evidential implications of his words. Only in 1979 two experimenters, Alloy and Abramson (students of the renowned cognitivist Seligman),

17

accidentally discover an intriguing relation: people who experienced symptoms of depression were more realistic than healthy participants, when assessing their own control over uncontrollable (random) events. The results of this study were repeated in subsequent trials. The suggestion, that people with depression may think in any way more realistically, more accurately, or, colloquially saying, be wiser with regards to reality than healthy ones was simply counter-intuitive and contradicted all the earlier presumptions.

The phenomenon of depressive realism, as the discovery has been named, became an attractive subject of on-going debates in scientific and literary circles; the related question 'are sadder people also wiser?' became a central point of philosophical speculations. Quite rightfully, the wisdom-loving discipline had more interest than others in discovering the truth about depressive thinking. Perhaps Aristotle was right, after all? An idea that one's beliefs may be closer to truth when one experiences sadness sounds like an interesting one. Some argue that the best philosophers are melancholics, therefore, there must be a strong link between these two (see for instance Schwitzgebel, 2015). Depressive realism has become an inspiration for novelists, who, drawing on the discovery, spoke about the 'sad nature of life' through the mouth of their fictional characters (e.g. see. Houellebecq, 2006) kept passing on the message that life is in its nature bleak and unkind (Jeffery, 2011).

In sum, the idea that sad people know better or know more became an inspiration for many interpreters, artists and free thinkers and gave rise to countless works of art and intellectual debates. However, do the 'sadder but wiser' experiments support the idea that it is better to be realist? Is the hypothesis that people with depression are wiser than others true or is it merely wishful thinking?

This is the basis for my investigation into the nature of depressive realism. In the next section, I will examine the available empirical data starting from the original experiment by Alloy and Abramson, followed by subsequent variations of this famous study in order to determine whether particular symptoms of depression might indeed be related to more realistic insight. Such a hypothesis, if confirmed, would mean that having a mental illness (which has been commonly associated with a mark of irrationality and thought disorder) might be actually linked to certain epistemic benefits.

1.2 DEPRESSIVE REALISM

Depressive realism is the thesis that people with depression make more realistic inferences than 'healthy' individuals (Alloy and Abramson, 1988). The term refers to the phenomenon discovered in 1979 in a series of experiments designed around assessing the judgment of contingency tasks (Alloy and Abramson, 1979). Participants are asked to press a button and observe whether or not pressing the button results in a light switching on. In reality, the experimenters have predetermined the frequency of illumination and participants have no control over its occurrence. The *dependent variable* (that is, the factor which is a subject of measure) is the participants' judgment of causal dependence between switching on the button and the light switching on. In other words, the participants are asked to estimate how much control they think they had over illumination (that is, to assess whether the light came on as a result of them pressing the button). In reality, the illumination was pre-determined by experimenters and independent of the participants' actions.

The results of this estimation were very surprising for the experimenters. The assessments made by participants with depressive symptoms turned out to be more accurate than those made by 'healthy' individuals. The difference between the two groups was statistically significant and repeatedly confirmed. People with depressive symptoms judged their control over the illumination correctly: their judgment of contingency was convergent with reality. At the same time, judgments made by individuals without depressive symptoms have been shown to exhibit a positive cognitive bias. Healthy participants significantly overestimated the degree of control they had in the contingency task.

The two phenomena-the accurate inferences made by people with depressive symptoms and the positively biased judgments made by healthy individuals have been since referred to, respectively, as depressive realism and the illusion of control.

1.3 SADDER AND WISER?

The outcome of Alloy and Abramson's experiment surprised the scientific world. If the authors' conclusion was true, the view of depression as the condition associated with negatively biased cognition was wrong. According to at least two significant and well-established theories of depression, i.e. Beck's cognitive theory (Beck, 1967, Beck et al., 1979; Beck 1987) and Seligman's 'learned helplessness' model (Seligman, 1972), this clinical condition was associated with an overall negative bias, consisting of deeply held dysfunctional beliefs about the self, the world and the future. The implication was that in

people with depression cognitions were systematically less informed by reality, and therefore more irrational than in people without depression (Beck, 1987). The new 'depressive realism' hypothesis (hereafter, DR) presented an alternative view to what had been believed so far: individuals who experience symptoms of depression are capable of making realistic inferences about certain aspects of reality. What is more, they do so to a greater extent than 'healthy' individuals, at least in some specific circumstances.

The results obtained by Alloy and Abramson shed a new light on the phenomenon of depression. Could people who experience depressive symptoms really be closer to the truth in any domain than 'healthy' individuals? This question seems to be of vital importance for clinical research. Indeed, to find the right answer could mean a better understanding of the nature of depression-associated cognitive processes and of elements of depressive aetiology, and, most importantly, could lead to new, more effective therapies.

But to understand the phenomenon of DR is also a critical challenge for epistemologists. DR can shed light on (1) how people acquire knowledge about reality and about themselves, (2) whether they process information about themselves differently from information about others, and (3) what makes their representations more accurate in some circumstances. A reflection on the epistemic aspects of the DR hypothesis could help us understand our cognitive capacities and limitations. So far, it has not been clear to what extent people with depression are capable of holding more realistic beliefs. The set of psychological studies examining DR is broad and immensely diverse in terms of design and measured variables, including experiments' settings, types of participants, variety of empirical tasks and methods. Whilst

making the reader aware of all those differences, which might affect the way the experimental results are interpreted, I want to pay special attention to two factors.

The first one is the way in which the authors define depression itself. This aspect is especially important because the nature of the depressive spectrum is distinct and complex; in order to meaningfully claim that depression is linked to the acquisition of more realistic beliefs, we ought to reach at least minimal agreement on what we take depression to be.

The second factor I want to focus on is the content of participants' judgments, more specifically, what exactly was measured in subsequent studies. Similarly to depression, the notion of 'accurate judgments' has been deployed imprecisely in a range of different contexts. As we saw, the original assessment of accuracy referred to the estimation of agents' control over externally determined events (Alloy and Abramson, 1979). Since the Alloy and Abramson study, the notion of accurate judgement has been stretched and applied to a variety of cognitive tasks, including accuracy in making financial decisions for other people, accuracy in recalling events from the past, or even accuracy in predicting future events, such as the results of sport games.

Alloy and Abramson used a slogan to talk about their discovery of the DR effect, 'sadder, but wiser'. The label is catchy and seems to convey the main message that the authors hoped to spread into the scientific world: people affected by depression feel less happy than controls but their beliefs seem to be more realistic. Unfortunately, in hindsight, this slogan has not contributed to meticulous research. Colloquial meanings of both adjectives ('sadder' and 'wiser') have been used in subsequent research to either support or deny the Alloy and

Abramson's conclusion even when they used the terms 'sad' and 'wise' with different connotations from the original ones, and applied them to an excessively broad range of contexts.

In the next section I will examine and analyse the empirical evidence supporting the claim that DR is a real phenomenon-people with depressive symptoms are capable of making more accurate judgments about certain aspects of reality than 'healthy' individuals.

1.3.1 Empirical findings in favour of DR

Here I examine a selection of empirical studies which support this hypothesis. To present the evidence in the clearest possible way, I adopt a *paradigm-centred* approach. I split the reports into five categories, based on the type of variable measured (that is, the topic of the participants' judgments), with the studies of the closest similarity to the original study by Alloy and Abramson at the beginning. Reviewing the evidence this way highlights the evolution of DR in the empirical literature.

First I shall present the studies whose focus resembles most closely that of the original Alloy and Abramson study. The objective of these studies is to either replicate the results of the experiment by Alloy and Abramson (1979) in similar circumstances, or to examine comparable data in a variety of differing predetermined contingency conditions (Abramson et al., 1981; Alloy et al., 1981; Martin et al., 1984; Ford and Neale, 1985; Vazquez, 1987; Dobson and Pusch, 1995; Presson and Benassi, 2003).

Second, I shall review studies utilizing a slightly different methodological paradigm. Here, the participants get involved in various tasks; next they are asked to rate their performance in either the presence or absence of external feedback. Their self-appraisal is then compared to their actual performance in order to check its accuracy (DeMonbreun and Craighead, 1977; Nelson and Craighead, 1977; Rozensky et al., 1977; Lobitz and Post, 1979; Gotlib, 1983; Dennard and Hokanson, 1986).

Third, I shall consider studies investigating *self-related expectancies* (predictions related to one's own future). The novelty here is the reference to future events, rather than the judgments about past performance that were examined in the previous two clusters of studies. Both groups of participants are asked to predict their success or failure in a variety of tasks, or, alternatively, to forecast the probability of the future events of either positive or negative character-e.g. getting married or becoming terminally ill (Golin et al., 1977; Alloy and Seligman, 1979; Alloy and Abramson, 1980; Kapci and Cramer, 1998; Keller et al., 2002; Hoerger et al., 2012; Thimm et al., 2013; Garrett et al., 2014; Korn et al., 2014).

Fourth, I shall consider the results of the studies investigating judgments related to people's real-life experiences. Unlike previous reports, which followed the laboratory based response-outcome procedure, studies in this category are largely focused on a person's actual life events. Here I shall examine differences in judgments of personal relationships, state of health and other life circumstances between participants with-and without symptoms of depression (Clare et al., 2011; Gordon et al., 2013; Mograbi and Morris, 2014).

1.3.1.1 DR in self-judgments of control

What does it take to be 'depressively realistic'? Consistent with the original Alloy and Abramson's findings, a number of subsequent studies provide evidence for the DR hypothesis in tasks of estimating one's own control over pre-determined conditions.

Intrigued by the initial discovery that people with depressive symptoms accurately judged their control over random events, whilst 'healthy' individuals were prone to illusions and biases (Alloy and Abramson, 1979; Alloy and Seligman, 1979; Abramson and Alloy, 1981) the researchers aimed to test whether this effect can be obtained, when moods are induced experimentally (Alloy, Abramson and Viscusi, 1981). In this interesting study, depressive and elated moods were induced transiently in naturally (where the word 'naturally' refers to the participants' mood *prior to* the experiment) non-depressed and depressed students, respectively. Next, the participants' judgment of contingency was assessed. It turned out, that healthy participants who then were made temporarily sad went on to give accurate judgments of contingency, while naturally sad students who were induced with an elated mood showed an illusion of control and overestimated their impact on an objectively uncontrollable outcome.

The results of the above study deserve special attention: the conclusions that can be drawn from Alloy, Abramson and Viscusi's experiment not only offer support for DR, but also indicate that low mood, more than any other symptoms of depression, might be linked to realistic judgments. When induced in experimental settings, the mood shifted participants' beliefs to the opposite (as to 'natural' state) effect. The other conclusion from Alloy, Abramson and Viscusi's experiment is even more intriguing. If elevating sad moods results in the illusory self-related beliefs, how does it affect the aims of cognitive therapy for depression? It has been believed that people with depressive symptoms show a negativity bias which leads them to believe that they have little or no control over own lives. Cognitive therapy has been perceived as a way to help people learn to see themselves as having more control. Meanwhile, the presented study suggests that cognitive therapy might instead be 'tricking' people into positive illusions, that is, positively biased self-related judgments.

Do people get happier at the expense of their accuracy and objectivity? The case of DR and cognitive therapy for depression illustrate, to some extent, such a possibility. It may seem that wellbeing is safeguarded at the expense of truth when the positive illusion is successfully adopted. What is more, one could argue that the techniques, which enable us to perceive our impact on reality in a positively biased way, can be learnt and manipulated in real life, similarly to what happens in the experimental settings. Such a view has been supported by more recent studies (e.g. Wegner et al., 1987; Kunda, 1990; Baumeister and Newman, 1994; De Bono and Muraven, 2013), which show that in order to live successful lives and achieve their goals, people use a variety of cognitive enhancement techniques, related mainly to self-control and will power.

1.3.1.2 DR and the recall of self-performance

In the studies investigating the self-assessment of a task performance, participants get involved in a task, and then rate their own performance with-or without the benefit of the feedback. Next, their evaluation is compared to their actual performance in order to check its accuracy. Out of all the recall studies analysed, a vast majority confirm the theory that people suffering from depression exhibit more realistic assessments. Interestingly, some of the presented studies had been conducted even before Alloy and Abramson articulated their 'sadder but wiser' idea. Although, for some reason, the earlier research did not attract closer attention from the scientific community, the results obtained are just as intriguing as later, better known examples.

In the study conducted in 1977 by Nelson and Craighead, the participants are asked to engage in a task, after which they are given feedback. The feedback consists of either positive reinforcement or punishment. After having completed the task, participants are asked to recall what amount and what type of feedback they received. It turns out that participants with depression recall their feedback correctly, whilst non-depressed subjects underestimate the frequency of negative feedback. Whilst analysing the results, at least two limitations are in order: firstly-the participants exhibit low mood rather than suffering from severe forms of depression (similarly to the study by Alloy, Abramson and Viscusi, 1981). Secondly, the results were obtained only in the circumstances of low frequency of negative feedback. In the presence of a high amount of negative comments, the difference in accuracy between 'low mood' group and controls was no longer significant.

The results obtained by Nelson and Craighead were replicated in other studies (e.g. DeMonbreun and Craighead, 1977; Rozensky et al., 1977; Lobitz and Post, 1979; Gotlib, 1983; Dennard and Hokanson, 1986). These findings suggest that while 'healthy' people may filter out a certain amount of low frequency negative feedback in order to maintain a positive self-image, people with depressive symptoms remain particularly sensitive to the instances of

punishment. Also, because the results are no longer significant at a high level of negative feedback (people with low mood *overestimate* the amount of punishment they receive), it might be hypothesised that low mood supports accurate judgments only in a situation of limited negative experiences. In other words, if we attempted to interpret the above results in a real-world situation, it could be claimed that low mood is related to more realistic beliefs (thus, bringing epistemic benefits) only under the condition that the subject is not exposed to an excessive amount of negative experiences (punishment). In the circumstances of a large number of adverse experiences, realism might be replaced by an overall negative bias.

1.3.1.3 DR and self-related predictions about the future

This group of studies aim to test whether people with depression-related experiences exhibit a negative cognitive bias in their expectations and updating beliefs about future events related to themselves (e.g. Golin et al., 1977; Alloy and Seligman, 1979; Alloy and Abramson, 1980; Kapci and Cramer, 1998; Keller et al., 2002; Hoerger et al., 2012; Thimm et al., 2013; Garrett et al., 2014; Korn et al., 2014). According to cognitive theories, depression is linked to an overall pessimism about one's personal future (Sharot, 2011). For example, when evaluating the likelihood of encountering positive and negative everyday life events (e.g. being invited to a party or getting a parking ticket) within the next few weeks, people with symptoms of depression would expect more negative and less positive events than they eventually experienced, whereas 'healthy' subjects show the opposite pattern (Cropley and MacLeod, 2003; Strunk et al., 2006; Strunk and Adler, 2009).

The aim of a study by Korn and colleagues (2014) is to check whether people with and without symptoms of depression would update their predictions as a result of being informed

by reality. First, the participants are asked to estimate the likelihood of experiencing desirable and non-desirable events in the future. Next, they are confronted with the comparable statistical data (consisting of the overall statistical probability of such events), their ability to update their beliefs is assessed. The results of this experiment show that when updating their beliefs, 'healthy' people exhibit positive bias: they overestimate the likelihood of positive events and underestimate the likelihood of negative ones. The updates made by people with symptoms of depression are more accurate.

The results of this experiment seem to support the hypothesis of DR, but – again - a couple of considerations ought to be taken into account. Firstly, although the updates made by people with depression-related symptoms seem accurate, the effect seems to apply only to the circumstances of negative life events, but not to the desirable ones: in the latter situation people's updates exhibit a negative bias. Secondly, the results are conclusive only in the subjects with light or moderate depression; people suffering from Major Depressive Disorder (MDD) present a negative bias in all experimental circumstances (Korn et al., 2014). Not surprisingly, in accord with the cognitive theories (e.g. Beck et al., 1979), people with severe depression present a pessimistic view of the future and overestimate the likelihood of adverse events happening to them.

The latter conclusion is also supported by the studies testing the DR hypothesis in contingency tasks, which were discussed in the previous section. Here, similarly, DR comes into effect in very particular circumstances. More specifically, participants with low mood make correct judgements in situations when they do not possess any actual control over the events (or possess very little control). When the outcome indeed depends on their actions,

those participants significantly underestimate the relation, judging the results as random (Alloy and Abramson, 1979; Alloy and Seligman, 1979; Abramson and Alloy, 1981).

1.3.1.4 DR and personal circumstances

A number of studies investigate links between DR and the judgments related to personal life circumstances, such as relationships or wellbeing (Cramer and Jowett, 2010; Clare et al., 2011; Gordon et al., 2013; Mograbi and Morris, 2014). The majority of results confirm that people with depression-related symptoms perceive various aspects of their lives more realistically than 'healthy' subjects. These assessments include-for example-the quality of their relationships, work commitments or symptoms of their own illness. For example, people with depression often report feeling misunderstood by the closest members of their families. Such feelings of misunderstanding may, in turn, escalate their perceived loneliness and increase the severity of depressive symptoms. Whilst many cognitivists (e.g. Beck 1963) frequently ascribe such complaints made by people with depression to a general negative cognitive bias, some more recent authors argue that such negative self-reports are actually very accurate. Gordon and colleagues (2013) conducted a series of studies investigating whether the evidence could support such reports. The participants who score high on depressive scales were involved in conflict conversations (verbal arguments over certain subject) with their spouses. It turns out that partners of the participants who felt misunderstood, indeed did not understand their feelings correctly, although they were not aware of it.

Two qualifications are in order. First, the participants in the above study have been recruited out of the 'healthy' population, having obtained high scores on depressive mood scales (they do not suffer from severe depression). Secondly, the results supporting the DR hypothesis are obtained in specific circumstances (that is conflict conversation), rather than generally. If we consider a conflict conversation as an adverse event, this finding does not sound surprising: the previously analysed data showed a similar effect: people with depression seem to be more accurate when the circumstances of their assessment have adverse character.

The study analysed above is of a special importance. Firstly, the methodological paradigm here aims directly to the practical issues of life, whilst the vast majority of other studies discussed explore the phenomenon in laboratory settings, followed, only later, by some hypotheses about how the results impact on real-life situations. Secondly, a discovery that people with depression or related symptoms report being misunderstood accurately, carries significant consequences for the quality of life in affected people and their families. According to many studies, people who feel understood in their relationships live longer and have better functioning marriages (e.g. Long and Andrews, 1990; Long, 1993; Swann et al., 1994; De La Ronde and Swann, 1998; Meeks et al., 1998; Swann and Pelham, 2002; Pollmann and Finkenauer, 2009). Further research into the links between depression and personal relationships could shed some light on the type and nature of everyday challenges faced by affected people. This, in turn, could potentially lead to better targeted psychological interventions for depression, including relationship and/or family therapy.

1.3.2 Empirical evidence against the DR hypothesis

In the previous section, I have reviewed some of the literature suggesting that certain aspects of depression might be associated with more accurate judgments regarding specific aspects of reality. In this section, I present and analyse the findings which question the plausibility of this claim.

To start with, I shall review some of the research focusing on participants' judgment of other people and neutral circumstances. The aim of these studies is to investigate whether people with depressive symptoms perceive other people and/or the neutral circumstances related to others in a more accurate way than 'healthy' individuals do (e.g. Martin et al., 1984; Gotlib and Meltzer, 1987; Pyszczynski et al., 1987; Vazquez, 1987; Ahrens et al., 1988; Alloy and Abramson, 1988; Siegel and Alloy, 1990; Ahrens, 1991; Jain et al., 2013; Garcia-Retamero et al., 2015).

A second group of studies explore whether the judgments made by people with depressive symptoms immediately after stimulus are more accurate than the judgments made after a time delay. Participants get involved in certain activities, after which they are asked to present a judgment with regards to that situation-either immediately or after certain length of time (e.g. DeMonbreun and Craighead, 1977; Nelson and Craighead, 1977).

In a third group, I shall examine the studies investigating whether there might be any other, as yet unidentified factor mediating accurate judgments in depression. Studies from this group test the hypotheses that factors other than depressive mood (albeit indirectly related to depression) might be responsible for more realistic judgments (e.g. Tennen and Herzberger, 1987; Bynum and Scogin, 1996; Moore and Fresco, 2007; Blanco et al., 2012).

Finally, in a fourth group, I shall look at the research involving participants with clinical forms of depression. A number of studies investigate the question of whether there might be any circumstances which would enhance realistic judgements in people suffering from severe depression (e.g. Ackerman and DeRubeis, 1991; Dobson and Pusch, 1995; McKendree-Smith and Scogin, 2000; Carson et al., 2010; Moore and Fresco, 2012).

1.3.2.1 DR and non-self related judgements

The vast majority of empirical studies on DR aim to investigate whether people affected by depression make more accurate judgments with relation to themselves (this was analysed in more detail in section 1.3.1). The enhanced accuracy of judgments is proven to be true especially in cases, where people estimate such things as their control over pre-defined conditions, the likelihood of upcoming adverse life events, the severity of symptoms of their own illness, and so on.

Interestingly, when asked to present estimations related to strangers or to emotionally neutral circumstances, people with depression-related symptoms do not seem to be more accurate than controls. In one study participants were asked to make financial decisions for other people, after having read a variety of scenarios (Garcia-Retamero et al., 2015). The predictions made by people affected by depression appear to be no more accurate than those made by 'healthy' participants and exhibit cognitive bias. In another study, participants were

asked to predict the results of football games (Jain et al., 2013). It turns out, that people with depressive symptoms are less accurate than controls in their predictions.

The above findings are compatible with the evidence presented in the previous section, according to which people with depression exhibit enhanced accuracy when making judgments related to themselves, but not in other circumstances (DeMonbreun and Craighead, 1977; Nelson and Craighead, 1977; Rozensky et al., 1977; Lobitz and Post, 1979; Gotlib, 1983; Dennard and Hokanson, 1986). Pyszczynski et al. (1987), who investigated cognitive processes in depression, offer one possible explanation for this phenomenon. The authors present the data in support of the claim that people who suffer from depression exhibit relatively high levels of self-focused thinking and self-awareness. We can further hypothesise that this self-absorbance gives participants with depression extensive self-related knowledge, which may lead to more accurate judgments with relation to self, but not to others. However, although plausible, this alleged relation ought not to be simplified. Empirical research shows that when people suffer from more severe forms of depression, their self-related judgements are no longer accurate. This conclusion is convergent with the clinical and cognitive views of depressive illness. But what could be the explanation for this phenomenon? One way to address this question would be to conduct an experiment exploring whether people who are highly self-focused, but with no symptoms of depression, exhibit enhanced accuracy of selfrelated judgments. If this hypothesis turned out to be true, one might argue that it is the selfabsorbance and self-awareness that contribute to the DR phenomenon, rather than depression itself. Increased self-focused thinking might be associated with depression, but can also be a trait of a narcissistic personality or simply a result of temporary life events affecting one's life.

1.3.2.2 DR in immediate and delayed judgments

A limited number of studies investigating realistic judgments in depression show that the DR phenomenon is not significant when the judgment is produced after a certain time interval, although it seems to be quite evident immediately after the stimulation. In two subsequent studies the researchers discovered that, when people with depression are asked to recall their memories after a certain time delay, their judgments are less accurate and are more negatively biased than when they produce a memory immediately after the event (DeMonbreun and Craighead, 1977; Nelson and Craighead, 1977).

Interestingly, participants without depression demonstrate the opposite, positive bias in both immediate and delayed judgments. In other words, 'healthy' participants recall the events from their past as more positive than they were, both immediately after the events took place and after certain time delay. It is not clear what mechanisms could be responsible for this phenomenon. From a theoretical standpoint, these findings are most consistent with Beck's cognitive formulation of depression and offer empirical support for his assertion that the depressed person is "...hypersensitive to stimuli suggestive of loss and blind to stimuli representing gain" (1976, p.119). In other words, due to the selective thinking process, a person with depression is likely to remember negative events from the past well and ignore or underestimate the positive ones. 'Healthy' individuals, on the contrary, are prone to the optimism bias, meaning that they are likely to remember past events through rose-tinted glasses (Garrett et al., 2014). This hypothesis explains the negative bias effect in participants with depression as opposed to controls, however it remains unclear why the memories produced after a certain time were affected more intensively than the immediate recall.

1.3.2.3 DR and mediating variables

According to some authors (Tennen and Herzberger, 1987; Bynum and Scogin, 1996; Moore and Fresco, 2007; Blanco et al., 2012) enhanced accuracy of certain judgments might be directly related to independent factors. Such variables could be potentially associated with depression, but they might also occur independently in other circumstances. For example, Blanco and colleagues (2012) conducted a series of experiments which resembled the original Alloy and Abramson's study from 1979 but additionally measured the time of participants' responses. The overall results were similar to the original one: people with depression were more accurate. However, unlike Alloy and Abramson, Blanco and colleagues do not explain the results as affected by depression but rather by longer time of responses: participants who take their time offering their response, appear more accurate than those who rush with the answers. As affected people press the light switch button less often and with greater hesitation, they improve their chance of greater accuracy. This effect could be caused by the fact that the participants realise that the lights turn on without their previous action, therefore they get a better grasp of the actual contingency. When the frequency of responding is empirically controlled, the DR phenomenon is no longer present in this group. In conclusion, the authors hypothesize that enhanced accuracy is not so much related to low mood, as it is to the overall passivity that leads to fewer responses. This, in turn, might constitute a result of independent circumstances (such as, for example, severe tiredness) or related to depression. Further investigation is required to explore this possibility in greater detail.

1.3.2.4 DR and severe forms of depression

The most frequent counter argument against DR is such that there is not much sense in describing the supposed realism as 'depressive', since it does not occur in people affected by clinical forms of depression.

Indeed, the vast majority of empirical studies that involve participants with severe forms of depression speak in favour of traditional cognitive theories (which suggests that people with depression exhibit negativity bias) rather than the DR phenomenon. Clinical depression does not seem to be linked with more accurate judgments but rather with multiple cognitive difficulties, including lack of concentration, decreased accuracy of judgments and significant negative bias (e.g. Ackerman and DeRubeis, 1991; Dobson and Pusch, 1995; McKendree-Smith and Scogin, 2000; Carson et al., 2010; Moore and Fresco, 2012). Carson and colleagues (2010) designed a study to investigate the phenomenon of depressive realism in a bona fide clinical sample, using a task that provides an objective standard of accuracy. Participants with and without depression are exposed to a variety of situations reinforced for either an active response or a passive nonresponse and then asked to generate judgments of control. People with depression appear consistently more negative than their healthy counterparts and - when they turn out to be more accurate in their judgments of control - it is mainly because they apply the wrong heuristic to less accurate information. Carson's findings do not support the notion of depressive realism and suggest that depressed patients distort their judgments in a characteristically negative fashion.

Several other studies fail to find links between severe depression and more realistic judgements; the phenomenon seems to be true mostly for the people with mild/moderate

37

forms of the illness, especially with low mood. Depression, when conceptualized as clinical form of sadness, does not offer much realistic insight.

1.4. SUMMARY

The results obtained by researchers exploring the relation between depression and cognitive accuracy lead us to the conclusion that there might be a limited number of circumstances in which depression constitutes a source of epistemic benefits for the subject.

Firstly, most of the evidence presents DR as a real phenomenon in relation to low mood, but not to severe/clinical cases of the illness. This poses the question of whether there might be a certain level of low mood, beneficial for the subject who aspires to acquire accurate beliefs. If that hypothetical level is exceeded, an individual exhibits a negative bias, leading to distorted cognition. Such a possibility would have great significance for our understanding of depressive illness, especially in the diagnostic context. Situating depression-related symptoms on the continuum of their intensity helps not only offer better-personalised treatment to those who suffer; it makes it possible to intervene early on those who might not express clinical symptoms just yet, but-due to an increased number of negative self-related beliefs-are in a high risk group for developing the illness. This takes us to the second conclusion: the evidence of depressive realistic judgments is strongest in estimations related to the self rather than judgments about other people or about situations with no emotional links to the subject. People with low mood are more accurate than controls when estimating their own control over certain outcomes, when recalling their own performance in a variety of tasks, when estimating the probability of events, which might happen in their personal life or-when expressing feelings of being misunderstood by their family members. A further analysis of empirical data brings us to the conclusion that the phenomenon of DR seems to be less significant or completely absent in the situations of estimating neutral, non self-related circumstances, predicting future random events or producing a judgment after time delay. People also do not produce accurate judgments when suffering from severe forms of depression; instead they are prone to negative cognitive bias.

A number of studies suggest that factors other than depressive symptoms (which however are also associated with depression) are responsible for better accuracy of self-related judgments. A lower level of cognitive activity (slower reactions) and a self-focused thinking style are suggested as possible links.

CHAPTER 2: DEFENSIVE PESSIMISM AND SELF-HANDICAPPING

In chapter 1 I examined the evidence for the phenomenon of depressive realism and its possible underlying mechanisms. In this chapter I ask whether being pessimistic might have any beneficial effects for the subject.

The idea that people may epistemically or psychologically benefit from otherwise harmful experiences sounds familiar to psychoanalytically oriented psychologists, but is still relatively new to philosophers-with some exceptions. For example, the advocates of value-based medicine mentioned earlier in this thesis (VBM) (e.g. Jackson and Fulford, 2002; Fulford, 2004; Fulford, 2008; Fulford, 2011) propose to view mental illness as a phenomenon which relies on diverse values and which can be seen as either positive or negative experience, depending on the subject making the assessment. Based on Fulford's suggestion, in some cases depression may turn out to be both costly and beneficial, depending on the distinct values of the subject, her immediate surroundings, medical staff and personal circumstances.

Another notion that can potentially inform clinical practice is that of epistemic innocence (e.g., Bortolotti 2015a, 2015b; Antrobus and Bortolotti 2016). The notion has been primarily applied to beliefs and suggests that some beliefs that are epistemically costly, because they are inaccurate or weakly supported by the evidence, can nonetheless play an important epistemic role, for instance by allowing the person to remain connected with her environment or react to the often paralyzing effects of anxiety on learning.

Here is the plan for this chapter: in Section 2.1 I challenge *the trade-off view* exemplified by the work by Taylor and Brown (1988), according to which depressive realism (a phenomenon I examined in some detail in chapter 1) and psychological wellbeing are mutually exclusive. Based on empirical evidence I show that the relation between realism and psychological wellbeing is more complex than presented by the trade-off view. In order to provide arguments for my claim, in Section 2.2 I analyse the phenomenon known in psychology as *defensive pessimism* - a strategy of taking cognitive control over one's feelings of *anxiety* (understood as overwhelming generalised fear related to anticipated danger) in order to cope with situations that are risky or pose potential threats to self-esteem (Norem and Cantor, 1986a). I ask whether low mood can be seen as an enhancing factor in the success of such a strategy and argue that people affected by low mood are more likely than optimists to apply the defensive pessimism strategy with success.

In Section 2.3 I present a further psychological phenomenon of *self-handicapping* (the strategy aimed to help people avoid an effort in order to keep potential failure from hurting self-esteem (Berglas and Jones, 1978). I conclude that self-handicapping strategy illustrates in either a direct or an indirect way how certain psychological benefits might be obtained on the basis of realistic self-evaluation or as a direct consequence of the *pessimism bias* (a cognitive tendency to focus on negative aspects of oneself and the world).

Finally, I conclude that the links between self-related realism and psychological well-being are more complex than could be accounted for by the trade-off account and that both low mood and low self-esteem carry the potential for psychological and epistemic benefits.

2.1 THE TRADE-OFF MODEL

In Chapter 1, I reviewed the studies suggesting that low mood has a positive effect on the accuracy of certain beliefs. People affected by low mood hold more accurate judgements with regard to themselves and self-related circumstances. The assessments made by participants with symptoms of depression are accurate, whilst the judgments made by healthy controls exhibit a positive cognitive bias. The two phenomena-the accurate inferences made by people with depressive symptoms and the positively biased judgments made by healthy individuals-have been since referred to, respectively, as 'depressive realism' and 'illusion of control'.

On the basis of these studies, Shelley Taylor (1989) claims that, in order to maintain a healthy mind, one ought to cordon off negative information. Taylor presents empirical evidence for the view that certain belief patterns, which she calls 'positive illusions', although epistemically unjustified, enhance mental and physical wellbeing. Believing that one is healthier, smarter or more attractive than warranted by the evidence contributes to a more effective functioning and this-according to Taylor-benefits one's health. Positive illusions bring pragmatic and psychological advantages and are particularly adaptive when one is threatened by adversity. "Effective functioning in everyday life appears to depend upon interrelated positive illusions, systematic small distortions of reality that make things appear better than they are." (Taylor, 1989, p. 228) Accordingly, holding accurate beliefs about the self does not contribute-according to Taylor-to psychological wellbeing. Taylor and Brown (1988) challenge the pre-existing traditional view in psychology that good mental health requires accuracy of cognition, that is, an ability to see things the way they 'really' are (e.g.

Maslow, 1950; Jahoda, 1953). The view about the costs and benefits of low mood emerging from the depressive realism effect and the positive illusions literature seems to be based on the idea of a trade-off: for a person to hold more realistic beliefs about herself, she needs to forego her well-being. Therefore, one of the implications of the trade-off model would be that one cannot hold realistic beliefs about oneself and feel psychologically well at the same time. Something has got to give. Such a claim highlights the trade-off character of the relation between epistemic and psychological benefits of low mood and is commonly stated in the empirical literature. One of the early examples of this view can be found in Sigmund Freud's essay 'Mourning and Melancholia':

It would be equally fruitless from a scientific and a therapeutic point of view to contradict a patient who brings these accusations against his ego. He must surely be right in some way and be describing something that is as it seems to him to be. Indeed, we must at once confirm some of his statements without reservation. He really is as lacking in interest and as incapable of love and achievement as he says. But that, as we know, is secondary; it is the effect of the internal work which is consuming his ego-work which is unknown to us but which is comparable to the work of mourning. He also seems to us justified in certain other self-accusations; *it is merely that he has a keener eye for the truth than other people who are not melancholic*. When in his heightened self-criticism he describes himself as petty, egoistic, dishonest, lacking in independence, one whose sole aim has been to hide the weaknesses of his own nature, it may be, so far as we know, that *he has come pretty near to understanding himself*; we only wonder why a man has to be ill before he can be accessible to a truth of this kind." (Freud, 1917, p. 245, my emphasis)

Freud notices that, in order to achieve access to a certain self-related truth (that is to have epistemically correct beliefs about oneself) a person pays the significant price of her own wellbeing. But is the trade off assumed in the quote and in much of the literature really so straightforward? Based on the empirical research, here I present some challenges to the trade-off model. I argue that certain phenomena related to depression, such as low mood and low self-esteem, carry the potential for psychological (as well as epistemic) benefits to the subject, despite the associated costs.

2.2 DEFENSIVE PESSIMISM

Defensive pessimism (DP) is a psychological strategy that was first observed and described by Julie Norem and Nancy Cantor (Norem and Cantor, 1986a; Norem and Cantor, 1986b). It is explicated as the action of taking cognitive control over one's feelings of anxiety (an overwhelming generalized fear related to anticipated danger) to cope with situations that are risky or pose potential threats to self-esteem. The notion of *defense* applies when the cognitive act of pessimism takes place in order to prevent a greater harm from occurring (e.g. when the level of anxiety becomes debilitating). The notion of *pessimism* applies to the cognitive strategy of noticing and acknowledging negative aspects of one's own current situation (for example with regards to one's own capabilities) and setting realistically low expectations for the success of one's own performance (a situation that is a source of anxiety). 'Realistically low' expectations apply to the judgment of one's abilities-the judgment that is free from positive illusions (which are, in turn, common for 'healthy' individuals (Taylor, 1989)). For example, someone who is about to present her first public lecture but who requires a certain amount of work in order to make the task successful reacts with high levels of anxiety and feels insufficiently prepared for the challenge. Instead of focusing on her questionable strengths and assuming that 'everything will go fine', this person realizes that she is not sufficiently prepared for the task and acknowledges gaps in her knowledge. Drawing on that focus, she may imagine herself failing in the task, not being able to deliver the lecture and becoming embarrassed in public. This seemingly catastrophic scenario is actually a part of a wider psychological strategy. By mentally preparing herself for a potential

disaster, the person copes better with her own anxiety and – in this sense – experiences a psychological advantage.

Here is an example:

For the last three years Julie has been suffering from low mood and has been diagnosed with mild depression. She works as an academic and is about to present a public lecture to a wide, unfamiliar audience. She considers the lecture to be a psychologically challenging situation. She reacts to the challenge with increased levels of anxiety. She perceives herself as not well enough prepared to deliver the lecture. The task which lies ahead is a potentially rewarding one, but at the moment of her judgment generates more negative than positive feelings. Julie thinks about the upcoming talk with anxiety: she imagines herself standing in front of the public and forgetting what she is supposed to say; she visualises herself speaking with a shaking voice and not being able to answer a single question from the audience. She mentally prepares herself for a fiasco. Julie starts realising that in order to avoid psychological breakdown and save her professional career she has to put in extra work by thorough preparation. She spends a night before the lecture reading her presentation several times in order to ground the content in her memory. She comes up with possible questions and criticism that might come from the audience and searches for the answers. As a result, Julie manages to deliver a decent, well-researched lecture. The audience is interested in her studies and several people ask for more information on her research. One of the professors attending the talk asks Julie to join the team of researchers working on a related project. Julie promises to consider the offer and comes back home satisfied after a socially stimulating event.

In the case above Julie exits a stressful situation feeling better off than she felt before she had entered it. That which she initially feared and felt anxious about turned out to be a rewarding experience. Julie benefits from the situation on a pragmatic level, as she manages to complete the task and expands her professional network; this, in turn, enhances her academic career and offers further work opportunities. This pragmatic success enhances Julie's self-esteem and makes her feel better about herself in a psychological sense; she realises she is capable of preparing and delivering an interesting talk, despite feeling anxious. Moreover, Julie recognises that her research is important and interesting; this makes her feel happier and motivates her to study her topic in even more detail. She returns psychologically better off than she was before taking on the task. This was achieved due to the DP strategy which she adopted in order to cope with the situation that was causing her anxiety.

Here I suggest that people who experience low mood (a symptom of mild/moderate depression) are more likely than people with higher mood to apply the DP strategy with success and-as a result-come to be better off psychologically. This controversial claim has some empirical justification. In their original article, Norem and Cantor primarily explain DP as a method of controlling one's own anxiety ahead of a performance. Situations such as passing an exam, giving a speech or putting on a show undoubtedly constitute a source of anxiety for everyone, regardless of other psychological problems that people may experience. A person may attempt to perform the DP strategy in order to take control over the anxiety experienced and to succeed in a task. It is plausible to think that the process of forming pessimistic expectations with regards to oneself will come easier to someone who already experiences depression-related low mood than to a 'healthy' subject. The latter one will bemost likely-prone to positive illusions, which may be reflected in an overly optimistic view of

herself and her future performance-something that would not be particularly desirable in order to make DP work. Moreover and most importantly, as mild depressive symptoms are linked to more accurate self-related judgments (Alloy and Abramson, 1979), we have reason to believe that people with low mood will base their DP strategy on more realistic grounds and, therefore, will be more likely to succeed.

Whilst moderately low mood seems to be advantageous, the same claim cannot be made about more severe symptoms of depression. The evidence coming from empirical studies indicates that in the face of anxiety people with Major Depressive Disorder (MDD) avoid taking risks and participating in challenging tasks (e.g. Trew, 2011). They prefer to withdraw from stressful situations even if participating would substantially benefit them in the long-term. One of the possible explanations for risk avoidance in depression comes from *learned helplessness* theory (Seligman, 1972) which argues that frequent exposure to harm that could not be avoided causes people to give up their efforts to cope with the situation, even if they have control over it. Other empirical studies (for instance Kuiper, 1978) exploring defensive strategies in subjects with clinical depression back up this hypothesis. Similarly, empirical evidence coming from the studies exploring depressive realism shows that those who suffer from severe depression maintain an overly negative view of themselves (e.g. Moore and Fresco, 2012) and, even if they are successful, they attribute the cause of success to external circumstances.

Although most people will agree that severe depression does not help a person succeed in a challenge, the claim that having low mood would be more beneficial than having a 'healthy' one sounds counterintuitive. Nevertheless, in the face of the anxiety caused by an upcoming

task, it seems better for the person to have a moderately low mood rather than remain an optimist. This is because the person ought to have the emotional capacity to set up 'low expectations' with regards to herself. This strategy, in turn, will be easier to perform for someone who already finds herself in a low mood (and perceives herself in a more accurate manner) than for somebody who has an optimistic state of mind. The research on the phenomenon of positive illusions shows that people who do not suffer from depressive symptoms are often prone to having an overly optimistic view of themselves, maintaining false, but psychologically useful beliefs with regards to their own capacities (Taylor, 1989). Although these beliefs allow people to feel better about themselves, they may also be psychologically and pragmatically disadvantageous. People who are overly optimistic often do not work as hard as pessimists do, due to the belief in their own talent or 'luck' (e.g. Lench and Bench, 2012). As a result, optimists may not achieve the success they hoped for. The literature regarding the phenomenon of positive illusions also indicates that the bigger the disparity between a person's self-related optimistic beliefs and her actual capacities, the less likely it is that she will benefit from her optimism. For example, Seligman (2006) argues that positive self-regard is beneficial as long as it is based upon a realistic evaluation.

Norem and Cantor emphasize that DP is a strategy exclusively related to overcoming anxiety. In those cases when people do not feel anxious ahead of the task, there is no need for them to build defenses. However, if one feels anxious, the low mood might play an important role in constructing an effective defense against potential failure and in accomplishing the task successfully. As Norem and Cantor put it "...this strategy may be thought of as a method by which individuals are able to cope with their anxiety, in effect, change it from a debilitating to a *motivating* force." (1986b, p. 1209, my emphasis). For that reason, I argue that depression-

related low mood may offer a contextual benefit (advantage) to the person who experiences anxiety ahead of the upcoming task: it helps her to set up very low expectations with regards to herself and-eventually-succeed in the task.

In sum, low mood and related realism might constitute an advantage in a situation when one attempts to adopt a successful DP strategy in the face of anxiety. Being 'healthy' (having no mood-related problems) might-in turn-be beneficial in situations when people do not feel anxious ahead of the task; empirical evidence shows that being optimistic usually positively correlates with academic and non-academic achievements (e.g. Yates, 2002). However, in order to successfully cope with task-related anxiety, when a person attempts to set up low expectations in order to protect her own self-esteem from harm, having a realistic rather than optimistic view of herself is more desirable. This conclusion is compatible with the study conducted by Isaacowitz and Seligman (2001) which shows that pessimists are less prone to depression than optimists after experiencing negative life events, such as the death of a friend. The pessimists have likely spent more time bracing themselves mentally for unpleasant events, and have become more resilient. Acknowledging the role played by low mood in the successful implementation of the DP strategy by people who are anxious about an upcoming task helps better understand how-in certain circumstances-low mood may deliver psychological benefits, despite its other costs.

2.3 SELF-HANDICAPPING

Self-handicapping (SH) is a psychological strategy first introduced by Steven Berglas and Edward E. Jones (1978) and defined as the way in which people avoid effort in order to keep

potential failure from hurting self-esteem. Self-handicaps are understood as obstacles either created or claimed by the individuals who anticipate failing a performance. Norem and Cantor describe self-handicapping this way:

Anticipating a threat to self-esteem, they [self-handicapping people] restructure the attributional situation so as to minimize that threat. By withdrawing effort (or "sabotaging" themselves), self-handicapping persons avoid negative ability attributions. Failure is simply attributed to lack of effort, which is presumably less "incriminating" than lack of ability because it is an unstable cause that is potentially under the control of the individual. In the unlikely event of success, where the self-handicapper has succeeded despite a lack of effort, the implication is that he is exceptionally able. (Norem and Cantor, 1986a, p. 349)

Self-handicapping is a strategy used by people in order to justify their failure. Examples of self-handicapping may include drug use, excessive procrastination, fatigue, and overwhelming anxiety, all of which shift direct responsibility for failure from the individual to less incriminating handicaps. The no-lose character of the situation becomes obvious as one realizes that, in the event of success, the individual must be considered exceptionally able, considering the obstacles that were overcome (Berglas and Jones, 1978; Norem and Cantor, 1986b). The process of self-handicapping can be performed in two different ways. The first method relies on people making a task harder for themselves (or not successfully completing the task) in order to be able to blame the difficulty of the task, rather than themselves, in case they fail. For instance, one may ask for a more difficult set of questions in the situation of an exam, so that if she fails she can put the blame on the questions rather than on her lack of skills, or other self-related factors. This technique is known as behavioural handicapping, as the individual actually creates real obstacles to her own performance. Other examples of this kind may include alcohol consumption prior to a performance (Bordini et al., 1986), the selection of unattainable goals (Greenberg, 1985), and the refusal to practice or to rehearse before the actual performance (Harris and Snyder, 1986).

The second way in which people self-handicap is by expressing verbal excuses for their potential failure so that if they do not succeed, they can blame the circumstances as the reasons for their failures. Researchers call this technique *claimed self-handicapping* as a person merely verbally states that the obstacle exists. For example, one may claim to be highly anxious before an interview, so that she may point at her anxiety as the reason why she has not landed a job. Other physical and psychological symptoms might be used as excuses in claimed self-handicapping techniques.

What role does depression-related symptomatology play in SH? A clue can be found in the empirical research on low self-esteem, a phenomenon proved to be strongly correlated with an onset of depression (see for example Sowislo and Orth, 2013). The empirical data allow us to view low self-esteem as an enhancing factor for the strategy in many ways. For example, the research by Baumgardner (1991) and Higgins and colleagues (2013) suggests that people who suffer from low self-esteem, and therefore are more sensitive to the way others perceive them, are more likely to use SH than those with high self-esteem. Furthermore, as self-handicapping allows people to avoid responsibility and guilt, those suffering from depressive symptoms might benefit from the strategy to the greatest extent. According to the cognitive account of depression (e.g. Beck, 1967), self-blaming and related guilt are the main features of the depressive illness. Successfully performed SH benefits people with depression in the sense that they do not feel bad in the situation of failure because the reasons for not succeeding lie beyond their personal capacities. Finally, as people with mild to moderate depression are capable of more accurate judgments with regards to themselves (depressive realism), their SH

tactics are likely to be more realistically founded, and therefore, turn out to be more successful.

Not every person suffering from low self-esteem will have depression. Similarly, not every individual with depression will handicap. However, based on the existing psychological data, it is plausible to think that in order to protect their self-image particularly prior to the performance or other forms of self-presentation, people with low self-esteem are more likely than others to use handicapping with success.

In the light of the above, it is important to emphasize that the alleged benefits of SH come as an implicit and temporary relief to the person, rather than a long-term, permanent psychological improvement. The aim of SH strategy is to release a temporary tension such as the guilt-or other unpleasant feelings-related to a particular event, rather than to contribute to a long-term pragmatic benefit, as it was the case in DP. Having asserted that, SH still is a useful self-therapeutic tool in situations of intermittent stress, when a person might have no other way to achieve psychological relief. For example, if a person had acknowledged that her failure in the exam was due to her lack of relevant knowledge, she might have felt worthless and decided not to attempt the exam again, or even not to put herself through something similar ever again. In this case, blaming external circumstances rather than the self offers the person a temporary relief from worse psychological harm and constitutes a psychological advantage. It is important to note that the strategy described here relates to a common and implicit psychological mechanism that people use on an everyday basis, rather than to a deliberate and tailored therapeutic intervention. In other words, placing the burden of guilt outside oneself is likely to offer a temporary relief, however, it should not be promoted as a way of solving one's underlying psychological problems.

There is another interesting link between depression-related symptoms and self-handicapping. As Berglas and Jones note

...therapists have long been aware of the appeal of the "sick" role to those who wish temporarily to drop out of life's competition. This is a form of self-handicapping where the body is seen as outside the system of personal responsibility. Many clinicians have noted that even the roles of "neurotic" or "mental" patients may be partly strategic in nature. (1978, p. 201)

In a study conducted by Baumgardner (1991), people used their negative mood as a handicap in the situations of public performance only when they had been previously informed that their mood may indeed negatively affect the task. In a study by Weary and Williams (1990), frequent self-handicapping strategies were related to lower self-esteem and high levels of depression. Carson (1969) points out that the acquisition of the label 'mentally ill' is not invariably treated as a major disaster by a person with such a diagnosis. Instead, it becomes a cover story for various types of rule breaking ('it's not me who is doing this, it's my illness'). In these instances, having depression is used as an excuse for wrong-doing, regardless of whether the illness actually affects the person's actions. Exaggerating existing symptoms is one of the most frequent handicapping strategies. As Alfred Adler explains

^{...}the patient selects certain symptoms and develops them until they impress him as real obstacles. Behind his barricade of symptoms, the patient feels hidden and secure. To the question 'What use are you making of your talents?' he answers, 'This thing stops me; I cannot go ahead', and points to his self-erected barricade. (Adler, 1929, p. 13; quoted also in Higgins et al., 2013, p. 1).

It is critical to notice at this point that the existence of depression-related self-handicapping suggests neither that people lie about their symptoms in order to gain some benefits, nor that they fake their illness. Those who do not comprehend the complexity and authenticity of mental health issues sometimes make such wrong presumptions; this way they inadvertently contribute to the social stigma surrounding depression. Whilst it is true to some extent that a certain number of people might attempt such ill-health performances, these manoeuvres do not constitute the point of interest in the debate presented here. Instead we are interested in addressing the questions of whether one may use *actual* and *existing* depressive symptoms in the strategy of self-protection.

To sum up what I have said so far, the two strategies described above are means of selfprotection and are especially useful prior to a challenging performance. By setting critically low expectations or by claiming (or exhibiting) her own handicaps, the person protects her own self-esteem and/or self-worth from the psychological harms of failure. Both strategies work well for people affected by moderate symptoms of depression but are not effective in the case of MDD. Whilst SH seems to be a short-term solution applicable to specific tasks, DP is a disposition potentially contributing to long-term benefits such as self-realization or success. This can be further explained by the motivational character of the strategy: in a situation that triggers anxiety, setting low self-related expectations works as a motivational force. Some researchers have proposed psychological techniques of a similar character: the technique of the worst-case-scenario (WCS) used in some schools of the cognitive-behavioral school of therapy (CBT) might serve as a good example. A client is asked to imagine the worst possible scenario for her problem: this allows her to face her own anxiety and take a cognitive control over it. As a result, the client becomes able to approach the problem in a more constructive way (see for instance Meichenbaum, 1977). The analysis of empirical studies on these two strategies suggests that behaviours associated with depression, low mood and low self-esteem can bring psychological benefits, despite being otherwise harmful. Some of the benefits can also be regarded as epistemically significant. The relation between depressive symptomatology and epistemic and psychological benefits in the two strategies is two-fold. First, by enhancing accurate self-related judgments, low mood delivers pragmatic and psychological benefits as mediated by the epistemic ones (DP). Second, by playing the role of preserving positive self-esteem (SH), the low mood has the potential to psychologically benefit the person in a direct, non-mediated way. However, psychological benefits, in this case, may be acquired at the expense of epistemic ones. For instance, a person's handicapping strategy allows her to protect her self-esteem by attributing the reasons for her failure to external circumstances, but at the same time, she might acquire false beliefs as a result ('I did not pass the exam because I got the wrong set of questions').

2.4 SUMMARY

In this chapter I asked whether being a pessimist might be linked to any psychological or epistemic advantage. It is important to consider the possibility that low mood and low self-esteem can enhance realistic thinking and protect one's self-image when challenges emerge. To acknowledge the positive as well as the negative aspects of phenomena such as low mood and low self-esteem that have been described in the diagnostic criteria as 'symptoms' might provide us with new, important tools for effective treatment.

One of the implications of the trade-off view is that one cannot experience low mood (and have realistic beliefs about the self) and enjoy psychological wellbeing at the same time. The cases discussed here present a practical challenge to such a claim. Depression-related phenomena such as low mood and low self-esteem can enhance psychological wellbeing either long-term (as in DP) or short term (as in SH). In this chapter I argued that low mood and low self-esteem do not necessarily compromise psychological wellbeing and, due to the complexity of the relationship among them, the issue of the contribution of low mood and low self-esteem to wellbeing deserves a more detailed investigation. Similarly, the epistemic consequences of the strategies I presented, DP and SH, need a more thorough examination. The person who adopts DP may acquire false beliefs with regards to herself (e.g. 'I am not good enough to perform this task') in order to gain motivation for further work. This may lead to the quick conclusion that DP is epistemically costly. However, the strategy enables the person to deliver a successful performance, thanks to supporting the person's effort to improve her knowledge or skills. This translates into an epistemic advantage (and plays the role of mediating psychological benefits, as was explained earlier in this section). Moreover, given that the person benefits from increased self-esteem and trust in her own skills, she is likely to gain a further epistemic advantages by investing her own resources into the subsequent acquisition of skills and knowledge. In the case of SH, the person's psychological gains (in terms of preventing greater psychological harms) have epistemic costs. In order to protect self-worth and self-esteem, the person may acquire false beliefs (e.g. 'I did not pass this exam as I felt poorly on that day').

Viewing certain depressive symptoms as pathological reflects only a part of a complex story. Without denying that experiences such as low mood and low self-esteem come with epistemic and psychological costs, it becomes critical to recognize that frequently these phenomena also play a subtler positive role. Whether they help to enhance motivation to pursue personal goals or they offer a temporary relief from the burden of guilt, they become a part of a rational psychological strategy. Further research is needed to extend our knowledge about the positive role of low mood and low self-esteem as well as to turn such knowledge into adequate therapeutic tools for clinicians.

CHAPTER 3: POSITIVE ILLUSIONS AND WELLBEING

According to the trade-off view, realistic cognitions are unavoidably associated with psychological costs. More specifically, authors like Taylor (Taylor, 1989) suggest that although a realist sees things 'as they really are', she pays the price explicated in psychological costs, such as low mood.

In the previous chapter, I argued that the view of realism as psychologically unfavourable has some serious limitations and that the relation between realistic cognitions and their costs and benefits is more complex than believed and needs re-visiting. I described the phenomena of defensive pessimism and self-handicapping as psychological techniques offering the potential of enhancing one's wellbeing. The analysis of these techniques shows that low moodalthough contributing to psychological problems-might also carry the potential for mental health as well as lead to more accurate self-related judgements.

In this chapter, I want to further develop my view of realistic cognitions as epistemically and psychologically beneficial. In order to do this, I question the claim made by Taylor and Brown that an 'illusory' (that is, unrealistic) factor of optimistic beliefs contributes to one's wellbeing.

Here is a plan of this chapter: in section 3.1 I describe the phenomenon of positive illusions (hereafter: PIs) in the wider context of empirical research on optimism. In section 3.2 I argue that-contrary to the claims made by Taylor and Brown (Taylor and Brown, 1988; Taylor, 1989)-unrealistically optimistic beliefs with regards to oneself may carry significant

psychological costs to the subject and-as a consequence-negatively affect her wellbeing. In section 3.3, based on the psychological literature, I show that realistic self-evaluation is an enhancing factor for optimistic beliefs to turn beneficial. I conclude that from the wellbeing point of view (similarly to the DP and SH strategies analysed in the previous chapter) it may be more beneficial for the person to hold realistic self-related beliefs than to be subjected to illusory beliefs about one's own capabilities. I further conclude that the relation between self-related positive illusions and mental health are more complex than proposed by Taylor and Brown: when departing from the reality they lead to negative psychological consequences.

3.1 POSITIVE ILLUSIONS AS INSTANCES OF OPTIMISM

What are positive illusions? The term originates in a 1988 paper by Taylor and Brown (1988) and is defined as unrealistically favourable attitudes that people have towards themselves or people that are close to them. The authors maintain that certain PIs are highly prevalent in psychologically healthy people and predictive of criteria traditionally associated with mental health. According to Taylor and Brown (1994), there are three general kinds of PIs: (1) an inflated assessment of one's own abilities, (2) unrealistic optimism about the future, and (3) an illusion of control.

Contrary to much traditional, psychological wisdom ... the mentally healthy person appears to have the enviable capacity to distort reality in a direction that enhances self-esteem, maintains beliefs in personal efficacy, and promotes an optimistic view of the future" (Taylor and Brown, 1988, p. 204).

A classic example of inflation is the *better-than-most effect*. People tend to find themselves warmer, kinder, more sincere, etc., than the average person and these self-appreciating views are correlated with higher achievements. Similarly, children who overestimate their capacities develop better language, problem-solving, or motor skills (Taylor and Brown, 1988; Taylor, 1989; Taylor and Brown, 1994). People affected by serious illness who believe that they are coping better than other patients are found to experience reduced stress (Brown, 1993; Taylor and Armor, 1996; Folkman, 1997).

Unrealistic optimism about the future is the phenomenon by which "people anticipate that their future will be brighter than can reasonably be justified on statistical grounds" (Taylor and Brown 1994). People who are optimistic in this way are more creative, and cope better with stressful situations. Taylor and colleagues (1992) studied men who had tested seropositive for HIV and found that they were more optimistic about not acquiring AIDS than men who knew they were seronegative. This unrealistic optimism has been correlated with health-promoting behaviour and use of positive coping techniques. Taylor and Brown have shown not only that PIs are widespread in non-clinical populations, but that there are strong links between certain forms of positive illusions and mental health (in terms of creativity and productivity), and physical health (in terms of prolonged longevity).

Another type of positive illusion is the *illusion of control*. In a lottery situation, people who have been assigned random tickets prefer to swap their tickets for tickets they choose themselves, even if this does not impact on their chances to win (Langer 1975). According to Taylor and Brown people believe that they have control over random events and circumstances. The illusion of control effect was discussed in more detail in chapter 1 of this thesis, in the context of depressive realism. People's belief that they can change external

circumstances for the better contributes to better adjustment in the context of trauma or chronic illness.

Taylor and Brown not only propose that PIs are psychologically beneficial; they further argue-rather boldly-that those who do not hold the PIs are psychologically worse-off:

...individuals who are moderately depressed or low in self-esteem consistently display an absence of such enhancing illusions. Together, *these findings appear inconsistent with the notion that accurate self - knowledge is the hallmark of mental health*." (Taylor and Brown, 1988, p. 197, my emphasis)

The idea that mentally healthy people maintain beliefs which depart from the truth, and that the lack of such illusions is linked to psychological costs, turned the existing model of mental health upside down and ignited much philosophical interest. Up to that moment, it was believed that mentally healthy people have accurate cognitions and that their beliefs reflect reality. Taylor and Brown's proposition not only questioned the importance of realism as a warrant of mental health but-most importantly-implied that people may be healthy *thanks to* their illusory beliefs. Such a claim is intriguing and controversial. In order to verify its plausibility, I shall examine the circumstances in which the concept of PIs itself arose. Situating Taylor and Brown's theory into this context will shed light on the cause of its popularity at the time of its birth as well as enhancing our understanding of the contribution that research on PIs have made to positive psychology.

3.2 POSITIVE ILLUSIONS IN CONTEXT

Early approaches to optimism do not present it as a desirable aspect of human nature. Carr points out that, up until the late 1970's, optimism was generally considered "a psychological deficit, a sign of immaturity or weakness of character" (Carr, 2004, p. 76). Peterson (2000) argues that this deficit-based view of optimism has been reflected in writings of such diverse authors as Sophocles, Nietzsche, and Freud. Indeed Sigmund Freud (2012/1928) in his work entitled "The Future of an Illusion" argues that optimism is part of human nature but only as a by-product of the conflict between instincts and socialisation. Optimism enhances civilisation, especially when institutionalised in the form of religious beliefs. However, religious optimism comes with its costs: the denial of our biological, instinctual nature and, therefore, the denial of reality. Religious optimism is at the core of what Freud called the universal obsessional neurosis of humanity and is necessary for the masses to thrive; educated individuals-argues Freud-do not need the illusion of optimism, as they rely on the laws of rationality. As Freud's psychoanalytically inspired ideas became highly influential in psychology, his view of optimism as illusory and related to religious beliefs has affected many other theorists, who indicate that the accurate perception of reality should be the benchmark of good psychological functioning (Snyder, 1988; Taylor, 1989). According to Jahoda, for example, "the perception of reality is called mentally healthy when what the individual sees corresponds to what is actually there" (Jahoda, 1958, p. 6).

In order to remain in a good mental state, the individual is required to exercise 'reality testing'; only fairly modest expectations about the future could pass the test and anything

62

beyond is regarded as denial or illusion (Akhtar, 1996) and indicates deviation from the standards.

However, this psychodynamically influenced view of accurate reality testing as a warrant of mental health was soon subjected to the challenge coming from an unexpected direction. Cognitive psychologists present an array of research documenting that most people are not accurate in how they think. For example, Matlin and Stang (1978) precipitate a paradigm shift when they (in the so-called "The Pollyanna Principle") provided evidence that thought, language, and memory are selectively positive: people tend to use more positive than negative words whilst speaking or writing; they also judge themselves more positively than they judge others; in free recall, people produce positive memories before they produce negative ones, and so on. These findings demonstrate not only how widespread PI's really are, but-most importantly-they proved that it is particularly typical for psychologically *healthy* individuals (Peterson, 2000). Tiger (1979) took this understanding forward by arguing that being able to think optimistically was, in fact, adaptive from an evolutionary viewpoint: it motivates people to continue to struggle to survive, even given the inevitability of our eventual death. Because optimism involves thinking about the future, Tiger argued, it first appeared when people began to think ahead and developed fears related to their own mortality. Optimism developed to counteract their fear and despair and to offer some hope. On Tiger's account, optimism is inherent in human nature, not a mere by-product of some other psychological traits. Similarly, McKay and Dennett (2009) suggest that positivity biases can be biologically adaptive for mental and physical health as well as for economic success. The Error Management account of unrealistic optimism, in turn, explains the evolutionary benefits of unrealistic optimism by saying that unrealistically optimistic predictions are beneficial because they allow us to make the least costly error. Error management theory holds that when making decisions under

ambiguous circumstances, it is best to form beliefs where the cost of acting on erroneous beliefs is low and the potential gain resulting from a correct belief is relatively high. (Haselton and Nettle, 2006; Jefferson, 2017).

An even more original and influential account of optimism has been proposed by Anthony Greenwald (1980), who compares human nature to a totalitarian regime, where the self can be seen as an organisation of knowledge about one's history and identity. This organisation, argues Greenwald, is biased by information-control strategies: everyone engages in a continuous process of fabricating and revising their personal history (Peterson, 2000). Every person is the central figure in his or her own narrative, takes credit for good outcomes and dismisses responsibility for bad events. Furthermore, people resist changes in how they think. To sum up, the ego maintains itself in the most self-appreciating way possible, similarly to a totalitarian political regime.

Meanwhile, Taylor and Brown (1988) review a great number of studies on social cognition. The authors argue that people are generally biased toward the positive and that the lack of such bias might be related to anxiety or depression related problems. The authors ultimately conclude that

contrary to much traditional, psychological wisdom... the mentally healthy person appears to have the enviable capacity to *distort reality* in a direction that enhances self-esteem, maintains beliefs in personal efficacy, and promotes an optimistic view of the future (Taylor and Brown, 1988, p. 204, my emphasis).

Indeed, it is Taylor and Brown who first proposed the term "positive illusions", which they defined as pervasive tendency to see oneself in the best possible light (1988). The authors believe that these illusions are beliefs maintained through biases in encoding, interpretation,

and retrieval of information. The examples include selective attention and benign forgetting, cognitive drift (explained as a temporary change in one's beliefs), acknowledging pockets of incompetence (e.g. accepting a lack of talent in one area of life whilst maintaining belief in a general competence). The alleged biases enable people to avoid situations exposing their lack of skills-instead, they encourage people to construct a self-enhancing world in which to live (Taylor and Brown, 1988). Taylor (1989) argues that PIs are related to a range of benefits such as happiness, the ability to care for others, creativity and productivity (through enhanced motivation and the ability to develop relevant skills), the ability to function under stress, physical health and the ability to cope with trauma. Building on this, many of the `more recent studies have emphasised the benefits of PIs in relationships. For example, Murray and Holmes (1997) found that positive relationship illusions predict greater satisfaction, love, and trust (as well as less conflict and ambivalence) in both dating and marital relationships.

By developing the concept of PIs, Taylor and Brown contributed to a new understanding of the role of optimistic beliefs in people's lives. How is the construct of PIs different from other instances of optimism? Taylor and Brown's novel approach to the psychological benefits of optimism seems to be such that-according to the authors-it is the 'distortion' aspect of certain beliefs that makes them psychologically beneficial. They put their emphasis on *the illusion*, that is the inaccuracy of cognition through unrealistically positive views, which contributes to better mental health. "Evidence indicates that self-enhancement, *exaggerated beliefs* in control and *unrealistic optimism* can be associated with higher motivation, greater persistence, more effective performance and ultimately, greater success" (Taylor and Brown, 1988, p. 199, my emphasis). But is it true? I argue that the role of reality distortion in the case of optimistic beliefs is much more complex than the authors present. The empirical evidence shows that optimistic self-beliefs indeed carry psychological benefits, however, their alleged

departure from reality seems to bring more harm than good. Let us have a look at some examples.

3.3 THE PSYCHOLOGICAL COSTS OF ILLUSORY BELIEFS

Under the weight of critical responses to the claim of the beneficial role of illusory beliefs (e.g. Colvin and Block, 1994), Taylor has become more cautious over the years and in a later article (Taylor et al., 2000) she notes that in order to provide a benefit, the illusion should be "mild" (e.g. p. 100). In their response to the criticism the authors attempt to clarify their position by warning that "at extreme levels... illusion may well be maladaptive" (Taylor and Brown, 1994, p. 24) and that "it is absolutely clear that certain illusions or distortions (e.g. delusions of grandeur) are associated with mental illness" (p. 25). Taking into account Taylor's further claims that psychological mechanisms such as repression and denial distort reality and (therefore) are maladaptive, whilst positive illusions, although they also distort reality, are adaptive (Carr, 2004) it becomes unclear how much distance from reality do the authors consider as 'mild' (and, therefore, beneficial). Unfortunately, Taylor and Brown do not provide any empirical nor conceptual definition of alleged 'mildness', making the issue of whether reality distortion is beneficial very difficult to address.

Below I want to defend the claim that in the case of beliefs called 'positive illusions', it is *not* the 'illusory' (reality-departing) factor that makes the beliefs in question beneficial for mental health. Quite opposite: the empirical evidence shows that optimistic beliefs with regards to self are psychologically beneficial for the subject when they are based on realistic (rather than illusory) self-evaluation. However, if such psychologically beneficial beliefs appeared to

contain a certain degree of reality distortion, such a distortion is 'mild' and limited; otherwise, such beliefs, when founded on considerably unrealistic self-assessment, are evidenced to carry significant psychological costs: too much of an illusion is bad for us psychologically. For these reasons, it is not plausible to claim that it is 'distortion from reality' which contributes to mental health; the story appears to be much more complex.

3.3.1 The psychological cost of self-enhancing illusions

Robins and Beer (2001) analyse illusory self-related beliefs and argue that only those that contain a relatively mild departure from reality can be considered as beneficial. The authors also point out that the same or similar belief might be considered either less or more 'illusory', depending on a person making the judgement; the added factor of individual differences makes our assessment of the beneficial role of those beliefs more complex. However, as the authors argue, we do not need to look at extremely distorted beliefs to be able to see that illusions are not good for us and linked to fundamentally unfavourable outcomes. For example, let's take a look at moderately self-enhancing beliefs: the empirical research indicates that they might be linked to narcissistic personality disorder (Robins and Beer, 2001). Similarly, Baumeister and colleagues (1996) present evidence that frequently people's self-enhancing beliefs result in them having high but unstable self-esteem; this, in turn, leads to psychologically negative consequences, such as undertaking violent behaviour in situations when they feel threatened. Yet another study (Baumeister et al., 2005) shows that children whose self-enhancing beliefs result in overly high self-esteem do not turn out to do better academically or socially; instead, they tend to get involved in more risky behaviours than their less confident peers.

Another set of empirical evidence shows that although certain self-enhancing illusions have a capacity to temporarily improve people's mood, they have a negative impact on people's health in the long run. Robins and Beer (2001) found, through the combination of laboratory and longitudinal methodologies, that PIs may have both positive and maladaptive consequences. For example, participants who think they did better at a task than they actually did, feel happier after the task than usual; however, this advantage decreases over time: self-enhancers' ratings of their well-being and self-esteem are lower when compared to the individuals with realistic self-perceptions. Furthermore, the authors discovered that self-enhancers tend to withdraw their interest from the areas where they are not meeting their goals. They also show no correlation with long-term successful performance – on the contrary, they are slightly less likely to graduate from college than those with realistic appraisals of their abilities. The study by Robins and Beer is uniquely important because of its longitudinal character (which means that the outcomes of particular stimuli were measured and assessed over a long period of time) and provides one piece of evidence for a long-term negative impact of PIs on one's well-being.

People who hold illusory optimistic beliefs about their own health prospects can receive immediate psychological benefits, because they become less worried about their future if they think that they are unlikely to develop a certain disease (e.g. Lench and Bench, 2012). But underestimating the risk of suffering from a certain condition leads to negative consequences, as people fail to adopt preventive measures that would improve their health prospects (Shepperd et al., 2013). For instance, the belief that one is at low risk of developing lung cancer might lead them to the decision to continue smoking; similarly, believing that we are unlikely to contract sexually transmitted diseases impacts our decision not to use

contraception (Lench and Bench, 2012), and so on. In sum, the evidence coming from psychological research indicates that although a positive outlook generally supports the wellbeing of people affected by serious conditions and predicts more successful therapeutic interventions, realistic attitudes to chronic degenerative conditions seem to be more beneficial than optimistic ones (Hurt et al., 2014; Bortolotti and Antrobus, 2015). People who hold illusory beliefs with regard to their own capabilities risk experiencing a catastrophic failure because the reality will not fulfill their expectations:

Constant striving for control over events without the resources to achieve it can take a toll on the individual who faces an objective limit to what can be attained regardless of how hard he or she works. If optimism is to survive as a social virtue than the world must have a causal texture that allows this stance to produce rewards. If not, people will channel their efforts into unattainable goals and become exhausted, ill and demoralised. Alternatively, people may rechannel their inherent optimism into other goals. (Peterson, 2000, p. 51)

This conclusion is further strengthened by psychological research over the benefits of realistic optimism. Below I present some relevant examples.

3.3.2 The benefits of optimism based on realistic self-evaluation

The studies investigating the beneficial impact of optimistic beliefs on our psychological health largely confirm the claim that 'believing in yourself' and feeling confident is associated with greater resilience and better mental health. However, it is not 'cheating yourself' that does the trick, but-quite the opposite-an honest and realistic evaluation of one's own resources and possibilities. Let us take a look at the following example: Ann wants to apply for a job as a translator. She is aware that she does not have sufficient work experience; this may put her behind some other, more experienced, candidates. However, Ann reckons that her first-hand excellent knowledge of the language (her mother was a native speaker) may perhaps place her ahead of the competition; this positive expectation offers Ann confidence and motivation to

send her resume to her prospective employer. Ann does not hold a positive illusion with regards to her skills by believing-or example-that she suits the job description better than anyone else who might apply (the phenomenon known as the 'better than average' effect, Alicke and Govorun, 2005) or that she will be chosen regardless of her limited experience. She acknowledges her limits and realises that other candidates might have a longer-or stronger-work history. In that understanding, Ann is mentally well prepared for the fiasco. However, this realisation does not discourage her from trying her chances, based on her belief in one of her strengths. This is where she focuses her attention and decides to apply for a job. This decision turns out to be beneficial for Ann-she has been selected for an interview.

Ann's honest evaluation of her capabilities has been a basis for her decision of focusing her attention on her strong points. This strategy is known in psychology as *positive denial* and has been described by Lazarus (1983) as a cognitive strategy of deliberately focusing attention on opportunities and potential positive outcomes *without denying the reality of the situation* (my emphasis). To put it in another way-positive denial occurs when one gives herself permission to temporarily disregard situation which needs not be addressed at the moment. For instance, people diagnosed with cancer may use positive denial to focus more on the possibilities for healing than on the life-threatening and negative aspects of their condition (Lazarus, 1998; Barnett 2006). They do not deny being ill: quite opposite, they are well aware of the gravity of the situation. They do not ignore their doctors' recommendations and maintain the treatment. However, they deliberately choose to focus their attention and their effort on their chances of recovery and on a positive prognosis. A number of researchers showed that positive denial can keep morale up, reduce anxiety, and prevent individuals or groups from becoming preoccupied with minor problems at the expense of long-term essential goals

(Lazarus, 1998; Barnett 2006; Friedel et al., 2007; Kaplan and Midgley, 1999). Empirical evidence coming from the research comparing the outcomes of illusory and realistically grounded optimism indicates that overly positive and ungrounded self-enhancement frequently leads to a fiasco in a given task. For example, based on their empirical research, Tero and Connell (1984) distinguish between adaptive and maladaptive coping strategies depending on the outcome of a given task. In adaptive/positive coping, the participants appear to take a realistic approach to the task prior to planning a solution: they seek their mistakes, analyse their faults, and plans their time accordingly. In maladaptive coping, on the other hand, the participants ignore the failures or do not consider them as their own errors, but-instead-they tend to blame their teacher, their parents, and people around them for their own mistakes (see also Friedel et al., 2007 for more examples). Generally, adaptive coping strategies have been based on a realistic assessment and act as a buffer between a stressful environment and psychological wellbeing of the person (Subasi and Tas, 2016). The strategy of positive denial allows people to focus their effort on the positive side of their situation, without cheating themselves by illusory and unsupported beliefs.

In his renowned research on optimism and its benefits, Martin Seligman shares a similar view on realistic bases of 'good' optimism (Seligman, 2006). The author argues that the tendency to focus attention on the positive sides without denying the negatives of the ambiguous and complex situation is a *cognitive ability* rather than an implicit bias. Seligman calls such an ability a *positive explanatory style* and provides evidence for its countless psychological benefits. According to the author, this cognitive strategy, although it requires a certain cognitive effort, is potentially available to everyone and may constitute a subject of learning. Seligman contradicts it with *depressive explanatory style*, which he explicates as the cognitive tendency to focus on the *negative* sides of ambiguous events. Such reaction, argues Seligman, is a default one in people who suffer from depression. People who exhibit this style tend to explain (interpret) ambiguous events as negative, hostile, catastrophic and unfavourable, before making a rational evaluation. In some more severe cases, they may refuse to make such evaluations or reject the evidence if it is not convergent with their beliefs. According to Seligman (2006), depressive explanatory style is related to substantial psychological costs for the subject, including-in the long run-severe depression and delusions (I further explore depressive delusions in chapter 4).

Some more arguments for the claim which I want to endorse, that the realistic foundation of optimism offers more benefits than the illusory one, comes from theoretical work in theology. Paul Tillich (1965) considers optimism as a form of hope, explicated as an expectation that something positive will happen. Before we get into the details of Tillich's idea it is important to note that his account of hope is distinct to theories presented in philosophy and ought not to be regarded as philosophical but as an empirical account. It is not the purpose of this chapter to examine a variety of approaches to the complex concept of hope in philosophy. Rather, I want to show-using Tillich's account as a useful example-how very distinct authors across domains express their similar views on the role of realism in future-oriented beliefs. Tillich argues, for example, for the beneficial role of realistically grounded expectations and makes a distinction between a *genuine* and *foolish* hope. A genuine hope occurs when the resources (even if only in a 'seed form') of that which is expected are already present. As the author explains:

Where there is genuine hope, there that for which we hope has already some presence. In some way, the hoped for is at the same time here and not here. It is not yet fulfilled and it may

remain unfulfilled. But it is here, in the situation and in ourselves as a power which drives those who hope into the future. There is a beginning here and now. And this beginning drives towards an end. The hope itself, if it is rooted in the reality of something already given, becomes a driving power and makes fulfilment, not certain, but possible. Where such a beginning of what is hoped for is lacking, hope is foolishness. (Tillich, 1965, p. 373)

and

In the seed of a tree, stem and leaves are already present, and this gives us the right to sow the seed in hope for the fruit. We have *no* assurance that it will develop. But our hope is genuine. There is a presence, a beginning of what is hoped for. And so it is with the child and our hope for his maturing; we hope because maturing has already begun; we don't know how far it will go. We hope for the fulfilment of our work, often against hope, because it is already in us as vision and driving force. We hope for a lasting love because we feel the power of this love present. But it is hope, not certainty." (Tillich, 1965, p. 373)

Tillich contradicts genuine hope against the foolish one; the main difference between the two seems to be that the latter one has no realistic grounding. A person who holds hope (that is, positive expectation) against all available evidence is a fool, according to the author and will receive unpleasant repercussions. Tillich's account of two 'hopes' supports the argument of a beneficial role of realism in optimistic beliefs: although in this case, we speak about the general expectations rather than strictly self-related beliefs, the pattern seems to be very similar. Those expectations which depart from reality are undesirable and makes a man 'foolish'. These which take into account the reality, on the other hand, lead to positive outcomes for the one who 'hopes'. Simon Critchley (2014) offers a similar idea when he draws the dividing line between *realistic* and *blind* hopes, pointing at the latter one as a source of disadvantage:

You can have all kinds of reasonable hopes... But *unless those hopes are realistic* we will end up in a blindly hopeful (and, therefore, hopeless) idealism... Often, by clinging to hope, we make the suffering worse (Critchley, 2014, my emphasis)

Critchley and Tillich make a similar point: the destructiveness of 'blind' (or 'foolish') hope seems to be firmly related to its lack of *justification* (grounding in existing, even if minimal, realistic resources). This type of hope is likely to lead to increased frustration and despair, as hope is not fulfilled, although the subject can derive short-term pleasure from daydreaming. Critchley's 'hopeless idealism', as a product of foolish hopes, may sometimes become a dangerous social or political doctrine when certain expectations are imposed on people who lack realistic resources to fulfil them (Critchley, 2014). In such cases, foolish hope becomes harmful not just on a personal, but also on a social and political level.

Furthermore, Miriam McCormick in her recent paper entitled "Rational Hope" (2017) helpfully distinguishes between rational, or justified hope and irrational, or unjustified hope. According to the author, both theoretical and practical norms are significant when assessing hope's rationality. McCormick argues that a hope is rational when it contributes to agential success, even if there is little evidence for the object of such hope. This is because "as the practical importance of hope increases, the demand for the level of evidential support lessens and as the stakes get lower, the evidence for the likeliness of the hoped-for outcome coming to be must go up for the hope to be rational" (McCormick, 2017).

3.4 SUMMARY

In this chapter I addressed the question of whether PIs are linked to better mental health. The general conclusion coming from the literature on PIs is such that positive self-regard seems to be beneficial as long as it is based upon realistic evaluation; the lesson we learned from Taylor and Brown is that in some cases illusory beliefs might still be adaptive, but only if they contain a very mild (minimal) level of reality distortion. The so-called trade-off view, according to which, in order to be psychologically healthy, one ought to cordon-off realistic information, does not sound plausible in the light of the evidence presented in this chapter: people are psychologically better-off when they consider the reality prior to pursuing their goals. Conclusions coming from this debate point to the necessity of re-visiting the claims that realism and wellbeing are mutually exclusive. The wide array of existing and oncoming empirical research shows that optimistic beliefs, which are linked to an increase in psychological and physical well-being, are most frequently based upon prior realistic evaluations. Although minor deviations from realism do not seem to be problematic, more significant instances of reality distortion in optimistic beliefs are evidenced to be detrimental. More meticulous research is needed in order to fully comprehend the complex relationship between realism, optimistic beliefs, and wellbeing.

CHAPTER 4: DEPRESSIVE DELUSIONS¹

What are delusions? It is common to define delusions as implausible beliefs that are held with conviction but for which there is little empirical support.

Delusion. A false belief based on incorrect inference about external reality that is firmly sustained despite what almost everyone else believes and despite what constitutes incontrovertible and obvious proof or evidence to the contrary. The belief is not one ordinarily accepted by other members of the person's culture or subculture (e.g., it is not an article of religious faith). When a false belief involves a value judgment, it is regarded as a delusion only when the judgment is so extreme as to defy credibility (APA, 2013, p. 819).

For instance, Leslie who has delusions of persecution may come to believe that other people intend to cause her harm. Such a delusion has epistemic and psychological costs for Leslie. By interpreting many of her experiences in the light of her delusions, Leslie misrepresents the intentions of her family members and colleagues, and comes to regard their behaviour towards her as more hostile than it really is. Persecutory delusions also have a negative effect on Leslie's wellbeing by contributing to her increasing distress and anxiety. Apart from persecution, common delusional content found in depression involves guilt, illness, and loss of one's financial integrity.

Delusions of guilt articulate the concern to have lost one's moral integrity, that is, one's commitment to be there for the others. Delusions of illness express the concern to have lost one's physical integrity, the worry not to be autonomous and to be a burden for the others. Finally, delusions of ruin are about the concern to have lost one's financial integrity, thus, the worry to get the others involved in one's bankruptcy (Stanghellini and Raballo, 2015, p. 174).

¹ The content of this chapter has previously been published (Antrobus, M. and Bortolotti, L. (2016) *Depressive Delusions*, Filosofia Unisinos 17:2, pp. 192-201)

Delusions in general, and delusions of persecution in particular, have been the object of extensive psychological and phenomenological research (Freeman et al., 2001; Boyd and Gumley, 2007; Campbell and Morrison, 2007; Freeman, 2007; Freeman et al., 2008), and they have recently become a subject of philosophical investigation as well (Bortolotti, 2010; Radden, 2010; Gerrans, 2014). Most of the literature concentrates on delusional experience as part of schizophrenia or of the wider category of psychosis. But some of the recent research on depression (e.g., by Stanghellini and Raballo, 2015) suggests that delusions also emerge in the context of major depressive disorders and present different characteristics from those found in psychosis.

In this chapter I am interested in the nature of depressive delusions and ask whether they have some benefits despite their obvious epistemic and psychological costs. Here is the plan. In section 4.1 I describe what the existing literature identifies as different features in schizophrenic and depressive delusions. In section 4.2 I consider cognitive distortions in the learning processes that may contribute to severe depression. In section 4.3 I argue that the content of depressive delusions is related to the content of those beliefs that people acquire about themselves due to negatively biased learning. In section 4.4 I suggest that depressive delusions are acknowledgments of previously acquired self-related beliefs and I maintain that, despite its costs, the adoption of depressive delusions can reduce anxiety caused by inconsistent cognitions, and can also be viewed as epistemically innocent, where epistemic innocence is a property of epistemically costly cognitions that have significant epistemic benefits and whose benefits cannot be easily attained via less costly cognitions.

4.1 SCHIZOPHRENIC DELUSIONS VERSUS DEPRESSIVE DELUSIONS

A severe form of depression, sometimes called psychotic depression or depressive psychosis, is a major depressive episode that is accompanied by psychotic symptoms such as delusions and hallucinations (Hales and Yudofsky, 2003; Gerretsen et al., 2015) as well as by intense depressive symptoms, including very low mood, lack of interest in everyday matters, problems with sleeping, feelings of guilt, and obsessive self-accusations. The vast majority of delusions appearing in severe depression are mood-congruent, which means that their content matches the mood experienced by the person (Hales and Yudofsky, 2003). According to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (APA, 2013), common themes of depressive delusions are persecution, guilt, punishment, personal inadequacy, or disease, with half of the affected people experiencing delusions with more than one theme. It has been estimated that depression involving delusions occurs in 16% to 54% of people suffering from depression (Rothschild et al., 1999).

It is a matter of dispute whether depression involving delusions is a severe form of unipolar depression (sometimes also referred to as melancholia) or a condition that falls into the broader category of psychosis (see for instance: Frances et al., 1981; Parker et al., 1992). One argument for the latter hypothesis comes from empirical research showing that people suffering from these severe forms of depression do not get better with antidepressant medication alone (e.g. Brown et al., 1982; Gaudiano et al., 2008). Other researchers (e.g., Nelson and Bowers, 1978), however, argue on the basis of clinical studies that depression involving delusions should be understood as a sub-type of major depressive disorder and that it is continuous with, and not detached from, other forms of depressive illness. Stanghellini

and Raballo (2015) provide further support for this claim and point to several differences between schizophrenic and depressive delusions. According to them, delusions that emerge in schizophrenia take the form of a revelation by uncovering some new content, unfamiliar to the person, whereas delusions that emerge in depression confirm self-related information that is already known and familiar. This seems to be an important point. According to Stanghellini and Raballo (2015), the experience of schizophrenic delusions amounts to being struck with a 'something' that opens up a new meaning, a new identity, or a new understanding of the world that is deeper and more personal. This new awareness manifests as a sudden disclosure (Stanghellini and Ballerini, 1992), or as a kind of aesthetic experience (Parnas, 2013). The revelation follows a phase of uncertainty and tension and signals a radical change. The revelation is the 'dawn of a new reality' (Stanghellini and Rosfort, 2013). This feature of schizophrenic delusions has been captured by several other authors in the classic literature on schizophrenia. Karl Jaspers (1963) speaks of how endorsing the delusional content puts an end to a long period of uncertainty.

This general delusional atmosphere with all its vagueness of content must be unbearable. Patients obviously suffer terribly under it and to reach some definite idea at last is like being relieved from some enormous burden ...The achievement brings strength and comfort ...No dread is worse than that of danger unknown (Jaspers, 1963, p. 98).

And Klaus Conrad introduces the concept of 'apophany', the manifestation of a meaningfulness that was previously hidden. Here is a case study on which Conrad relies for his analysis of delusions as a revelation:

Due to possible psychosis, a 32-year-old first-class private, Karl B., was brought to Dr Conrad's hospital. In his interview with Conrad, the patient reports that "everything begins" one morning as his unit breaks to leave camp. When the sergeant asks him for the key to his quarters, it is suddenly clear to him that it is a ploy to "test" him. While departing in the bus, he notices that his comrades are behaving strangely: They know something that he is not

supposed to know. One of his comrades asks "conspicuously" if he has any bread. At midday, they arrive in a town to relieve units positioned there. A few in his company are charged with finding quarters for the rest of them. This is only a ruse for the few to receive instructions in how to deal with him while he waits with the others in the motor coach. One after another, groups of men leave the coach only for the others to return. "It is clear that they are all receiving their instructions" about him. The patient is unable to explain how he sees this. He simply "sees it" (Mishara, 2009, p. 9).

In schizophrenic delusions new content is revealed. People affected by schizophrenia often describe the adoption of the delusion as a discovery, such as the discovery of the true meaning of life, or of a new purpose for humanity (Stanghellini and Raballo, 2015, p. 173), although delusions can and often do incorporate aspects of the person's everyday reality and past experience (see for instance Parnas and Sass, 2001; Freeman et al., 2008).

Do depressive delusions share the same features as schizophrenic delusions? Not quite. There is wide agreement that depressive delusions confirm the person's previously acquired self-related beliefs and her feelings (see Kraus, 1983), instead of manifesting as a revelation or as the discovery of something new. Delusions of guilt in severe depression may validate a feeling of guilt and confirm the person's conviction that she has done something wrong. The idea that depressive delusions are preceded by moods and beliefs that are congruent with their content has been put forward in several contexts. For instance, Matthew Ratcliffe (2008), who adopts the Heidegger-inspired term 'existential feelings' to describe what the clinical literature refers to as 'moods', maintains that existential feelings provide the basis for further experience and thought, including delusional thoughts. Josef Parnas (2013) suggests that depressive delusions deal with the worldly affairs in which patients are engaged and for which they seek evidence. As depressive delusions have a direct link to previous experience and are about everyday feelings, Parnas calls them 'empirical', to distinguish them from the more

'metaphysical' delusions that give an insight into the nature of reality and are typical of schizophrenia.

4.2 LEARNING ABOUT THE SELF IN DEPRESSION

According to Swiss developmental psychologist Jean Piaget (1977), there are different stages of cognitive development explaining how children acquire and process knowledge. Some of Piaget's findings have been used to explain cognitive abnormalities in mental disorders such as schizophrenia and depression (e.g., Beck et al., 1979). Here I am going to refer to one of Piaget's concepts, the equilibration of cognitive structures model (hereafter, ECS) in order to shed light on the mechanisms involved in the acquisition of self-related beliefs in depression.

The central concept in the ECS model is that of a schema. A schema can be defined as a set of linked mental representations of the world, which people use both to understand new situations and to respond to them. A schema can be exemplified as a stored representation of a pattern of behaviour. A person might have a schema about buying a meal in a restaurant, which includes looking at a menu, ordering food, eating, and paying the bill. Whenever a person with this schema finds herself in a restaurant, she retrieves the schema from memory, and applies it to her situation. Piaget described how schemata were acquired and modified.

According to the ECS model, when the person's existing schemata can explain what she experiences, then we have a state of equilibrium, or cognitive balance. Two key processes are required for maintaining cognitive balance: assimilation, which is using an existing schema to

deal with a new object or situation; and accommodation, which happens when the existing schema does not correctly apply to a new situation and needs to be modified as a result. A correct development of cognitive structures (also called 'adaptation') requires effective implementation of both processes, assimilation and accommodation. If one of the two processes does not perform its function, the other one attempts to compensate to ensure adaptation. The main aim is to avoid conflicting cognitions and maintain coherence. Processes such as assimilation and accommodation serve this purpose. When equilibrium cannot be achieved, increased levels of stress and anxiety are experienced. Consider the following example:

Raymond, seeing a panther for the first time, says, 'look, there is a black leopard.' He has fit the new animal into an existing mental structure because he is already familiar with leopards and just assumes that the panther is a leopard of a different colour. He is using assimilation, making the new information fit into what he already knows. Monique, however, has never visited a zoo and has seen some wild animals only on television or in books. Seeing unfamiliar llamas she considers what these might be. They resemble horses, but Monique immediately dismisses this category because she knows that horses have smooth hair and shorter necks. She also dismisses camels because she knows they have humps on their backs. She decides finally that this must be an animal she does not know and asks the teacher what it is. Monique is using accommodation, creating a new concept into which this new information can be fitted (Essa, 2012, p. 117).

Seeing llamas for the first time and not being able to categorise them causes a state of cognitive dissonance. This state resembles Piaget's lack of equilibrium and is defined as the mental stress or discomfort experienced by an individual who holds two or more contradictory beliefs, ideas, or values at the same time; performs an action that is contradictory to one or more beliefs, ideas, or values; or is confronted by new information that conflicts with existing beliefs, ideas, or values (Festinger, 1957; Festinger, 1962).

The theory of cognitive dissonance helps us understand the extent to which people strive for coherence. When people experience inconsistent cognitions, they become psychologically uncomfortable and are motivated to reduce the inconsistency-as well as actively avoid situations and information likely to increase it (Festinger, 1957). When people are confronted with information that conflicts with their previous beliefs and cannot change such beliefs, they attempt to restore consistency in other ways, for instance by reinterpreting their experience, rejecting the new information, or seeking additional support for the previous beliefs from other people who share such beliefs (Harmon-Jones, 2002). There is evidence suggesting that people who remain in a state of cognitive dissonance for a prolonged period of time experience increased levels of anxiety and symptoms resembling those of post-traumatic stress disorder (Eysenck, 2013).

The hypothesis I wish to explore and ultimately defend is that people with severe depression acquire increasingly negative beliefs about themselves because the process by which they acquire self-related information is disrupted. The balance between assimilation and accommodation is compromised in that people with depression become increasingly less able to use accommodation as a way of processing new self-related information. Instead, they distort the content of newly acquired information in order to assimilate it successfully and make it consistent with their previous beliefs.

As we saw, people use schemata to understand the world, including themselves, and to learn from their experiences. Schemata have been shaped by past experiences, memories, social interactions, and conscious reflection, as well as by a number of other factors. Human experiences vary, and people who experience more harmful events throughout their lives may come to store self-related representations that are more negative. Schemata can be modified and when this happens, learning occurs. When people are not able to assimilate new information because it does not match their schemata, they modify their schemata in order to accommodate the new information.

As we remember from the previous chapters of this thesis, people who experience symptoms of mild depression, specifically low mood, tend to adopt more accurate beliefs about themselves. These judgements may include judgements about their own performance, estimation of future self-related events, or memories of the type of feedback they received. Whilst at least in some circumstances people with low mood perceive and assess themselves more accurately than people with no depressive symptoms, people affected by severe forms of depression form negatively biased beliefs about themselves and their circumstances. The more severe depressive symptoms they have, the more negative self-related beliefs they adopt. Indeed, people who experience major depressive disorder often have critically low selfesteem, perceive themselves as incapable and helpless, are filled with guilt and regrets, and believe that they deserve punishment (Goodwin and Jamison, 1990). They become their most severe critics and their harshest enemies; their thoughts become ruminative and centre on selfcondemnation.

4.3 A HYPOTHESIS ABOUT THE DEVELOPMENT OF DEPRESSIVE DELUSIONS

Cognitive models share the premise that maladaptive thinking and negative assessments of the self contribute to the development of depression. Aaron Beck's original theory (Beck, 1967; Beck et al., 1979) served as the catalyst for an explosion of research on the so-called 'cognitive vulnerability to depression' (Ingram, 1984; Teasdale and Barnard, 1993; Teasdale,

1997; Ingram et al., 1998; Hankin and Abramson, 2001; Abramson et al., 2002; Beevers, 2005). Some of the most recent cognitive models of depression have involved a refinement and further articulation of the basic model, which has it that maladaptive cognition contributes to the onset of depression in the context of stressful life circumstances (Dozois and Beck, 2008). For my purpose, which is to understand the nature of depressive delusions, it is useful to briefly revisit this model.

Beck (1967) argues that there are three main levels of thinking involved in the onset, maintenance, and aggravation of depression: depressive self-schemata, maladaptive beliefs, and negative automatic thoughts. Schemata are central to Beck's cognitive model. Although they have been defined in a variety of ways, most definitions incorporate the idea that they consist of both structural properties and propositional elements (Ingram et al., 1998; Dozois and Beck, 2008). As an organized structure, a schema is often adaptive insofar as it facilitates the speed with which people process information. However, well-organized internal representations are sometimes associated with a cost: the information may be selectively attended to, encoded, and retrieved in a manner that is coloured by one's internal representation. For instance, a schema of the typical Italian person (emotional, pasta-eating, coffee-drinking, etc.) may give rise to stereotypical, and ultimately incorrect, beliefs about how a group of persons is likely to behave (Linville, 1982).

In the case of depression, the efficiency associated with the use of a schema involves a bias toward attending to, encoding, and retrieving schema-consistent (that is, negative) information about the self, at the expense of positive or neutral information. Previous experience and knowledge structures influence the processing of new information, and self-

schemata "are considered dysfunctional in that they embody a constellation of dysfunctional attitudes that lead to negative perspectives about oneself, the world, and the future" (Scher et al., 2005: 489). According to Beck, depressive self-schemata develop during early childhood but remain hidden until activated later in life by adverse circumstances (see Beck et al., 1979; Young et al., 2003; James et al., 2007). Leslie who is vulnerable to depression has core beliefs about being fundamentally inept and unlovable. She does not succumb to depression, however, as long as her core beliefs are not activated. Once her negative self-schema is triggered by an experience of rejection, Leslie becomes vulnerable to information processing biases (see Scher et al., 2005) and experiences negative thoughts that focus on themes of loss, failure, worthlessness, defectiveness, incompetence, and inadequacy (Beck et al., 1979; Beck et al., 1985). When depressive self-schemata are activated by negative life experiences, cognitive errors, and negative automatic thoughts follow (Dozois and Beck, 2008). Automatic thoughts refer to the stream of cognitions that arise by association in people's day-to-day lives and are not accompanied by any direct consideration or volition. Automatic thoughts are more superficial and proximal to the given stimulus than are thoughts at higher levels of cognition, and are functionally related to people's deeper beliefs. They are the cognitive by-products of activated schemata. Different aspects of people's core belief system are activated by external environmental cues, or as reactions to internal states and emotions (Dozois and Beck, 2008). These thoughts usually take the form of a negative view of the self, the world, or the future, what Beck et al. (1979) called the cognitive triad.

To sum up, cognitive models of depression rely on the activation of negative self-schemata triggered by adverse life circumstances. In our example, Leslie adopts increasingly negative beliefs about herself that contribute to her experiencing depressive symptoms. Compatibly with Beck's cognitive model of depression, one can argue that in depressive illness the process of accommodating new information about oneself in one's self-schemata is disrupted, and works selectively. People suffering from depression are not capable of successful accommodation, that is, they cannot modify their negative representations of themselves to match new, contradicting information. Because the new information cannot be assimilated in its original form, people distort its content in order to match their self-schemata, and then they assimilate the distorted content. In this way, they compensate for the missing part of the adaptation process, and avoid dissonance. The empirical literature provides strong evidence in support of this hypothesis. For example, it has been shown that people with depression verify their self-representations by seeking negative-rather than positive-appraisals (Swann et al., 1992a). Similarly, people suffering from dysphoria or depression prefer unfavourable evaluations and relationship partners who offer such evaluations (Swann et al., 1992b). Although people with depression desire praise, they also seek confirmation for their own negative self-related judgments. Their desire to obtain confirmation for their own negative self-related judgements overrides the desire for praise (Swann, 1990), and their efforts to obtain confirmation intensify when others' positive appraisals present a challenge to their self-views (Ingram, 2009). Using Festinger's cognitive dissonance framework, we can say that, as positive appraisals contradict the person's negative self-schema, they become a source of cognitive dissonance and anxiety. Because of that, they are rejected. The process goes as follows:

(i) New information becomes available that does not match the existing self-schema.

(ii) The accommodation process is disrupted. Therefore, the modification of the schema in order to match the new information is not possible.

(iii) The new information gets distorted in order to be assimilated in the existing negative schema.

(iv) Extremely negative self-related beliefs are adopted.

Here is an example. John sees himself as a bad father. He works long hours and travels on business most weekends. He feels permanently guilty for not giving his children the time they deserve. He brings his children little souvenirs from his trips. The children are always excitedly waiting for his return home and seem to be very grateful for the gifts. However, seeing their joy and love does not change John's view of himself as a bad father. He believes that the children smile because they were told by their mother to show gratitude. 'They hate me and one day they will be tired of pretending'-he thinks.

In the example, John has a negative schema of himself-let us call this 'a bad father' selfrepresentation. There is nothing peculiar about it-people have negative representations of themselves that apply to various aspects of their lives. When confronted with contradicting evidence, i.e. the joy and gratitude of his children, John is unable to assimilate the fact that he makes his children happy, as it does not match his 'bad father' schema. Unlike many other people, he is also unable to accommodate this new information by modifying his representation of himself. In order to successfully complete the process of adaptation and to maintain coherence, John distorts the new information in order to preserve his negative selfschema and he interprets his children's joy as an act of pretence. The process of what we may call selective or distorted assimilation is repeated every time contradicting data become available. The self-schema expands, enriched with new matching content. The more of the self-related negative content is assimilated into a schema, the more difficult it becomes to modify the schema. The so-called 'depressive vulnerability' described by Beck can be seen as a large number of related negative self-schemata. Some people hold negative selfrepresentations that apply to many areas of their lives but do not develop clinical symptoms: this is due to their ability to modify self-representations in order to assimilate new, positive information about themselves. They gradually come to perceive themselves in a better light.

However, accommodation does not work for everybody, and depression emerges as a consequence. Positive information becomes distorted in order to be assimilated in negative self-representations, and thus existing self-schemata expand, enriched with apparently matching content. Negative self-related information is quickly assimilated, because it matches the existing schemata that become more and more articulated. The expansion of negative self-schemata is reflected in the judgments that people with depression express about themselves: 'I am worthless', 'I have done nothing good in my life', 'I deserve to be punished', etc.

Why do people with depression distort new positive information to match their negative selfrepresentations? Living in an almost perpetual mental state of cognitive dissonance resulting from the inability to carry out a successful adaptation would cause overwhelming stress and anxiety. Judgements such as 'I am worthless' keep the anxiety caused by cognitive dissonance at bay, but may be another source of anxiety due to their content which emphasises loss, deprivation, self-deprecation, and hopelessness (Beck, 1967; Beck et al., 1979; Dozois and Beck, 2008). A person who experiences severe depression resolves cognitive dissonance but only temporarily: John's negative self-appraisal of himself as a bad father, and his sense of guilt, lead him to expect lack of affection and detachment from his children, which he believes he deserves. However, as his 'bad father' beliefs do not necessarily represent reality accurately, the reaction he expects is not observed, and the coherence of his selfrepresentation is under threat again.

4.4 PSYCHOLOGICAL AND EPISTEMIC BENEFITS OF DEPRESSIVE DELUSIONS

According to the ECS model, preserving consistency is a priority for human cognition (Festinger, 1957; Brehm and Cohen, 1962; Festinger, 1962; Abelson, 1968; Elliot and Devine, 1994; Goetzmann and Peles, 1997). People have a general tendency to restore coherence between their views, and between their views and the views of others, when this is compromised (Heider, 1946). If a person finds herself in a state of extreme cognitive dissonance, she needs to validate her prior beliefs and offset the cognitive dissonance emerging from those beliefs and newly acquired information. Mood-congruent delusions in depression play this key role. In particular, they may offer validation for one's own intensively experienced guilt, shame, hopelessness, and dismay. The claim that one is being spied upon in one's own home-for example-matches the belief that one is not trustworthy and should be monitored at all times. Undoubtedly, such delusions come with psychological costs. The delusional content is woven with unpleasant, sometimes terrifying events, such as being watched, followed, or threatened. But, by reducing dissonance, delusions also offer psychological relief from dissonance-related anxiety. The delusion-induced anxiety that replaces the dissonance-related anxiety has the advantage of reinstating consistency: the negative beliefs about the self are confirmed.

Is the hypothesis that depressive delusions validate and confirm prior beliefs about the self compatible with the prediction-error theory of delusion formation (Corlett et al., 2007; Fletcher and Frith, 2009; Griffiths et al., 2014) which has already been applied to delusions in schizophrenia? According to the model proposed by Philip Corlett and colleagues for schizophrenic delusions, delusions are formed in response to aberrant prediction-error signals, those signals that indicate a mismatch between expectation and actual experience (Miyazono et al., 2014). A prediction error happens when new incoming information does not match the person's existing representations (schemata) and, therefore, cannot be successfully integrated in the person's model of the world (assimilated). It indicates that the internal model of the world from which the prediction is derived is incorrect and needs to be updated. By updating the model in such a way as to minimise prediction-error signals play a fundamental role in learning. In a recent reconstruction of the stages of delusion formation in schizophrenia (Mishara and Corlett, 2009), three stages are identified:

(i) Anxious expectation, when the agent bombarded with prediction-error signals is constantly expecting something important to happen and the processes underlying automated and habitual learning are disrupted.

(ii) Revelation, when the delusion is formed putting an end to overwhelming anxiety and to the sense of unpredictability. The events previously experienced as inexplicable and distressing no longer require attention and the processes underlying automated and habitual learning resume their normal function. The person's model of the world has been updated to include the delusion. (iii) Reinforcement, when the delusion is stamped into the agent's memory and reinforced every time the previously inexplicable events are experienced.

Prediction-error theorists argue that abnormal prediction-error signaling contributes to the formation of delusions (Miyazono et al., 2014). In particular, they hypothesize that in people with delusions prediction-error signals are excessive and they are produced when there is no real mismatch between expectation and experience. The excessive prediction-error signals falsely indicate that the person's internal model of the world needs to be updated even though, as a matter of fact, it does not have to be.

In the case of depressive delusions, the process differs as people err on the side of conservatism as opposed to revisionism. Instead of changing their representation of the world to match the unusual experience, validating new experience at the expense of previously acquired beliefs, people with depressive delusions preserve their representation of themselves despite the new information that conflicts with it, validating the existing self-schemata at the expense of the new information that is reinterpreted and distorted to fit the schema. When this happens, in the language of the ECS model, an adaptation process has to occur for the system to regain cognitive balance. If the person is unable to update her internal model on the basis of the incoming data, she will reinterpret and distort the content of the data in order to match the schema. The delusions that emerge are mood-congruent and bring validation to the original, negatively biased, self-representation.

In the prediction-error model described by Corlett and colleagues, the adoption of delusions in schizophrenia has some positive contribution to make and delusions should not be seen exclusively as a deficit. In particular, the claim is that, in the context of the disruption of the learning process caused by excessive prediction-error signals, delusions "permit continued engagement with an overwhelming world, and ongoing function in the face of paralyzing difficulty" (Fineberg and Corlett, 2016, p. 73). The claim makes reference to the notion of epistemic innocence that has been applied to motivated delusions and elaborate and systematised delusions in schizophrenia (Bortolotti, 2015a; Bortolotti, 2015b). Can this notion also be applied to depressive delusions?

Epistemically innocent cognitions are not necessarily free from epistemic faults, but they do have significant epistemic benefits that would be unattainable otherwise (Bortolotti, 2015a). My suggestion is that, if the adoption of a delusional hypothesis helps avoid bad epistemic consequences and adopting another (non-delusional) hypothesis would not have the same benefit, then the adoption of the delusional hypothesis is an acceptable response to what we can view as an emergency situation. Here are the two conditions for the epistemic innocence of delusions:

1. Epistemic benefit: The adoption of the delusional hypothesis confers a significant epistemic benefit to a given agent at a given time.

2. No alternatives: Alternative hypotheses that would confer the same benefit are not available to that agent at that time.

Some qualifications are in order. First, what counts as an epistemic benefit may vary. One might say that adopting a delusion is epistemically beneficial if it contributes to the acquisition or retention of true beliefs, if it promotes the agent's intellectual virtues, or if it is something an agent should be praised and not blamed for. One's commitments in epistemology will affect the way in which the epistemic benefits are identified and described. In the case of depressive delusions, the main benefit seems to be the preservation of a coherent self-representation.

Second, different notions and degrees of unavailability can explain the failure to adopt a less epistemically costly hypothesis. This spectrum of possibilities reflects the nature of the limitations that the agent experiences in the relevant context, ranging from standard reasoning limitations affecting all human agents to deficits of perception, inference, or memory that may apply in clinical settings. For instance, with respect to delusions in schizophrenia, one may suggest that in the person who adopts a delusional hypothesis there is an impairment in the capacity to evaluate hypotheses on the basis of their plausibility before adopting them as beliefs (this is an idea developed in the context of the two-factor theory of delusion formation, as in Davies et al., 2001). Alternatively, one may suggest that the person is so overwhelmed by the delusional hypothesis that she does not even consider alternative interpretations of her unusual experience (as in Freeman et al., 2004). In the case of depressive delusions, the unavailability of alternative hypotheses is driven by the process of negatively-biased learning we described earlier: people have long ignored positive information about themselves or re-interpreted it with a negative spin, and this has not been integrated in their self-schemata.

Third, epistemic innocence applies to the adoption, not the prolonged maintenance, of delusional beliefs. The benefit consists in avoiding a problem that presents itself when the unusual experience or the new evidence is not yet made sense of, and can generate anxiety, stress, tension. Delusions appear as a response to a critically high point (a 'tipping point') of cognitive imbalance (or, quoting Jaspers, a 'limit situation'), and their function is to reinstate the balance that has been lost. From an epistemic standpoint, by reducing dissonance and preventing the disintegration of the self, depressive delusions help restore the person's narrative identity. With reference to our previous example, John can preserve a concept of himself as a bad father, despite the reassurances of his wife and the gratitude expressed by his children, by distorting evidence that he is a good, highly appreciated, father. For the person who seeks consistency between her self-related beliefs and feelings and newly acquired information, the depressive delusion offers a solution. But the benefit is temporary. When the delusion becomes entrenched, as we showed both in the case of schizophrenic and depressive delusions, it becomes a new source of stress, anxiety, and tension.

To sum up, the most important function of depressive delusions seems to be that they restore the equilibrium between the cognitive processes responsible for adaptation. Depressive delusions contribute to the agent's narrative identity by validating prior self-related beliefs and feelings that happen to be negatively biased. They can be considered as epistemically innocent, which means that they deliver significant epistemic benefits which could not be obtained otherwise.

4.5 SUMMARY

In this chapter I asked what depressive delusions are and whether they have the potential for psychological and epistemic benefits. I argued that depressive delusions emerge as a result of the attempt to eliminate the inconsistency between self-schemata formed via a biased process of learning, and new conflicting information. Their function is to restore the equilibrium of the cognitive processes of adaptation, assimilation, and accommodation. New information is distorted in order to be assimilated and integrated in previously acquired self-schemata, which consist of negatively biased self-related beliefs and feelings. Due to their reducing dissonance and providing the basis for a unified narrative self, depressive delusions have the potential to deliver both psychological and epistemic benefits by relieving dissonance-induced anxiety and preserving a coherent self-concept. But in the long run, their distressing content causes serious psychological harm, and the mounting evidence against the self-schemata they are designed to preserve is destined to compromise the person's delicate cognitive balance.

I have not offered an exhaustive account of delusions in depression, but highlighted the need for more research into this fascinating and under-studied phenomenon. My preliminary consideration of the literature suggests that the experience of depressive delusions is on a spectrum with everyday experiences of attempting to maintain a previously acquired belief by reinterpreting new evidence that conflicts with it, and thus makes the cognitive mechanisms responsible for depressive delusions continuous with those underlying non-pathological beliefs. A better understanding of depressive delusions can offer some insights into the challenges faced by a person with a major depressive episode accompanied by psychotic symptoms, and pave the way for interventions that respect the complexity of the delusional experience, both its highly distressing long-term effects and its temporary adaptive features.

CHAPTER 5: EMPATHY

Following the investigation into the links between depression and its possible benefits, this chapter focuses on the relationship between depression and empathy. More specifically, I address the question of how people who suffer from depressive symptoms respond to the painful experience of others and whether depression-bound empathy is linked to any particular costs and benefits for the subject.

Here is the plan: in section 5.1 I review selected accounts of empathy as presented in both philosophy and empirical science and explain how I am going to understand empathy in this chapter. Not dissimilar from the accounts of empathy offered by David Hume and contemporary social psychology, empathy in this chapter is understood as a construct largely overlapping with the notion of *sympathy* and is explicated as cognitive and emotional comprehension of another's painful experience (Hume, 1978/1739; Wispe, 1991). In section 5.2 I examine the literature exploring the links between depression and empathy. Based on the evidence coming from empirical research (including developmental and clinical psychology and neuroscience) I show that people who experience symptoms of depression have significantly elevated levels of empathetic response to the suffering of others. However, I argue further, this enhanced empathy in depression is based on an erroneous belief of one's own guilt and has not been empirically linked to any pragmatic benefits. From the point of view of an agent, guilt-based empathy does not lead to any altruistic action but leads instead to negative consequences for both the subject and the object of such empathy (O'Connor et al., 2002; O'Connor et al., 2012); these costs are analysed in more detail in section 5.3.

In section 5.4 I ask whether an enhanced guilt-based empathetic response in depression might be beneficial for the subject despite the costs described earlier. I argue that, by fulfilling the need for social belonging and by decreasing experienced loneliness, guilt-based empathy might contribute to preventing psychotic symptoms and enhance psychological wellbeing.

I conclude that the relation between empathy, depression, and loneliness is very complex and that the hypothesis that guilt-based empathy has some benefits requires further examination.

5.1 EMPATHY IN PHILOSOPHY AND IN THE EMPIRICAL SCIENCES

What exactly is empathy? The phenomenon has attracted the attention of both philosophers and scientists and has been defined in a variety of ways. Below I present a selection of views, followed by the explication of the notion of empathy I adopt in this chapter.

Before I proceed to explore the philosophical context of empathy, a few brief historical reflections on empathy are in order. The term 'empathy' was introduced into the English language in 1909 by Edward Titchener as the translation of the German word 'Einfühlung' ('feeling into') (Titchener 1909, p. 21; see also Wispe, 1987). Throughout the 19th century, various philosophers discussed the human ability to 'feel into' works of arts and into nature (Stueber, 2010) making empathy largely a concept in aesthetics. However, Theodor Lipps (Lipps, 1979) presented it as a concept central to philosophical and psychological analysis. Lipps scrutinised empathy as the primary basis for recognising each other as minded creatures, for recognising other people's states of mind, and for making sense of their

behaviour in light of the causal powers of their mind (Stueber, 2010). For example, we may predict that another person will not decide to make a transatlantic journey by plane because she is afraid of flying. Our human ability to understand other people as minded creatures constitutes the psychological foundation for us being social beings and members of society. In contrast, the inability to read others' minds has been linked to difficulties in forming basic social bonds and would also be a clear disadvantage when the success of our action depends on the cooperation of other people.

How do we understand others' minds? This was one of the central philosophical questions in the late 19th century and still occupies philosophers up to this day. The controversial point is whether our epistemic access to other minds is structurally similar to, or radically different from, our access to other domains of knowledge (see for instance Hume, 1978/1739). The defenders of the view that the two forms of epistemic access are radically different argue that our understanding of other minds is unique, as we not only attribute mental states to other people from a third-person perspective but also conceive of ourselves as minded creatures from a first-person perspective (Stueber, 2010). In other words, we do not have to rely on knowledge of a psychological theory about other human beings to find out what is in their minds; for that purpose, we can use empathy as a most direct way of simulating or imitating others' mental processes.

In the last century, the above view of empathy as the fundamental method of gaining knowledge about other minds has lost its appeal to philosophers, who tend to regard empathy as epistemically naïve and incapable of providing an epistemically sound method of interpretation and explanation (see for instance Prinz, 2011a; Prinz, 2011b; Bloom, 2017).

Rather, a number of lively debates surround the ethical implications of empathy. For example, in his article 'Is empathy necessary for morality?' Jesse Prinz argues that empathy cannot be regarded as a reliable epistemic guide to, a foundation for the justification of, or the motivating force behind, our moral judgments (Prinz, 2011a) because - he claims - empathy is prone to biases that render it potentially harmful. In a follow-up paper, *Against Empathy*, Prinz goes even further and argues that "empathy is, by and large, bad for morality" (2011b, p. 216) as it can be easily manipulated (see also Tsoudis, 2002), as well as being subject to the so-called 'similarity bias' (the claim that people feel greater empathy for those who are similar to them; see Xu et al., 2009 for a full review).

In defence of empathy, a number of authors suggest that in spite of being vulnerable to biases, empathetic understanding nevertheless ought to be regarded as epistemically central for our appreciation of other agents, as well as necessary for moral judgements (e.g. Stueber, 2010; Masto, 2015). In her paper 'Empathy and its role in morality' Meghan Masto argues that "empathizing with others can help motivate us to do the act that we recognize as right" (2015, p. 92) and that failing to comprehend the emotional states of others can cause us to downplay their importance. Masto proposes that one way to mitigate the biases that are problematic would be to become more aware of them as well as to be 'more deliberate' in the process of empathising itself. Denise Cummins, in turn, warns that when reason becomes unchained by empathy, it is just as likely to lead to tyranny and genocide as it is to lead to good judgment. Cummins argues that when compassion and reason are decoupled, morality is not improved. Instead, the door is opened to inhumane practices.

"Human history is replete with examples of principle-based atrocities. The reasoning underlying genocide and "ethnic cleansing" seems perfectly logical to people who subscribe to a twisted belief system-bring about a "greater good" by "cleansing" the world of "bad" peoplebut it's empathetically bankrupt. What drives and sustains the suicide bomber? The belief in the purity of his principles, principles that require one to blind oneself to the suffering and carnage of the innocents at his mercy." (Cummins, 2013)

Unlike philosophers, social psychologists are more concerned with the practical implications of empathy than with the definition of the concept itself (Eisenberg and Strayer 1987; Davis 1994; Hoffman 2000). Psychological science does not investigate empathy as a specific cognitive mechanism of inner imitation for gaining knowledge of other minds. Instead, it attends to empathy as the psychological foundation for social relations and altruistic behaviour. For example, a widely used psychological questionnaire, Davis's Interpersonal Reactivity Index (IRI), is a tool that tries to scale one's empathetic responses on a variety of dimensions such as "perspective taking" or "the tendency to spontaneously adopt the psychological view of others in everyday life"; "empathetic concern" or "the tendency to experience feelings of sympathy or compassion for unfortunate others"; "personal distress" or "the tendency to experience distress or discomfort in response to extreme distress in others"; and "fantasy" or "the tendency to imaginatively transpose oneself into fictional situations" (Davis 1994, pp. 55-57). Empathy research in social psychology merges the concept of empathy and its primarily cognitive concerns with the concept of sympathy within moral psychology dating back at least to David Hume and Adam Smith. David Hume in his Treatise (1978/1739) and An Enquiry Concerning the Principle of Morals (2006/1751), and Adam Smith in The Theory of Moral Sentiments (1966/1759), appealed to sympathy to explain how human beings, who are usually motivated by egoistic interests, could form a moral perspective and be motivated to act on the painful experience of other human beings. Hume's concept of sympathy shows the multidimensionality as the concept of empathy in social psychology. Our ability to sympathize with our fellow creatures refers to a rather diverse capacity to be influenced by, to fully grasp, and to be concerned with and moved by,

the mental states-passions and opinions-of other agents. Hume does not limit this form of contagion to affective mental states, but explicitly includes cognitive states in it, such as opinions and beliefs.

Tis indeed evident, that when we sympathize with the passions and sentiments of others, these movements appear at first in our mind as mere ideas, and are conceived to belong to another person, as we conceive any other matter of fact. . . . No passion of another discovers itself immediately to the mind. We are only sensible to its causes or effects. *From these we infer the passion*: and consequently, these give rise to our sympathy. (Hume 1978/1739, pp. 319, 576, my emphasis).

Thus, for Hume, sympathy plays the role of transforming a mental-state attribution to another person from a detached theoretical exercise into a phenomenon that has practical significance for us (Hume, 1978/1739, pp. 319, 576; Wispe, 1991). For the purpose of my further investigation into the links between empathy and depression, Hume's approach would seem prima facie to be particularly relevant. By embracing both cognitive and emotional capacity in empathy, as well as by emphasising the fundamental role of sympathy for another being in subsequent practice, Hume's understanding of empathy constitutes a perfect bridge between the two worlds of philosophy and psychological science. It is in this Humean sense that I will understand the concept of empathy in this chapter.

In the next section, I proceed to address the question of whether there are any particular links between empathy and depression. Based on the available empirical evidence, I will argue that people who experience depressive symptoms have significantly increased levels of empathetic response to the suffering of others.

5.2 EMPATHY IN DEPRESSION

While depression has frequently been described as a 'disorder of the self', some authors argue it should be more accurately characterized as a disorder of 'concern for others' (O'Connor et al., 2007). This is because the vast majority of research exploring links between depression and empathy confirm that the ability to embrace other people's misfortune alters substantially as a result of the illness (e.g. Burns and Nolen-Hoeksema, 1992; O'Connor et al., 2007; Joiner and Timmons, 2008; Moran and Diamond, 2008; Cusi et al., 2011; Galvez et al., 2011; Thoma et al., 2011; Wolkenstein et al., 2011; Schreiter et al., 2013). What exactly is the character of this transition? Below I review the research on the links between empathy and depression in developmental psychology and neuroscience; next I look into the research on the phenomenon of guilt.

5.2.1 Empathy and depression in developmental psychology

The evidence coming from the studies in developmental psychology indicates that the links between empathetic response and subsequent depression often start in early stages of life. For example, Zahn-Waxler notes "the presence of an early developmental pathway where surfeits of empathy, as well as guilt, can place individuals at risk for later depression" (2000, p. 226). According to empirical research, as soon as one day after birth infants react to the distress cry of other newborns with higher intensity than to the cry of a 5-month-old baby, a white noise, a synthetic (artificial) cry, or a recording of their own distress cries (Sagi and Hoffman, 1976; Martin and Clark, 1982). A study by Zahn-Waxler and colleagues (1979) indicates that children between 12 and 18 months make own efforts to help others in need. The studies relying on the observation of children and their mothers in both natural and laboratory settings provide data on the close associations between empathy, guilt and later proneness to depression, especially in females (Nolen-Hoeksema et al., 1999; Zahn-Waxler, 2000; Hay and Pawlby, 2003; O'Connor et al., 2007). For example, Hay and Pawlby (2003) found that children who scored high on the pro-social scale appeared more worried about their families' wellbeing than their less-worried peers; they also suffered more psychological distress than controls. The pro-social character of empathy highly correlates with depressive symptomatology here. Klimes-Dougan and Bolger (1998) note that high empathy in children is a risk factor for later depression if the children are socially over-involved, self-blaming and distressed. One especially interesting conclusion emerging from the developmental studies is that, on one hand, empathy has been empirically linked to prosocial and moral behaviour even among very young children. On the other hand, the children who have enhanced levels of such empathy have higher rates of depressive symptoms in later years.

What is the key to understanding such an intriguing set of correlations? One possible explanation of this phenomenon might be related to the way in which children-and possibly many adults-conceptualise their selves in relation to others' distress. I come back to this issue in the Section 4, where I analyse costs and benefits of empathy in depression.

5.2.2 Empathy and depression in neuroscience

The advances in clinical neuropsychology, including brain imaging, back up the studies in developmental psychology with regards to the links between depression and empathy. The limbic and paralimbic system structures found active in emotional empathy, automatic moral decision-making and guilt are found active or hyperactive in people suffering from depression

(Shin et al., 2000; Lange and Irle, 2004; O'Connor et al., 2007). In contrast, a deficit of empathy has been found in disorders such as psychopathy (Blair, 1997), sociopathy, autism, certain psychotic disorders or in physical brain damage.

Lange and Irle (2004) found abnormal activation in limbic structures, including enlarged amygdalae in patients with recent major depression. Other studies of depressed patients similarly found unusual activation of the amygdala, (underactive in psychopathy), characterized by the absence of 'normal' capability of moral decision-making and by the feelings of guilt. Pagani and colleagues (2004) observed increased cerebral blood flow in the anterior temporal lobe of depressed patients, also a focus of activity in feelings of guilt. Dysfunctional limbic and paralimbic system activity has also been observed in people with major depression and returned to normal with successful antidepressant treatment (Shin et al., 2000). Neumeister and colleagues (2004) reported that people with a history of depression demonstrated chronic overactivity in the brain circuit central to emotion regulation. The hyperactivity was observed even when the patients were in remission, suggesting that abnormalities in emotion regulation exposed in this study may be genetic. What was especially intriguing was that the same hyperactivity of limbic and paralimbic structures was associated with moral behaviours and empathy. This confirms findings in developmental psychology showing strong links between high levels of empathy and depression.

To sum up, the evidence coming from neuroscience lends a substantial and measurable basis for the claims made in other areas of psychology. The lesson we learn from these data is that there must be something common in both depression and enhanced empathy that is reflected in the hyperactivity of the same areas of the central nervous system. What might this be? What could be the bridge connecting high levels of empathy with depression? One of the possible answers lies in the data coming from the studies in clinical psychology concerning the phenomenon of guilt.

5.2.3 Empathy, depression, and guilt

The association between guilt and depression has been long acknowledged in psychology. Indeed, a feeling of guilt is a criterion for major depressive disorder in the DSM5 (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). However, not much has yet been said about the connection between guilt and empathy. In psychoanalytic theory, guilt is viewed as a manifestation of unconscious hostility and rivalry, which begins with the child's desire to kill her/his same-sex parent in the oedipal struggle (O'Connor et al., 2007). The Freudian idea, so widespread in the middle to late twentieth century, is being gradually replaced by more recent concepts. Current research refers to guilt as a prosocial emotion tied to empathy and to the desire to maintain social bonds (Cunningham et al., 1980; Tangney, 1992; Miceli, 1992; Baumeister et al., 1994; Baumeister and Leary, 1995; Jones et al., 1995; O'Connor, 2000). For example, Baumeister and Leary (1995) argue that the need to maintain social bonds (the need to which the authors refer to as 'belongingness') is actually the most fundamental human desire; unfulfilled, it leads to a number of negative emotions with guilt as one of the most prominent. Empirical studies of how people induce guilt in others have found that such inductions are most frequently confined to close interpersonal relationships. A major reason for inducing guilt is to cause one's partner to exert himself or herself more to maintain the interpersonal relationship (Vangelisti et al., 1991; Baumeister et al., 1994). Many episodes of guilt can thus be understood as responses to disturbances or threats to interpersonal attachments. Possibly the best example of an inexplicable connection between empathy, guilt, and depression comes

from the phenomenon of 'survivor guilt', observed initially by Niederland (1961) who studied the severe depression and anxiety in survivors of Nazi concentration camps. He discovered that people suffered from severe guilt simply for being alive while their families had been killed by the Nazis. The survivors felt guilty as if their own survival had somehow caused the death of their families, although that certainly was not true. Based on Neiderland's research, Modell (1971) expanded the construct to include the guilt people feel when they believe they are harming others by being happy or successful. He observed that individuals with the symptoms of depression frequently believe that if they were successful, happy or simply lucky, it would be at the expense of others; the less fortunate friends or family members would suffer as a result, because -as people with depression believed-there must be a limit on how much 'good' can be had.

In more recent studies O'Connor and colleagues (1997) found significant associations between survivor guilt, empathy, and depression. The researchers argue that survivor guilt is an empathic emotion often occurring with conscious awareness. For example, people may experience this type of guilt when they get their paper accepted for publication, while a friend's article has just been rejected. Similarly, we may feel guilty when we are healthy and we hear that our friend has been diagnosed with cancer. Furthermore, the presence of survivor guilt is often marked by submissive behaviour: we may act as if we are lower in status (or less healthy or less fortunate) than the person for whom we feel sorry. The destructive effect of survivor guilt may come to our attention only after we experience serious costs (such as, for example, depression), in an effort to 'make things fair'.

In sum, the available empirical evidence seems to suggest that there is indeed a link between empathy and depression: people who experience the symptoms of depression show enhanced levels of empathy. Although there is no definite indication of what would be the causal direction of such relation, researchers suggest that guilt, more than any other factors, is responsible for enhanced levels of empathy in depression. The hypothesis is such that people suffering from depression show more empathy towards the pain of others because they feel guilty; they feel guilty because they implicitly perceive other people's misfortune as their own 'fault'.

This perpetual relation between guilt, depression, and empathy seems to be a vicious circle: one feels guilty for other's misfortune because one has depression; but, at the same time, the guilt-motivated empathy increases one's depressive symptoms. Even more interestingly, this conclusion might be hiding a possible answer to an old paradox of depression, explicated in the fact that the illness makes the person increasingly focused on herself (indeed people with depression are often labelled as 'selfish' or 'egoistic'), but it enhances the person's levels of empathy towards others. Could *guilt* be the key to this apparent tension? In other words, is it possible that the enhanced empathy observed in depression is not shaped by one's genuine concern about others, but – rather sadly – it comes as yet another mean of self-focused concern? By perceiving another person's pain as one's *own* fault, one directs one's worry towards oneself, becoming once again the protagonist of the story. That which is seen as empathy by an observer (and indeed the same neuropsychological patterns are observed in the presence of empathy), might, in fact, constitute a mere rumination of a self-themed fantasy. In the next section, I develop this idea further, based on research on different types of selfconceptualisation in empathy.

5.3 THE COSTS OF GUILT-BASED EMPATHY

In the previous section, I reviewed some evidence in support of the claim that enhanced empathy and depression are closely related. The studies report that people often feel guilty when they realise that they are better, happier or healthier than others; this guilt might-to some extent-motivate them to help others, but at the same time it contributes to their depressive symptoms.

Here I would like to ask: are there any benefits of guilt-based empathy? One may argue that in spite of its negative consequences for the subject, guilt may nevertheless constitute a good base for an altruistic action. For example, feeling guilty for our better health, we may be willing to help a terminally ill friend. Or, experiencing guilt related to the fact that we possess more wealth than another, we might be inclined to offer some money to a charity. According to the empirical research, the practical reality of guilt-based altruism does not look like that. O'Connor and colleagues (2007) argue that the net result is a self-destructive but common cycle. The guilt-motivated attempt to help someone less fortunate may-to some extent-reduce guilt, but at the same time the nature of such interaction is emotionally dysregulating and may enhance other symptoms of depression or set off a depressive episode in a vulnerable person. This is because the show of submissive behaviour often elicits negative reactions from other people, who then re-evaluate the social ranking of the 'helper'. "As witnesses look down on people who respond to survivor guilt with submission, they treat them as inferior' (...) 'Thus, people who become submissive in an effort to help others often unwittingly become altruistic martyrs" (O'Connor et al., 2007, p. 58). In their very interesting book chapter entitled "Empathy-based pathogenic guilt, pathological altruism, and psychopathology" O'Connor and colleagues argue that empathy resulting from guilt is pathological and based on false assumptions.

Empathy-based guilt often hovers behind *pathological acts* of altruism, generating the considerable energy spent in sometimes futile and often self-and other-destructive efforts to help (...). When people who feel empathy at witnessing another's misfortunes *falsely* believe that they caused the other's problems, or *falsely* believe that they have the means to relieve the person of suffering, *they have erred* in their analysis of the situation (2012, p. 11, my emphasis).

The authors argue that upon witnessing someone in distress, people tend to react empathically and feel the distress as if it were their own. In some cases, people implicitly feel pathogenic guilt: they erroneously believe that it is them who caused the distress and that they have the power to relieve it. Based on this false belief of causality, they may then engage in pathological acts of altruism, failing to help, or even harming the person in distress as well as themselves. For example, the abused wife falsely believes that she is responsible for her partner's violent behaviour and that if she were to leave him, he might commit suicide. In an effort to save his life, she stays in the abusive relationship. Similarly, the person with recurring depression and relapses in alcoholism falsely believes that if she killed herself, she would cease being a burden to her family members. As a result, she commits suicide. In another example, the man who is happily married and wealthy believes that his happiness is making his less fortunate brother feel inadequate and worse by comparison. In an effort to make things more equal, he begins fighting with his wife for no apparent reason as well as deciding not to go on luxury family holidays (see more relevant examples in O'Connor et al., 2012, p. 15).

In each situation, neither empathy nor altruistic motivation is inherently problematic; pathology begins when people implicitly and erroneously believe that they are the source of

someone else's problems and that they have the ability to relieve the difficulties. The selfdestructive actions that follow are acts of pathological altruism, driven by pathogenic guilt. It is important to mention that the phenomenon of guilt-based empathy is not limited to people suffering from depression. Whilst discussing the subject, O'Connor and colleagues point at depression as merely one of many possible related psychological problems. Here we can find an example of a woman, an OCD (Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder) sufferer and a hoarder, who continuously picks up papers from the floor of the supermarket believing that if the papers were left on the floor, some old woman might slip on them and be lethally injuredall because she failed to pick up the pieces of paper. Similarly, war veterans suffering from PTSD (Posttraumatic Stress Disorder) are tormented by their memories of trauma related to closely witnessing sudden deaths. What turns these recollections into PTSD is-again-an erroneous causal attribution (O'Connor et al., 2012, p. 17).

The impact of guilt-based empathy on our overall mental health seems to be truly immense and the claims made by the authors deserve further examination. For our research into the links between depression and empathy, the presented evidence is particularly important. It is possible to see that the claims about guilt-based empathy made by O'Connor are convergent with the clinical data presented earlier. The data coming from neuroscience suggest that the brain processes related to guilt are frequently found in people with depression; the same processes have been observed in people with enhanced levels of empathetic response to the suffering of others.

Another interesting view on harmful forms of empathy comes from the research on selfconceptualisation in empathy by Stotland (1969), developed further by Batson and colleagues

(1997). The idea here is that when empathising with someone who is in pain, people tend to conceptualise their selves in one of two possible ways, which Batson and colleagues call 'imagine other' (IMO) and 'imagine self' (IMS) (1997, p. 751). IMO is a process of *adopting* the perspective of another person, who undergoes an adverse experience. This process relies on one's ability to imagine what another may think or/and how they might feel. The adopted perspective is empirically evidenced to evoke empathy for others and has been linked to beneficial outcomes, such as altruism (Stotland, 1969; Davis, 1994; Batson et al., 1997). The phenomenon of IMO has been empirically conceived by Batson and colleagues and juxtaposed with the IMS where the process of imagining the situation of another person is replaced by the process of *feeling* her actual pain, either psychological or physical. In the IMO the stream of empathy takes another being as its focus of attention; I think about another person, about the way she might feel, I attempt to imagine her own perspective, her situation, her motives and other related circumstances. Another person becomes the protagonist of the story, which I create, and the object of my thoughts. The process of IMS, in turn, involves thinking about *myself* being placed in another's shoes; I imagine *myself* going through the same circumstances and I experience the same kind of psychological or physical pain as another person. Here it is *myself* at the centre of a story, I become a protagonist being placed in the settings of another's misfortune.

In order to better understand Batson's account of different types of empathy let us take a look at one of his empirical studies (Batson et al., 1997). The authors asked participants to listen to an interview with a young woman in serious need. One-third of the participants were instructed to remain objective whilst listening (Group 1), one-third were asked to imagine how the woman felt (Group 2), and one-third were instructed to imagine how they would feel in her situation (Group 3). As a result of the experiment, the researchers found that imagining how the other feels (Group 2) produced constructive, healthy empathy, leading to altruistic actions. However, people who were imagining how <u>they</u> would feel (Group 3) produced a kind of empathy related to personal distress and evoking egoistic motivation.

The participants who successfully took the distressed person's perspective (Group 2) not only were able to understand the stress she was going through, but they also expressed certain emotions, which were congruent with the situation presented, such as sympathy, compassion and tenderness. The researchers labeled this type of response *empathy*, to distinguish it from a self-oriented aversive emotional reaction, described as the *personal distress* implying that the process of IMS might not have much in common with empathy, after all. Such a conclusion would be convergent with the view of many other authors on empathy. For example, Meghan Masto (2015) calls the phenomenon of feeling another person's pain 'emotional contagion' and argues that it ought not to be considered empathy in the first place.

Consider Sam who is writing an exam. Imagine that she glances up from the test booklet for a moment and notices a look of panic on a classmate's face. Suddenly Sam becomes nervous about her own performance on the exam. It seems wrong to claim that Sam has thereby empathized with her classmate, given the focus on herself (2015, p. 76).

Another argument against the 'emotionally contagious' type of empathy is-according to Masto-such that it is possible to 'get emotionally contagious' with large groups of people, whom we do not even know. For example, if I walk into a stadium filled with loud, happy, celebrating people-I might become happy too, even though I do not know what is being celebrated and do not even catch a glimpse of anyone's smile or other facial expressions. One can experience emotional contagion in this case without there being any individual person with whom one is empathizing (Masto, 2015, p. 76).

Batson's discoveries are compatible with Stotland's (1969) pioneering research on empathy. Stotland's discovery was twofold: firstly, the two 'imagine' perspectives led to more physiological arousal than the objective perspective. This, in turn, speaks for more intense emotional expression in the 'imagine' perspectives than in the neutral one. Secondly, Stotland found that the two 'imagine' perspective also varied between one another with regards to the way they affect the subject. Participants who adopted the 'imagine self' perspective showed signs of intense distress in the form of palmar sweat. They also verbally reported feeling more tension and nervousness, which the author interpreted as evidence that their emotional reactions were more self-oriented (*how would I feel in that situation?*) and not quite so related to the experience of the model in distress.

If we now return to our investigation into the specification of empathetic responses found in depression, we come to see that it has more to do with the IMS or/and with 'emotional contagion' rather than with a 'healthy' type of empathy. People who are 'depressed' seem to empathise in this way: they base their empathetic reaction on the feeling of guilt, involving 'imagine selves' in the others' misfortunes and getting in a midst of emotional distress. These findings were further confirmed by Showalter (2010) who investigated associations between depression and compassion in individuals working in helping professions. The author found out that people with high levels of depressive symptoms show-what she calls-'compassion fatigue', explained as professional burn-out, loss of self-worth, diminished productivity, poor morale, and more. These symptoms, in turn, are linked to diminished capacity to help others in need. Not surprisingly, despite showing enhanced levels of emotional empathetic response

in the neuropsychological lab, people with depression do not seem to benefit from their empathy; at least not at the first glance.

5.4 THE BENEFITS OF GUILT-BASED EMPATHY

So far I showed that although people who suffer from depression exhibit significantly higher levels of empathy, they are psychologically worse-off as a result. Their empathetic response is largely based on experienced guilt and does not contribute to their wellbeing. What is more, this type of empathy is not linked to altruistic action, which implies that people with depression, although more empathetic, cannot be seen as better moral agents than 'healthy' individuals. For these reasons, even these philosophers who generally defend empathy as a factor motivating altruism, reject 'emotional contagion' as non-beneficial for right moral judgements. For example, mentioned ealier in this chapter Meghan Masto in her paper entitled "Empathy and its role in morality" (2015) defends the role of empathy as a moral compass, arguing against the opposite views of Prinz (2011a, 2011b). Masto claims that empathy is necessary for moral judgement and moral development; however, she does not consider 'emotional contagion' as a genuine kind of empathy. Masto's main argument against the genuity of 'emotional contagion' is such that this type of empathy does not require any particular subject-or object-to which the empathy is directed. One can experience 'emotionally contagion' because of 'catching' the mood of a crowd (for example, during a musical performance or a sport game), but her feeling is not directed into anyone in particular, therefore, it does not benefit anyone else than herself.

However, as I argue below, the guilt-based empathy in depression may carry important psychological benefits for the subject, alongside the associated psychological costs. One of them is preserving the unity of self in the face of depression-related severe loneliness.

5.4.1 Depression and the sense of loneliness

The concept of loneliness has been relatively unexplored in academia. It began to trend in the mid-1960s, and has become prominent only with Robert Weiss's all-important *Loneliness: The Experience of Emotional and Social Isolation* (1973). People may experience the symptoms of mental illness as a result of numerous social factors such as being discriminated against (Anglina et al., 2013), being bullied (Wolke et al., 2014), living in urban areas (Kelly et al., 2010), living alone (Morgan et al., 2008), being a migrant (Cantor-Graae and Selten, 2005), having low socioeconomic status (Boydell et al., 2013) and having a limited social network and support (Gayer-Anderson and Morgan, 2013). Two common components of these experiences have been argued to be social defeat (Selten et al., 2013) and perceived social isolation (Jaya et al., 2017), both likely to result in a sense of loneliness.

However, the experience of loneliness is not the same as social isolation. One may feel lonely even when surrounded by other people (Hawkley and Cacioppo, 2010). It is also different from solitude, which is a voluntary state (Cacioppo et al., 2010). Rather, loneliness can be described as a negative emotional state that results from the perceived discrepancy of a person's *need* for social relationships with their *actual* social relationships (Hawkley and Cacioppo, 2010; Jaya et al., 2017).

Although loneliness has been shown to be associated with a variety of psychological problems, its links seem to be the strongest with depression (Neeleman and Power, 1994; Meltzer et al., 2013; Jaya et al., 2017). For example, building on the research of Cacioppo (Cacioppo et al., 2010), Jaya and colleagues show that depression is a key factor mediating the relationship between loneliness and positive psychotic symptoms, such as delusions and hallucinations. The association between loneliness and depression has also been confirmed in the research conducted by Meltzer and colleagues (2013). Andrew Solomon, in turn, explicitly calls depression the 'disease of loneliness' and points out that "many untreated depressives lack friends because it saps the vitality that friendship requires and immures its victims in an impenetrable sheath, making it hard for them to speak or hear words of comfort" (2014).

People with depression often report feeling alienated, enclosed, 'dead' inside, unable to make or maintain social relationships, often with the closest family members (Russell et al., 1984). This state of extreme emotional detachment from other people is found to be a high-risk factor for psychosis (Borsboom and Cramer, 2013; Linscott and van Os, 2013; Zavos et al., 2014; Constantini et al., 2015) and other severe mental health problems (Weeks et al., 1980; Young, 1982; Neeleman and Power, 1994; Hagerty and Williams, 1999; Adams et al., 2004; Meltzer et al., 2013; Sündermann et al., 2014; Jaya et al., 2017). For example, Sündermann and colleagues (2014) examined the relationship between social networks, loneliness, and psychotic symptoms in a sample of 38 first-episode psychotic patients. They found that loneliness was correlated with positive and negative symptoms of psychosis and that the association between loneliness and paranoid symptoms was partially explained by anxiety. Given that the sample consisted of first-episode psychotic patients of whom one third did not have a confidant, loneliness does not seem to be merely a consequence of the disorder. Rather, feelings of loneliness are likely to have preceded the disorder and possibly contributed to it.

Meanwhile, preserving consistency is a priority for human cognition (Festinger, 1957; Brehm and Cohen, 1962; Festinger, 1962; Abelson, 1968; Elliot and Devine, 1994; Goetzmann and Peles, 1997; Antrobus and Bortolotti, 2016). In order to avoid mental disintegration, a person needs at least a minimal personal attachment; an experience of being a part of something bigger than herself, a feeling of social belonging. Baumeister and Leary (1995) have proposed that as humans we possess a *need to belong*, which constitutes a fundamental motivation, driving our thoughts, emotions, and interpersonal behaviour. Fromm-Reichmann writes:

The longing for interpersonal intimacy stays with every human being from infancy throughout life; and there is no human being who is not threatened by its loss... the human being is born with the need for contact and tenderness" (1959, p. 3).

I propose that guilt-based empathy plays this fundamental role for someone with depression. In particular, to empathise by 'imagine self' (as explained earlier in this Chapter in the works of Batson and colleagues, 1997) as experiencing another person's pain, makes us share their experience and, as a result, makes us feel less lonely. The guilt-based empathy, explicated by Batson as 'imagine self' in another person's shoes, enables us to transcend the limits of our selves, opening us for an experience different to our own misery. For example, when a person with depression cries as a reaction to the news showing a dead refugee toddler having been washed out on the shore, she certainly feels a deep distress. She imagines herself being in the same boat as a child or perhaps even being a child itself. She also feels immensely and personally responsible for the tragedy, trying to figure out why she had not been able to prevent it in the first place and ruminates the actions she could possibly take to help other children in need. These reactions are typical in cases of guilt-based empathy and were analysed earlier in this chapter. However, at the same time, she feels as if she relates to an important cause; by mentally stepping into other people's situations, her self is no longer detached from the environment. In this sense, the guilt-based empathy offers relief from extreme loneliness and might prevent psychotic disintegration of personality.

To sum up, to feel empathy, even if in a form of pure 'negative emotional contagion' and even in a case when it does not lead to an altruistic action, offers a vulnerable person one possible way to fulfilling the fundamental need to belong. The feeling of 'belonging', in turn, plays crucial role in preserving the unity of the self in face of severe distress; it offers relief from the experience of loneliness and mental disintegration that follows. For that reason, the guilt-based empathy ought not to be discredited as a non-virtuous or exclusively harmful. A better understanding of empathy and its relation to loneliness may offer some insight into the way in which people attempt to overcome their mental struggle.

Can guilt-based empathy offer any epistemic benefits to the subject? As the very process of empathising involves 'imagining self' in somebody else's shoes, we may hypothesise that it could be associated with acquiring better knowledge about their personal situation and life circumstances. For example, when I empathise with my ill friend by imagining myself going through the same terminal illness, do I gain any better knowledge about her experience or about other aspects of her situation? No research available today addresses this question. However, given that, in such a process, I am a protagonist of my own story and, as I showed earlier in this chapter, my attention is focused on my own experience of another person's situation rather than on that situation per se, a benefit of expanding knowledge about other people seems unlikely. Further research is required to explore this question in more detail.

5.5 SUMMARY

This chapter asks what the relation between depression and empathy is. Based on empirical evidence I argued that people who suffer from depression have elevated levels of empathetic response to the suffering of others. Next, I showed that the type of empathy found in depression is based on one's feeling of guilt and, as such, does not lead to altruistic action, but, instead, has been linked to increased personal distress. Finally, I asked whether the guilt-based empathy might be linked to any benefits to the subject. I argued that by offering temporary relief from loneliness and strengthening the feeling of social belonging, the guilt-based empathy might protect the subject from developing psychotic symptoms. I concluded that further research is needed to confirm this hypothesis.

CHAPTER 6: CREATIVITY

What distinguishes the poet or, quite generally, the artist from other human beings, therefore, is not his skill, his mastery, but the intensity of his feeling; and it is this intensity alone which really matters. A work of art produced without feeling, in cold blood, is really a fake; it is dishonest and immoral, for the public is deceived if a poet writes of a love he did not really feel in his heart. (Gombrich, 1980, p. 148)

Creativity is a fundamental activity of human information processing (Boden, 1998; Dietrich, 2004). Researchers investigating creativity largely agree on including two defining characteristics: the ability to produce work that is both novel (i.e., original, unexpected) and appropriate (i.e., useful, adaptive concerning task constraints) (Sternberg and Lubart, 1999, p. 3). Much has been written about creativity from social, psychological, developmental, cognitive, and historical perspectives, and a number of theories have been proposed from those viewpoints (Guilford, 1950; Mednick, 1962; Gruber, 1981; Wertheimer, 1982; Amabile, 1983; Simonton, 1988; Eysenck, 1993; Gardner, 1993; Martindale, 1995; Sternberg and Lubart, 1996; Ward, Smith and Finke, 1999). However, still not much is known about its associations with mental illness, and specifically with depression.

Meanwhile, it would not be an overstatement to say that the question of whether creativity is linked to mental illness constitutes one of the most interesting and controversial topics both in the philosophy of psychiatry and in modern research on creativity. Although the big picture consensus appears to be the same: artists suffer from elevated rates of mental disturbance compared to the general population (Ludwig, 1992; Jamison, 1993; Ludwig, 1995) - the details of this mysterious relation are complex and inconclusive: a large number of possibilities suggests that the reply is: 'it's complicated!' Both creativity and mental illness are abstract and complex concepts; there are many psychiatric disorders and there are countless domains of creativity, with divergent thinking, musical, artistic and linguistic skills making only a small sample. As the growing body of evidence suggests that creativity is domain specific (e.g. Baer, 1999), crossing the different mental disorders with the different creative domains produces an enormous 'Disorder by Creativity' matrix (Silvia and Kimbrel, 2010). Furthermore, if we accept that both mental health and creativity vary in degree, not just in kind, this complex network of mutual relations is multiplied. For these reasons, Silvia and Kaufman (2010) suggest that in order to find out how both phenomena intersect (if at all) we ought to narrow the research to specific mental disorders, specific creativity domains, human developmental periods and levels.

In the past, schizophrenia and depression were perceived as the main sources of creativity (Ludwig, 1995), whilst more recent research has emphasized the role of depression and bipolar disorder in bringing about creativity. Being aware of the fact that frequently the diagnostic borderline between bipolar and unipolar depression is not sharp (in fact, it is often the case that major depression precedes a later manic/hypomanic episode), I will focus on the evidence of creative traits in people experiencing major depression. Most of those studies advocating for positive links between 'mood disorders' and creativity point at the symptoms related to manic/hypomanic phases of the illness, such as the elevation of mood, cognitive fluidity, openness to new experiences, neglecting instead the opposite spectrum of the illness. In this chapter, as in the whole thesis, I am more interested in acquiring knowledge about the benefits of those mental states where cognitive activity is slowed down rather than accelerated and where melancholy replaces euphoria. The relationship between hypomania and creativity

is worth investigating because unipolar depression is commonly perceived as a debilitating and painful disorder. Its defining symptoms include diminished interest in all activities, loss of energy, indecisiveness, and lack of concentration - these symptoms are not usually associated with creative behaviour. Intuitively, any direct link between the symptoms of unipolar depression and creativity sounds unlikely. However, as I will show here, the association in question is very complex and has been repeatedly supported by evidence.

Despite its widespread occurrence, major depression has attracted relatively little interest from researchers investigating the links between creativity and mental illness (Weisberg, 2006; Kaufman, 2009; Silvia and Kaufman, 2010; Simonton, 2014a, 2014b). The majority of studies in the field focus on the dimensions associated with disorders of thought and mood, such as schizophrenia and manic/hypomanic states (for example Jamison, 1989; Goodwin and Jamison, 1990; Jamison, 1993; Richards, 1994; Janka, 2004; Andreasen, 2005; Kinney and Richards, 2007; Batey and Furnham, 2008; Murray and Johnson, 2010; Johnson et al., 2012), even though these disorders are much less frequent in the general population (Kessler et al., 1994; American Psychiatric Association, 2013). To investigate possible links between depression and creativity is, therefore, vital in order to achieve a more complex picture of the illness itself as well as expanding our knowledge of the phenomenon of creativity.

Here is the plan of this Chapter: In section 6.1 I review a selection of available theories and empirical studies both supporting and opposing the hypothesis of a link between creativity and depression. I argue that, based on the reviewed evidence, creativity is proven to be linked to depression, predominantly in the population of eminent artists, with poets being the most vulnerable group. In the search for a plausible explanation for this finding, in section 6.2 I look into the empirical data from neuropsychology and argue that a specific type of creative act, namely spontaneous/emotional creativity, is both typical in eminent artists and, at the same time, biologically linked to depression. In section 6.3 I analyse the findings in more detail and propose that in the population of eminent artists creativity may constitute an epistemic benefit of depression. By supporting the act of spontaneous/emotional creativity, depression enables artists to produce works of the highest value. In section 6.4 I draw my conclusions.

6.1 MAD GENIUS?

The topic of this chapter constitutes one of the oldest questions in philosophical and psychological thought. Two millennia ago Aristotle asked: 'Why is it that all those who have become eminent in philosophy or politics or poetry or the arts are clearly melancholics and some of them to such an extent as to be affected by diseases caused by black bile?' (*Problemata* XXX.1 953a10-14). The 'mad genius' might sound like a recurring stereotype of contemporary cultural expression, nevertheless – beginning with Lombroso's 1891 exploration of genius and madness, a vast amount of empirical research points at the close association between creativity and depression. Still the results of the studies are largely inconclusive and the support for such relation rather unconvincing. There are at least two main reasons for such an ambiguous outcome, both rooted in methodological inconsistencies: firstly, both the term 'depression' and the term 'creativity' have become umbrella terms for many, often significantly different, phenomena in the centre of the research focus. Those who talk about 'depression' usually mean a variety of mood disorders, in general. The studies

conducted often measure as diverse entities as bipolar disorder, temporarily induced low mood, anxiety disorders, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), grief and bereavement. Similarly, by exploring 'creativity' researchers seem to focus on various, not always related, phenomena, such as divergent thinking, artistic productivity of many kinds, problem-solving skills, an ability to create word associations, etc.

The second methodological discrepancy is evident in the fact that most of the studies exploring the association between creativity and depression rely strictly on biographical data and/or small samples of participants. This is problematic because, whereas offering some interesting facts about famous artists or about specific groups, such results do not enable us to draw any far-reaching conclusions about the creativity-depression relation in the wider population.

It is not my intention in this chapter to explore at length all the available data regarding the relation in question, nor to provide a final and ultimate solution to an old dilemma. This would be an impossible task, given the above assertions. My intention here is to look critically at the selection of available studies exploring links between creativity and depression and to clarify a possible relationship between them.

6.1.1 The evidence supporting the links between depression and creativity

Is the alleged link between depression and creativity more than anecdotal? To a large extent, the serious academic interest in this dilemma was prompted by the results of a landmark study conducted by Nancy Andreasen and Arthur Canter of 30 writers (27 men and 3 women) attending the University of Iowa Writers Workshop (Andreasen and Canter, 1974). The

results revealed that 80% of these writers, compared to 30% of those in control group, reported suffering from some type of mood disorder, with major depression being the most common condition.

Volumes of literature burst with countless examples of artists who suffered from depression. These include famous writers (e.g. Emily Dickinson, Edgar Allan Poe or Sylvia Plath), painters (e.g. Vincent Van Gogh, Edward Munch, Francisco Goya) and musicians (e.g. Ludwig van Beethoven, Robert Schumann or Pyotr Tchaikovsky) (Thomas and Duke, 2007). Kay Jamison, one of the most renowned investigators of the links between creativity and psychopathology, provided much evidence in support of the thesis that depression is indeed closely tied to creative traits of personality. Although Jamison was primarily interested in bipolar disorder, her extensive research on the topic of creativity provides some interesting data with regards to unipolar depression. For example, the author claims that the prevalence rate of major depressive disorder in artists is eight to ten times higher than the rate in the general population (Jamison, 1993). Moreover, artists are eighteen times more likely to commit suicide than their general population counterparts (Jamison, 1993, p. 88). Other studies mirror these findings. A study of a sample of 59 female writers shows that the rate of depression is as much as seven times higher than that in a control group. The authors suggest that this effect is mostly related to the fact that a substantially higher percentage of writers than members of the comparison group reported being physically or sexually abused as children and that those who allegedly were abused were far more likely to suffer from mental illness than those who were not (Ludwig, 1994, p. 1654).

This conclusion, if true, could shed a completely new light on the issue of creativity and its links with depression. We could hypothesise that childhood trauma might be linked to depression (this indeed has been repeatedly confirmed by a number of recent studies, for instance, Hill, 2003; Nemeroff et al., 2003; Heim et al., 2008; Cattaneo et al., 2015) but also that it might be associated with enhanced creativity. This, in turn, could mean that it is not necessarily depression *as such* that elevates the level of creative spirit, but that it is a significant suffering experienced in the past.

This claim might sound bold at first; it has received, however, certain attention from researchers. Psychologist, psychoanalyst, and writer Alice Miller investigates such a possibility in one of her books *The Untouched Key: Tracing Childhood Trauma in Creativity and Destructiveness* (2012). Miller asks what it takes to turn the painful experience of childhood trauma into immense works of art in some cases and into self-destructive behaviour in others. In order to find the answers, Miller analyses the life and work of such renowned artists and intellectuals as Picasso and Nietzsche, attempting to interpret their achievements in the light of their disturbed past.

Although Miller provides a fascinating reading woven with excellent questions, she does not present any hard empirical data, nor does she offer any final conclusions. However, some more recent research provides evidence to support the thesis that childhood trauma and creative traits of personality are associated. In their interesting experiment, Allen and Lauterbach (2007) investigated whether childhood trauma might be linked to specific characteristics of personality. The authors hypothesised that people who had experienced prolonged, repeated trauma as children, would be subjected to significantly more personality

disruptions than individuals who had experienced a single, one-time traumatic event or who had not experienced any trauma at all. The researchers used both clinical interviews and scales (e.g. the Kessler's National Comorbidity Survey, NCS) to select their sample as well as to assess the participants' trauma exposure. Traumatic events were grouped into 10 different categories, starting from "direct combat experience in a war", to "physical abuse as a child" to "sexual molestation" (Allen and Lauterbach, 2007) and placed on a scale of frequency of occurrence. The authors found that participants who self-reported being exposed to either single or repeated childhood trauma present higher levels of neuroticism and openness to new experiences. The researchers suggest that child trauma victims are also likely to have higher levels of such traits as curiosity, open-mindedness and cleverness (Allen and Lauterbach, 2007, p. 592). Whilst discussing their findings, the authors emphasise that

Although it is, of course, impossible to make causal statements based on retrospective, crosssectional data, these findings point to the possibility that *some level of posttraumatic growth* may occur following some types of childhood trauma (2007, p. 593, my emphasis).

In addition, rather importantly, the authors point out that the results of their study re-affirm the need of new, dimensional structure of human mental health classification, based on a continuum of personality traits rather than on a taxonomic 'present vs. absent' diagnosis in psychiatry.

Allen and Lauterbach's study provide an excellent argument for the view endorsed in this thesis that human mental health ought to be understood as the continuum of diverse dimensions. Painful experiences such as childhood trauma have the capacity to intensify one's suffering and lead to a mental breakdown; at the same time, they are evidenced to offer the capacity for personal growth and positive character traits. This conclusion points, rather importantly, to the possibility that there might be more than one causal direction between depression and traits of creativity. Although a vast number of studies explore the question of whether people who score high on depression scales show enhanced creativity, the opposite direction of such a link is also likely. More specifically, it is plausible to think that people who are highly creative are prone to depression or other mental illness. The common ground for both phenomena, depression and creativity, could lie in specific personality traits (such as neuroticism and openness to new experiences) and these, in turn, could result from difficult events experienced in one's childhood.

Additional research has suggested possible ways in which depression enhances creative productivity. In a study paralleling Ludwig's (1995) in scope, Kaufman (2001) took a closer look at gender whilst investigating the interplay between mental illness and creative writing. He examined the psychobiographies of 1629 male and female poets, novelists, playwrights, and nonfiction authors. Female poets were found to show significantly higher rates of depression than all other groups of writers. Kaufman coined his finding 'The Sylvia Plath Effect', after one of the most highly acclaimed female poets of the 20th century, who died by suicide at age 31.

Not only do poets and writers suffer from the highest rates of depressive disorders, but research also suggests they have higher rates of suicide and early death. As Kaufman (2003) simply puts it, "writers die young" (Kaufman, 2003, p. 814). Kaufman found writers to have a shorter lifespan than individuals in other artistic and non-artistic professions. Kay Jamison (1996) did not directly analyse differences in suicides between groups of artists in *Touched*

with Fire, but a quick glimpse at her appendix reveals that the number of suicides among famous poets equals the sum of suicides committed by prose writers, music composers, and other artists, combined.

Thomas and Duke (2007) in a very interesting study investigated whether work of authors with depression differs from control groups of writers in terms of cognitive distortions. The authors looked at the prevalence of seven cognitive distortions associated with depression: arbitrary inference (forming conclusions without supporting evidence or in the face of contrary evidence), selective abstraction (overemphasizing selected details in a situation while simultaneously ignoring other facts that are just as compelling), overgeneralization (developing a general rule on the basis of isolated events and then applying the rule indiscriminately across unrelated situations), magnification (when the significance of ordinary events is routinely distorted and exaggerated), minimization (when consequential events are trivialized or discounted), personalization (assuming personal responsibility for events over which the author has little or no control), and dichotomous thinking (describing things or events in all-or-none terms) in the works of prominent authors with and without depression. Beck's cognitive theory of depression assumes suicidal individuals possess the greatest degree of cognitive distortions of any population (Brown et al., 2000). Statistical analyses of the primary research questions found that works of the authors with depression exhibited more cognitive distortions than works of the control groups. Furthermore, as Thomas and Duke discovered, at an even greater level of significance, poets employed significantly more cognitive distortions than writers, with no significant differences in the exhibition of cognitive distortions in the works of female and male authors. What is the explanation for the phenomenon, evidenced in several empirical studies, that poets score higher on the scales

related to depression than other writers or, even more broadly, other types of artists? One explanation for this interesting association comes from the works of Kaufman and Sexton (2006). The authors propose that among many reasons, poets are likely to suffer from mental illness at a greater rate than other writers because they exhibit a significantly different writing style. As Kaufman and Baer (2002) note:

... efforts to distinguish the thinking styles of nonfiction and creative writers (...) have received more attention than comparisons of the thinking styles of poetry and fiction writers, but one recurring theme is that poetry may be more expressive, emotional, and introspective than fiction. (Kaufman and Baer, 2002, p. 276)

In "The Art of the Novel", Milan Kundera (1988) points out vital distinctions between poets and novelists. He quotes Hegel, saying:

The content of lyric poetry (...) is the poet himself; he gives voice to his inner world so as to stir in his audience the feelings, the states of mind he experiences. And even if the poet treats "objective" themes, external to his own life, 'the great lyric poet will very quickly move away from them and end up drawing the portrait of himself'. (Kundera, 1988, p. 40)

Thomas and Duke (2007) offer yet another explanation for the phenomenon of 'depressed' poets. In writing, they suggest, novelists generate people whereas poets generate emotions and ideas. Writers allow characters they create to control the narrative voice and guide their stories as the character unfolds (the writer can almost become a bystander of the characters and actions she/he creates). Poets, on the other hand, tend to maintain their own voice throughout their writing. For poets, their work is often their feelings. Novelists, on the other hand, must distance themselves from their feelings in order to do their work.

Two other theories briefly explain why poets might be more vulnerable to depression than other artists. The first theory proposes that the association is mediated by the age factor. The finding that poets die younger than any other artistic group has been replicated (Simonton, 1984; Ludwig, 1995; Kaufman, 2003), suggesting a possible connection between age, depressive disorders, and writing medium. Poets have been reported to start their career much earlier than prose writers, producing twice as much of their total lifetime output in their twenties than writers (Simonton, 1984).

The second explanation deals with the locus of control, an important concept in cognitive psychology. A person's locus of control can either be internal, meaning that individuals tend to credit themselves for important events in their lives, or external, indicating the tendency to consider major events as being the result of outside forces (Rotter, 1966; Thomas and Duke, 2007). Research suggests that poets are more likely to attribute their works to a 'muse' than writers (Kaufman & Baer, 2002). This attribution could be viewed as poets being more likely to have an external locus of control, which consequently implies that they may have lower self-efficacy than prose writers. Whilst analysing Thomas and Duke's study it is important to note that its one significant limitation was that it failed to distinguish between unipolar depression and bipolar disorder, referring to both as depression. It is important because, as Jamison (1993) revealed, the prevalence of bipolar disorder was anywhere from 10 to 40 times higher among artists than in the general population (compared to 8 to 10 times higher for unipolar depression). Therefore, it is probable that a vast number of poets and writers analysed by Thomas and Duke suffered from bipolar disorder rather than unipolar depression.

A number of researchers aimed to verify which negative emotions, in particular, are associated with creativity in a most significant way. The evidence coming from these studies indicate that intense negative emotions can create powerful self-reflective thought and perseverance, leading to increased creativity (Isen, 2000; Kaufman and Baer, 2002; Verhaeghen et al., 2005; Akinola and Mendes, 2008; De Dreu et al., 2008). A study conducted by Akinola and Mendes (2008) looked at the role of perceived social rejection (one of the experiences related to depression) in fostering creativity. The creative production (collage making) was assessed by a panel of artists (both professional artists and graduate art students). The authors found out that participants with the experience of social rejection produced more creative collages than controls and than the positive feedback group. This association was moderated by participants' biological vulnerability to depression measured by neuroendocrine test (DHEAS). It turned out that participants who were biologically vulnerable to depression and who were exposed to a situation that brings about intense negative emotion (social rejection), showed the most artistic creativity.

Some other researchers were interested in another depression-related phenomenon, selfreflective *thought rumination*, and its possible links with creativity. Thought rumination has been defined as "a class of conscious thoughts that revolve around a common instrumental theme and that recur in the absence of immediate environmental demands requiring the thought" (Martin and Tesser, 1996, p. 7). Self-reflective rumination (e.g. Nolen-Hoeksema et al., 1993; Treynor et al., 2003) uses the self, that is, one's inner feelings, memories, and so forth, as the recurrent theme (see also Verhaegen et al., 2005). According to Nolen-Hoeksema (1991), rumination is characterized by a style of thought rather than by its negative content. This implies that rumination by itself does not necessarily promote depression because even when healthy people show this style of thinking, they do not necessarily focus on negative affect or on negative personal attributes. However, a large body of literature suggests that a ruminative thinking style increases one's vulnerability to depression and maintains negative affect when the focus is on negative life events or when the individual experiences frequent negative mood states (Verhaegen et al., 2005). In their analysis of the high prevalence rates of mental disorder in female poets, Kaufman and Baer (2002) proposed a link between rumination, depression, and poetry writing. They argued that the introspection and rumination that characterizes depression may also be involved in writing poetry and, in addition, that rumination and introspection may, in fact, increase instability in poets who are already vulnerable to mental disorder. Verhaeghen and colleagues (2005) mirrored these findings in their study and propose that self-reflective rumination prepares individuals to generate a larger number of ideas. This enhanced fluency, in turn, allows for the emergence of more creative ideas and for increased elaboration. The authors conclude that the relationship between depression and creativity is mediated entirely by ruminative tendencies and that depression on its own does not predict increased creativity.

6.1.2 The evidence against the links between depression and creativity

Although a lot of studies attempt to link depression with creativity, for a great number of researchers the generality and validity of the 'mad genius' hypothesis are nevertheless questionable (Baas et al., 2016). The validity of many archival and interview studies has been heavily criticized (see for instance Schlesinger, 2009). In addition, systematic study of the associations between (vulnerability to) psychopathology and creativity in both clinical and nonclinical populations has yielded mixed results (Kaufman, 2014). Despite growing evidence for the association between psychopathology and creativity, other authors obtained neutral results (e.g., Rothenberg, 1990; Lauronen et al., 2004; Simeonova et al., 2007). Similarly

mixed results come from the research looking into the links between creativity and depression.

In a broad study of creativity and subclinical spectrum traits, Schuldberg (2001) found evidence that depressive symptoms were negatively related to creativity. Small negative effects appeared for several of the creativity measures. Similarly, Santosa and colleagues (2007) found no differences between people diagnosed with major depression and people classified as "healthy controls" on the Barron-Welsh Art Scale, the figural and verbal components of the Torrance Tests, or the ACL creative personality scale. Silvia and Kimbrel (2010) investigated whether depression and anxiety predict high creativity. The authors assessed 189 university undergraduates for symptoms of depression and anxiety using the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale (DASS). Creativity was assessed across several domains including divergent thinking (participants were asked to generate unusual uses for a brick, a knife, and a box), creative self-concept (using Kaufman and Baer's (2004) 9-item Creativity Scale for Different Domains (CSDD) including self-reported levels of creativity), everyday creativity and creative achievement. Overall the authors found no effect of depression on any of the domains of creativity. It is crucial to note, though, that with the exception of the divergent thinking scale, all remaining domains of creativity were assessed merely by participants' self-report (participants did not engage in any creative tasks as part of the experiment). Whilst discussing their findings, Silvia and Kimbrel suggest that

Creative behavior, viewed broadly, is appetitive and approach-oriented: creative people seek out people and activities that afford novel, unusual, and complex behaviors. People who find behavioral novelty and variability rewarding will have a motivational architecture that promotes approaching new, unusual things (Silvia, 2006). In contrast, depressive anhedonia essentially represents the absence of appetitive behavior, whereas anxiety and social anxiety would be expected to inhibit appetitive and novelty-seeking behavior (Kimbrel, 2008). Thus,

from a motivational perspective, it is not surprising that anxiety and depression didn't predict higher levels of creative action. (Silvia and Kimbrel, 2010, p. 7)

Shapiro and Weisberg (1999) conducted a similar study of the relationship between affective disorders and creativity in an undergraduate sample. The study also relied on participants' self-reported assessment of creative behaviour. No evidence has been found that predominantly depressive symptomatology was related to increased creativity. The only group showing enhanced levels of creativity consisted of self-reported frequent episodes of hypomania without accompanying symptoms of depression. Shapiro and Weisberg's results mirror a suggestion made by Isen (1987) that it is primarily *positive* affect that may be tied to enhanced creativity.

A study by DeMoss and colleagues (1993) was designed to examine the relationship between creativity and affective symptoms among high-achieving adolescents. Although *figural creativity* (a test which involved presenting individuals with various shapes and asking them to create designs) was associated with a depressive attributional style for both males and females, a different pattern emerged for *verbal creativity* (involves several sections designed to elicit a number of different possible solutions to problems). More specifically, for females, verbal creativity was associated with a positive attributional style and low levels of depression-related symptoms. Whilst discussing their results, the authors suggest a few possible explanations. Firstly, low levels of depression may allow the females to generate more verbally creative responses. Alternatively, verbal creativity may serve for women as a protective factor against depressive feelings. Along these lines, it may be that verbally gifted females are highly valued by parents and teachers, and may meet their need for self-esteem through verbally creative outlets (DeMoss et al., 1993). It is interesting at this point to recall

the classic study by Andreasen (1987) who found a link between creative writers and affective disorder. As Andreasen's population was overwhelmingly (90%) male, one might speculate, based on the findings by DeMoss and colleagues, that a similar link does not exist for females.

Baas and colleagues (2016) conducted a broad review of the empirical literature examining the link between depressive mood and creativity and identified 39 independent studies, covering a total of 7,391 participants. Results did show that whereas the relation between depressive mood and creativity was negative for lay people (the higher levels of depression, the lower levels of creativity) it was positive in artistic populations (creativity levels grow together with depression). Although the latter result was based on only three studies, including 186 participants, it suggests that the nature of the relationship between depression and creativity may be domain-specific (Baas et al., 2016). This is in line with archival studies on eminent people by Simonton (2014b), who observed that rates and intensities of mental disorders varied across domains of creative achievement. For example, whereas eminent scientists have a low probability of severe psychopathology, famous thinkers, writers, and artists had higher risks of such mental problems. Similar differential relations have been observed with regards to non-eminent creativity, with acts of artistic creativity being more strongly related to diagnosed psychopathology than acts of everyday creativity. In a study exploring relations between artistic and non-artistic (everyday) creativity and psychological traits, Ivcevic (2007) found out that artistic creativity was related to psychopathology (diagnoses of psychological disorders, taking psychotropic drugs, and being in therapy), while everyday creativity was related to personal growth, a component of psychological wellbeing. Artistic creativity can be inspired by experiences related to a psychological disorder and it can provide an avenue to express distress in a productive and socially valued way (see also Walker et al., 1995). On the other hand, everyday creativity can be facilitated by the need or desire to enrich one's daily experience and solve problems of daily living and might be inspired by one's perception of a need to create a change in the existing environment (see also Runco, 2004).

This conclusion facilitates yet another understanding of the results by Jamison (1993), discussed earlier. It seems possible that depression and other affective disorders explored in her study might not be actually related to creativity as a general personality trait, but rather to creative productivity in a specific group of people, that is in prominent artists, and specifically, as we remember the data, in poets. Repeatedly, the research exploring creative traits in non-artistic populations does not result in the same strong and conclusive data as its does in those groups; in certain cases, as we could see above, the correlation between creativity and depression is negative, indicating that in many cases the experience of depression stands in the way of creative expression.

To sum up, having analysed the data it becomes clear that the link between depression and creativity indeed exists, although it is more complex than the anecdotal 'mad genius' stereotype suggests. The majority of results indicate that the lifetime prevalence of depression is higher among people engaged in professional creative pursuits, particularly for well-known figures. Among these, in turn, male poets seem to be at highest risk of the illness. Further evidence suggests that certain symptoms of depression (such as experience of social rejection or self-reflective rumination), but not others, may be tied to increased creativity.

At the same time, a number of studies investigating possible links between creativity and depression in the general (rather than artistic) population have failed to uncover any such relationship. One possible explanation for this effect is that certain authors (e.g. Shapiro and Weisberg, 1999; Silvia and Kimbrel, 2010) relied predominantly on participants' self-reported creativity rather than on its direct measures. However, this explanation does not seem completely convincing. First, similar results of no link (or of a weak negative link) between creativity and depression come from the studies which use other measures than self-reported creativity (see Ivcevic, 2007; Baas et al., 2016). Secondly, a hypothesis that one's self-report is less reliable or trustworthy than a laboratory design creativity task does not have much support. The construct of creativity itself is multi-dimensional and covers a broad range of cognitive and behavioural factors as well as skills and behaviours. An insightful self-report might be in these circumstances an advantageous method when compared with a general creativity task constructed as a part of laboratory experiment. One may be excellent in, for instance, finding novel use for everyday objects, but if the task consists of creative writing, s/he may fail it entirely.

Can there be any more plausible explanation for the links between creativity and depression in artists that have been repeatedly shown and for the lack of such an association in the general population? I address this question in the next section, where I discuss one possible explanation, pose some resulting questions and propose directions for further research.

6.2 EMINENT ARTISTS AND DEPRESSION: NEUROCOGNITIVE ARGUMENT

Having reviewed a selection of empirical studies investigating whether creativity is linked to depression, we arrived at the conclusion that whilst such an association manifests in eminent artists, the same result is not observed among people from the general population. A review of neurocognitive research concerning creativity offers a possible explanation of this fascinating phenomenon.

In his article "The Neuroscience of Creativity" Arne Dietrich (2004) suggests that every creative production predominantly occurs in a subject's emotional structures or in their cognitive structures, crossing the type of information with the two modes of processing: deliberate or spontaneous. As a result, there are four possible combinations of the process of creating: 1. emotional and deliberate, 2. emotional and spontaneous, 3. cognitive and deliberate, 4. cognitive and spontaneous. Dietrich stresses, however, that a given creative act should not be understood as the manifestation of one of these types in pure form. Just as any behavioural act is the result of a combination of normative cognition and emotion, the four types of creativity are basic elements of information processing, and creative behaviour is ultimately the result of a combination of these basic psychological processes (Dietrich, 2004). As a consequence, different types of creativity will have different characteristics, depending on the proportions of each of the four types in each combination. On this picture, I suggest that eminent professional artists are more likely to engage their emotional (rather than cognitive) mental processes and are more likely to work in a spontaneous (rather than deliberate) mode. A majority of professional, especially eminent artists, use the act of creativity in a spontaneous way, which means that they do not need to focus their attention on

the technical side of the act itself, such as, for instance, following instructions on how to mix oil paints, thinking about how to use perspective or how many lines should they write in order to create a poem. They create their work half, or even entirely, spontaneously, and the very aim of their creation is as much a physical end-result, as it is, often primarily, to express their mental state through the very act of creating. Colloquially, we would say, that the very good artists are 'lost' in their work or that they 'do not see the world around them'. Such a spontaneous act of creation involves predominantly implicit emotional processes.

Everyday creativity, on the other hand, is related predominantly to deliberate and methodical problem solving (e.g. Guilford, 1982; Boden, 1998; Weisberg, 1993; Sternberg and Lubart, 1999). In other words, non-artists approaching a creative task, focus their attention on the task itself rather than on expressing their emotional states, as well as work deliberately, that is, engage their executive cognitive control over the process. Similar distinctions between modes of thinking, for instance, intuition and analysis or explicit and implicit, have been made previously (Simonton, 1975; Shirley and Langan-Fox, 1996; Ashby et al., 1999). Many other authors have pointed out that artistic creative insights are marked by *sudden realizations* that tend to occur in a mental state characterized by *defocused attention* (Bransford and Stein, 1984; Eysenck, 1995; Martindale, 1999), in other words, spontaneous and anecdotal reports in the arts and sciences frequently describe the artistic creative process as, to large extent, 'automatic' and 'effortless' (Dietrich, 2004). According to empirical evidence coming from neuroscience, both described types of creative processes also differ on a neuropsychological level:

While *deliberate creativity* is instigated by circuits in the prefrontal cortex and thus tend to be *structured, rational, and conforming* to internalized values and belief systems, *spontaneous*

insights occur when the attentional system does not actively select the content of consciousness, allowing unconscious thoughts that are comparatively more *random*, *unfiltered*, *and bizarre* to be represented in working memory." (Dietrich, 2004, p. 1016, my emphasis).

A discovery most important for this debate, however, is such that, according to the data coming from neuroscience, both spontaneous/emotional creativity and depression are linked to hyperactivity in the same region of the human brain (Dietrich, 2004). More specifically, it has been observed that spontaneous and emotional creativity relates to unusual alterations in the ventromedial part of the prefrontal cortex (VMPFC) and, at the same time, might be associated with depressive symptoms such as impaired social function.

Depression might be particularly interesting because research shows that it is associated with hyperactivity in the VMPFC region but hypoactivity in the DLPFC region (see Mayberg, 1997). The present framework not only predicts that creative ability is altered in those individuals but can make precise predictions in what direction, and for what type of creativity. If this is the case, the link between mental illness and creativity can be described more precisely, as this connection is only reported for artists, writers, and musicians, but not scientists. (Dietrich, 2004, p. 1022)

Adrienne Sussman (2007), researching creativity and mental illness, links the hyperactivity in the frontal lobe both to creativity and to depression. This association is empirically evidenced in high levels of norepinephrine (whilst its low levels result in the symptoms characteristic for mania or hypomania). The author reflects that

It is not hard to see how these symptoms might be loosely analogous to creative processesdrawing unusual connections or thinking in a unique way are hallmarks of the artistic mind. But the traits of creativity are not only descriptively similar to some of the side-effects of mental illness-the neurological brain states are actually the same. (Sussman, 2007, p. 22)

and

More than the same brain region, the same neurotransmitters in that region seem to be responsible in both mental illness and creativity. (Sussman, 2007, p. 23)

The neuropsychological model of the links between depression and creativity presented has several limitations. The link between spontaneous/emotional mode of creativity and depression proposed in this chapter does not licence any claims about the causality. The research shows a possible correlation (co-occurrence) of the phenomena, without refining what could be the way in which both, creativity and depression, influence one another. As with limited data related to this question, finding the correct answer might be a matter of a rather distant future.

Taking into account the complexity and the mystery of the human brain and of the human mind, the model is merely a great simplification of the unlimited number of possible combinations between types of creativity, experiences of depression, modes of creative acts, and so on. Both notions, that of creativity and that of mental illness, are probably among the most complex and multidimensional phenomena; both contain, I believe, an astonishing potential for advanced, exciting, multidisciplinary research.

6.3 CREATIVITY AS AN EPISTEMIC BENEFIT OF DEPRESSION

Thus far, I have shown that depression or the experiences related to depressive illness such as social isolation or suicidal thoughts are more prevalent among eminent artists than in the general population. From the neurological point of view, depression shares similarities with the biology of a spontaneous, emotional act of creating. In short, it is possible that the experience of depression could indeed contribute to spontaneous creativity, or perhaps that an act of creativity that is free of cognitive focus may somehow enhance certain depressive symptoms.

Having accepted that this connection is empirically supported and that its causality remains unclear, I propose to see the spontaneous/emotional creativity as an epistemic benefit of depression in the population of eminent artists. Intense emotional experiences create a strong need for creative expression (Torrance, 1988). Classical examples of spontaneous/emotional creativity include artistic expressions such as Picasso's *Guernica* or Coleridge's poem "Kublai Khan" (Dietrich, 2004), the works contributing to the world's cultural heritage and to countless personal insights, the works enriching human knowledge on both phenomenal and personal levels.

It might be argued that since creative emotional insights do not require specialized knowledge from the artists, the epistemic value of their art might be questionable. Addressing such a worry, Dietrich (2004) argues that whilst the artist's knowledge might indeed not be specialised, the expression of his/her emotional insights does require exceptional skill.

...Guernica was inspired when Picasso witnessed the Condor Legion brutally destroying the town of Guernica in the Spanish Civil War. Picasso's work is not based on any historic, military, or other knowledge that can be acquired by formal education. It is based on understanding human suffering, injustice, and fear. It is likely that other witnesses to the event had similar experiences of empathy, but Picasso had a special way of expressing it. Similar arguments can be made for other creative arts. Modern popular music requires little formal knowledge, often as little as a few simple chords, but few people would argue that the Beatles were not creative. Equally, creativity in literature and poetry is not based on special knowledge of grammar or a degree in comparative literature. Once the specific mechanics of expression are mastered, creativity in the various arts is based on emotional reactions to environmental stimuli. (Dietrich, 2004, pp. 1020-1021)

What is it about these prominent works of art that make them so precious and valuable? According to Ramachandran (2003) who has studied the neurological impact of art for years, the key factor of an ingenious work of art is its *novelty*. However, as the author emphasises, for an artist, novelty can be very difficult to achieve. In this sense, then, depression may be an advantage, allowing the artist access to experiences that others find difficult to imagine.

While there is no doubt that for the eminent artists as for the general population depression is associated with psychological and epistemic costs such as emotional pain, self-destructive behaviour, cognitive malfunctioning or significantly diminished focus of attention, the very idea that it may be simultaneously related to certain epistemic benefits is usually left unexplored. Meanwhile, as I hope I have shown in this chapter, in certain circumstances, symptoms of depression might carry the potential of a unique epistemic value. By enabling an artist to find novel ideas and novel ways of expression, depression might be seen as a medium of genius for many artists and contribute to the expansion of knowledge. In this sense, depression-related experiences may be seen as epistemic benefits both for the artists and for us, the recipients of their work.

Certainly, not every artist needs depression, or mental illness in general, in order to create a valuable work, but this is not the claim I try to make here. Many wonderful works of art have been created in a 'healthy' state of mind and the creative process itself was less 'spontaneous' than 'deliberate' and with a great part of cognitive control from the author. However, I hope that taking a careful a look at the long stream of empirical data helped us realise that the role of mental suffering in the famous works of artists is indeed significant.

As with regards to the general population, the links between creativity and depression have not been confirmed. In some cases, the correlation appeared to be slightly negative, which implies that the symptoms of depression stood in the way of the successful creative process. This result is equally interesting; it indicates that the creative process in people who are not professional artists might be relying less on a spontaneous and emotional act and more on deliberate, cognitive processes. This hypothesis, together with the results suggesting a negative link between depressive symptoms and creativity in the general population, offers a possibility that in certain circumstances deliberate and focused creativity could play a therapeutic role for people suffering from depression. By activating one's focus of attention and supporting executive cognitive skills, art therapy is indeed practiced in many mental health facilities with proven success.

6.4 SUMMARY

This chapter investigates the status of the current debate on the possible links between creativity and depression. The review of a number of empirical studies concludes that the association between the two phenomena is very complex as both depression and creativity are multidimensional and operationally problematic mental constructs. After having analysed the available data I argued that the positive correlation between depression (or certain related symptoms) and creativity can be predominantly found in the population of eminent artists (especially poets) but not in the rest of the population. Drawing from the related research in neuropsychology it is proposed that it is a specific type of creating process, namely

spontaneous and emotional, that is linked to depression and related symptoms. Whilst the causality of the association remains unclear I suggested that in certain circumstances creativity may constitute an epistemic benefit of depression. This is more recognizable in the case of eminent artists, who have created marvellous works of art whilst suffering from the illness.

CHAPTER 7: SPIRITUALITY AND RELIGIOSITY

In this chapter, I explore possible associations between spirituality/religiosity and depression. Some authors researching affective disorders proposed such a link (for example Galvez and colleagues (2011) have listed spirituality as one of the possible benefits of bipolar disorder), although the nature and direction of the alleged relation remain unclear.

Numerous empirical studies indicate the strong correlation between the phenomena of spirituality, religiosity, and depression (e.g. Cotton et al., 2005; Dalmida, 2006; McCoubrie and Davies, 2006; Sorajjakool et al., 2008; Perez et al., 2009; Galvez et al., 2011). Researchers attempt to address questions such as: (a) How does depression affect spirituality? (b) Can spirituality and/or religiosity function as a tool in coping with depression? (c) How does one define meaning in the presence of melancholia? (Sorajjakool et al., 2008). This chapter seeks to explore some of these questions by examining the related empirical findings. Here is the plan: I begin in section 7.1 with definitions of *spirituality*, *religiosity*, and *religion*, emphasizing differences between the three concepts. In section 7.2 I ask whether being religious and/or spiritual may have an impact on the outcome of depression. More specifically, I explore whether spirituality or religiosity have the potential for one's faster recovery from depression, or, on the opposite, perhaps being spiritual or having religious beliefs aggravates one's depressive symptoms? Based on empirical findings, I argue that the levels of spirituality (and spiritually fuelled religiosity) are inversely associated with depression: people who are spiritual exhibit lower levels of depression than non-spiritual controls. Singled-out religiosity, however, turns out to be positively associated with depression in certain cases. More specifically, people who routinely follow religious practices

but do not consider themselves deeply spiritual, exhibit higher levels of depression than controls. In section 7.3 I investigate possible explanations for the empirical findings presented and argue that by offering one's life *meaning*, spirituality enhances psychological health. Finally, in section 7.4 I conclude that further multidisciplinary research is needed in order to clarify the beneficial impact of spirituality on mental health.

7.1 SPIRITUALITY, RELIGIOSITY, AND RELIGION

There seems to be little consensus about the meaning of the terms religion, religiosity, and spirituality in the empirical literature. One major contributor to the difficulties encountered in differentiating spirituality from religion and religiosity is the fact that these terms tended to be used interchangeably prior to recent times (George et al., 2000). Nevertheless, it is important to identify how these terms are conceived in this chapter before further examination of related research.

For the purpose of simplicity, the concepts of spirituality and religiosity are referring to distinct, although related phenomena, of which spirituality (deriving from the Latin word *spirare*, meaning 'to breathe') is treated as a broader and more inclusive one (see for example Cotton et al., 2004; Saslow et al., 2013). Spirituality is usually understood as referring to the personal and emotional aspects of religion, often defined as an emotional connection with something transcendent or sacred (Dalmida, 2006), however, it may also be applied to a secular, that is non-religious, context (Bash, 2004). This is because, unlike religiosity, spirituality does not require being rooted in any particular rituals, practices or beliefs. It is

conceived to refer to "the human dimension that transcends the biological, psychological, and social aspects of living" (Mauritzen, 1988, p. 118) and "...whatever people do to attain a variety of goals, such as meaning in life, wholeness, interconnections with others, truth, and one's own inner potential." (Zinnbauer et al.,1999, p. 902).

William James (1902) described spirituality as the first-hand, emotional experience of religion, whilst the Dalai Lama speaks of spirituality as the quality that is "concerned with love and compassion, patience, tolerance, forgiveness, contentment, a sense of responsibility, a sense of harmony." (Saslow et al., 2013, p. 201).

Religiosity, on the other hand, has been described as an organised system of beliefs guided by values, rituals, or a code of conduct (Mohr, 2006; Sorajjakool et al., 2008). Being religious can be manifested in the context of a traditional religious institution (Jewish, Catholic, Islamic, and so forth), New Religious Movements, as well as highly individualised and diverse religious practices related to core personal beliefs and values (Ingersoll, 1994; Hodges, 2002). Genia and Shaw (1991) propose that one may express spirituality in a religious context but one's religiosity does not have to constitute a result of spirituality. People are known to identify with the terms 'religious' and 'spiritual' in distinct ways, with some describing themselves as being 'religious but not spiritual', others as 'spiritual but not religious', and still others as 'religious and spiritual' (Zinnbauer et al., 1997). These contrasting self-descriptions reflect divergent religious/spiritual beliefs, attitudes and practices (Zinnbauer et al., 1997; Zinnbauer et al., 1999; Taylor et al., 2000).

Swinton (2001) argues that whilst institutionalised religion in Western countries seems to be decreasing, there has been a dramatic rise in a quest for spirituality in other forms, such as an interest in Eastern religion, transcendental meditation, new age literature and so on. The number of people in Western societies who claim to 'remain spiritual, but not religious' is growing systematically (De Castella, 2013). This, in turn, suggests that although the difference between spirituality and religion in the area of philosophical research might have been muted, it nevertheless continues to exist, with a bigger than ever impact on our understanding of human beliefs in the supernatural.

Although most researchers support the opinion that there is a loose connection between the two concepts, it is important to note that certain authors argue for their closer association. For example, Puchalski (1999, p. 1) directly calls religion the "expression of spirituality". Similarly, Mohr and colleagues (2006) state that religion constitutes the platform for the expression of spirituality, and Mueller and colleagues (2001) argue that both concepts significantly overlap.

Finally, it is important to clarify the meaning of 'religion'. Unfortunately, the empirical literature uses the concept of religion interchangeably with that of 'religiosity', which adds to the overall conceptual confusion. Here I adopt Allport's (1960) understanding of 'religion' in a broad meaning, inclusive of both spirituality and religiosity and related practices, beliefs, and behaviours of related kinds. Allport's distinction between *extrinsic* and *intrinsic* forms of religion is significant in the context of this chapter and is discussed below.

In this chapter I take a view that one can be spiritual without following any particular organised system of religious beliefs; consequently, one can follow the rules of institutional church but not feel particularly connected to any spiritual 'power'. In the context of this thesis, I am interested in acquiring an answer to the question of whether there may be any specific link between any of these phenomena and depression?

Researchers in psychology have been predominantly focusing on exploring spirituality and religiosity (often with no conceptual distinction between the two) in people suffering from depression. The questions that they were attempting to address related mainly to the possibility of spirituality/religiosity affecting the symptoms and the outcomes of depression. Does being spiritual make an impact on one's depressive symptoms? In the next section, I review some of the studies in order to shed some light on the links between the phenomena.

7.2. SPIRITUALITY, RELIGIOSITY, AND DEPRESSION

The question which is the focus of this section, attracted a moderate amount of research. Interpreting this evidence is fraught with difficulties, however, since close inspection reveals that the concepts of spirituality and religiosity have been largely blurred. George and colleagues (2000, p. 107) notice that much of the literature claiming to explore the impact of spirituality on health, in general, investigates religion (religiosity) rather than spirituality. As a consequence, it is not surprising that few studies have investigated spirituality and religiosity as two distinct phenomena.

Overall, available empirical studies have established a relationship between religion, as defined by the formal, institutional, and outward expression of the sacred (Koenig and Larson, 2001), and mental health risk behaviours (Wallace and Williams, 1997; Hodge et al., 2001; Bridges and Moore, 2002; Miller and Gur, 2002; Schapman and Inderbitzen-Nolan, 2002; Cotton et al., 2004). According to the findings, there is a small to moderate yet significant relationship between religious beliefs and depression. More specifically, some findings point out that people who believe in God and see religion as important in their lives show less depressive symptoms and less engagement in health risk behaviours (such as risky sexual behaviour or substance use) than less religious controls (Wright et al., 1993; Donahue and Benson, 1995; Lammers et al., 2000; McCree et al., 2003; Cotton et al., 2004). For example, in one of their studies, Cotton and colleagues (2004) examined spirituality as a meaningful construct in the lives of young people, exploring the ways in which spirituality and religiosity affect depressive symptoms and health-risk behaviours. A total of 134 teenagers completed a questionnaire assessing spirituality, religiosity, depressive symptoms and health-risk behaviours. The researchers found out that young people with higher levels of spiritual wellbeing had fewer depressive symptoms and fewer risk-taking behaviours. However, they also found that people who placed greater importance on religious rituals per se, without spiritual engagement, showed increased depressive symptoms when compared with controls. This is an interesting finding, pointing to the possibility that religious practices, if not coupled with deeper spiritual experience, might not be beneficial from the psychological point of view. Reflecting on the results, the authors concluded that the inclusion of spirituality in the promotion of mental health and resilience may encourage healthy adolescent development.

Other authors obtained similar results. Doolittle and Farrell (2004) examined the possible association between depression and spirituality in people living in urban areas. They discovered that the participants who scored higher on the spiritual assessment scales had fewer depressive symptoms than controls. At the same time, the authors noted that attending religious services did not have a significant impact on depression. Rather, characteristics related to spirituality, such as belief and trust in a higher power and prayer accounted for the difference between people with depression and controls.

It could be argued that low levels of spirituality (or, as Doolittle and colleagues say, "lack of faith" (2004, p. 116)) in people with depression may merely be another symptom of helplessness, hopelessness, and anhedonia that characterise the illness. In other words, it could be claimed that depression *causes* lack of faith on the same basis as it deprives us of other hopes and desires. A closer look at empirical research shows, however, that such a claim would be far from the truth. Some key studies in the field support the thesis that it is the spirituality that brings on mental health rather than 'lack of faith' being caused by depression. Martin Seligman (1990) observed that in the hermetic community of Amish people rates of depression were significantly lower than in Western society; among many differences in both Amish and general Western lifestyles, the author ascribed this phenomenon to the Amish spiritual way of living. Seligman suggests that spirituality may be seen as a factor protecting people against hopelessness and alienation seen in modern Western societies. In this sense, being spiritual may constitute an enhancing factor for mental health. Whilst such a claim may sound bold, it has been largely supported (e.g. Comstock, 1972; Zuckerman et al., 1984; Miller, 1985; Fehring et al., 1987; Idler, 1987; Pressman et al., 1990). For example, Richard Fehring and colleagues (1987), who investigated psychological and spiritual wellbeing in

college students, found out that the students who scored high on spirituality scales were in better psychological health than non-spiritual controls. Is there any plausible explanation for the link between low levels of depressive symptoms and spirituality? In the next section, I attempt to address this question and suggest that the answer lies in the phenomenon of *meaning*.

7.3 SPIRITUALITY, MEANING, AND MENTAL HEALTH

On the analysis of presented data, one wonders what might be an explanation for the intriguingly high correlation between spirituality and mental health? One possible answer comes from the research on the phenomena of *spiritual meaning* defined as "having a sense of purpose or calling, derived from beliefs about spiritual forces underlining or arching over life" (Mascaro and Rosen, 2006, p. 184). The idea here is that having a sense of purpose impacts positively one's life and strengthens one's resilience. Such a hypothesis has been confirmed by some empirical studies. For example, Wright and colleagues found that young people who had a sense of spiritual meaning in their lives experienced less depressive symptoms than non-spiritual peers (Wright et al., 1993). Olszewski (1994) obtained similar results, establishing a positive relation between life meaning and mental health. Sorajjakool and colleagues (2008) explored the impact of spirituality on coping with depression; the authors interviewed 15 individuals with clinical form of the illness. The participants were asked to describe whether being spiritual affected their mental health. The results obtained point at spirituality playing a significant role in coping with depression-related pain. Here is one example:

The first time I went back to church was at the beginning of February and it was the first time I had felt peace in over a year. I did not feel my pain (in church). I want to commit suicide but the hope will come back when I read my Bible... it is a kind of tingling sensation [that] goes through my body. I can't explain it, but it is peace, joy, and love. All in one unconditionally... Sometimes I also get this overwhelming feeling, and I know that there is either somebody there that is watching me-whether it is my guiding angel or an angel... It starts through mystomach or my shoulders. It is a feeling like I have been touched. It is like somebody you love coming to touch you. (Sorajjakool et al., 2008, p. 526)

Other participants are quoted offering similar statements of the role which spirituality played in their battle with depression. Among other benefits, remaining spiritual offered them hope, brought comfort, prevented suicide, and provided crucial support during difficult times in their lives (Sorajjakool et al., 2008).

Interestingly, whilst it could be argued that being spiritual may offer psychological benefits in the circumstances of literally any adverse experience, Sorajjakool and colleagues propose that individuals with depression have particularly intense desire to *make sense* of their experience. They want to *know* why they have to go through such intense suffering and have a particular need to find a purpose attached to their experience. One of the students quoted in the study says "depression makes me who I am and I will not be the way I am without it. Once you come out of depression, you can realize how it *helps you with perspective* in life" (Sorajjakool et al., 2008, p. 527, my emphasis)

It may subsequently be argued that in order to benefit someone with depression a meaning does not have to be rooted specifically in spirituality. Perhaps a personal meaning (or, in fact, any meaning) may potentially contribute to positive mental health outcome? Whilst such a possibility cannot be rejected, some authors argue that the meaning which is rooted in spirituality has a special role to play in our life. Carl Jung is one of the classic authors who argued for a unique role of spirituality. He proposed that without an "inner transcendent experience humans lack the resources to withstand the 'blandishments of the world'" (Jung, 1958, p. 24). Jung believed that intellectual or moral insights, although important, are insufficient in this matter and articulated this principle way ahead of his time, suggesting that psychology should interpret the spiritual experience of people as valid expressions of their psyche (Jung, 1933).

Other authors expressed similar ideas: Erikson (1969) emphasized that spiritual development is a natural process in humans and Allport (1960) asked: "Does a person ever really attain integration until he (she) has signed and sealed a treaty with the cosmos?" (Allport, 1960, p. 90). For Victor Frankl (1978), the greatest problem of the modern era was what he called the "existential vacuum", or meaninglessness; people do not seek spiritual development. Based on this claim, Frankl developed the unique form of therapy called 'Logotherapy', the process aiming to rediscover one's personal values as well as to recognise the presence and work of a benevolent force (i.e. God) (Frankl, 1967).

For Maslow (1971) one of the central dimensions of human development is that of *transcendence*, which includes an awareness or belief in a power beyond ourselves and implies that the individual is a part of a more complex entity. Other related characteristics include a sense of selflessness, life purpose, a desire to help others, and an unconditional love that promotes working toward a greater good (Hodges, 2002). Maslow emphasises that transcendent development carries a spiritual significance, which includes an appreciation of beauty, truth, and unity as well as recognition of the sacred in life.

In sum, can spirituality function as a tool in coping with depression? Based on the studies reviewed above the answer seems to be positive. However, there are some exceptions from the rule. As Hills and colleagues found out in their interesting study (2005) this is no longer true for those people whose experience of spirituality is woven with negative emotions. The authors examined the phenomenon in older patients in palliative care and discovered that those who expressed anger at God or questioned the existence of 'higher power' showed more distress, confusion, and had more depressive symptoms than controls. These results confirm earlier findings by Koenig and colleagues (1988) who revealed that the quality of life in older medical patients who demonstrated negative feelings associated with God was significantly negatively affected.

One of the key questions arising from the analysis of empirical studies is as follows: Why does spirituality affect our mental health in a largely positive way, whilst religiosity in a form of following a set of institutional practices seems to be largely disadvantageous? One possible explanation comes from Allport's (1960) theory which differentiates between *immature* and *mature* forms of religion. According to Allport, mature religion serves an integrative and organising function in the personality, thereby producing a consistent morality. By contrast, immature forms of religion are explained as being absorbed with self-gratification, leading to a lack of integration of the personality and therefore a lack of self-reflective insight (Ventis, 1995). On this picture, we can understand spirituality as a mature form of religion, given its empirically evidenced links with previously described meaning, but also with compassion, altruism and personal development (Saslow et al., 2013). Allport's differentiation between mature and immature religion has led to the development of two brand new concepts in the psychology of religion, that is, *extrinsic* and *intrinsic* religion. Ventis (1995, p. 35) defines

extrinsic religion as the religion that is used to deliver certain types of external gratification to the person, such as an increase in their social status. Intrinsic religion, on the contrary, applies to those who treat their religion as the main motive in their lives and for whom religion is internalised and fully lived. Consistent with this theoretical framework, empirical studies measuring the impact of both types of religion on mental health have found out that extrinsic religion is negatively related, and intrinsic religion positively related, to mental health and social behaviour (see Ventis, 1995 for the full review).

An alternative explanation for the connection between spirituality and mental health comes from Bandura's social cognitive theory, grounded in a view of human agency that emphasises intentionality and forethought, self-regulation, and self-reflectiveness in adaptation and change (Bandura, 1986; Perez et al., 2009). The idea here is that religion and spirituality may foster personal agency in such a way that one's perceived relationship with a transcendental power (e.g. God) can empower one with the belief that one can achieve a certain goal. Such a belief constitutes an example of that which Bandura and colleagues (1999) call perceived selfefficacy and which builds the foundation of human agency in general. "Unless people believe they can produce desired effects by their actions, they have little incentive to act or to persevere in the face of difficulties." (Bandura et al., 1999, p. 258). A low sense of efficacy leads to feelings of futility and despondency later in life, making people vulnerable to depression. Other researchers support this claim, pointing out that spiritual beliefs are associated with personal agency beliefs and the sense of personal control (Strickland et al., 1971; Saudia et al., 2001). These, in turn, are evidenced to be inversely related to depression; in other words, the stronger beliefs in personal agency one holds, the less depressive symptoms one has (McFarlane et al., 1995).

Another possible explanation for the link between spirituality and depression has to do with (or is related to) coping behaviour. The research by Pargament (1997) demonstrates the direct effects of both positive and negative religious coping on health. The proposition here is that one's perceived personal relationship with God leads them to acknowledge stressful events as challenges to overcome rather than threats. This relates to a religious belief that with God's support, people are empowered to approach and fight obstacles. On this picture, religion can frame the way one thinks about problems and may be linked to more effective coping behaviour. This is an interesting conclusion, woven with practical consequences. Perez and colleagues (2009) reflect that if agency beliefs and coping behaviours constitute mechanisms by which spirituality and religion enhance immunity against depression, religious and mental health organisations could work together to foster people's resilience, mental health and wellbeing.

Yet another possible explanation for the link between spirituality and mental health lies in the phenomenon of *compassion*. A number of empirical studies argue that compassion (understood as motivated empathy) plays a key role in spirituality and that the phenomena are closely related. For example, Saslow and colleagues make a distinction between spirituality and religion and show that whilst the first construct has been linked to compassion, the later one has not shown a similar association (Saslow et al., 2013). In a series of repeated empirical studies comparing spirituality and religiosity, Saslow and colleagues obtained remarkable results. Individuals describing themselves as spiritual turned out to be significantly more altruistic and compassionate than those who classified themselves as religious. Religiosity, when detached from spirituality, did not lead to compassion. Moreover, the study revealed

another interesting relation: although both spiritual and religious individuals prayed or meditated, the first group (spiritual) was more likely to have transcendent experiences of feeling connected to the divine, whilst the second group (religious) was more likely to read holy books and to believe in a more fundamentalist form of religion (Saslow et al., 2013).

Interestingly, although the results of the majority of the studies presented point at the positive relation between spirituality and low levels of depression (but link religiosity with higher levels of depression), one study presents conflicting data. Baetz and colleagues (2004) used Canadian population data from 70,844 people aged 15 years and older to examine the links between spiritual and religious involvement and depressive symptoms. The researchers found that frequent worship attendance was significantly related to fewer symptoms of depression; on the contrary, those participants who considered themselves deeply spiritual showed significantly higher levels of depressive symptoms, even after controlling for potential mediating factors including age, income level, location, education, and so on.

What explanation could be offered for such strikingly diverse result? A close inspection of the study reveals at least three possibilities. The first and the second one are methodological: first, unlike other authors, Baetz and colleagues examined a non-clinical sample. In other words, people who were examined did not suffer from severe types of depression (nor from other mental disorders) but presented certain depression-related symptoms on the continuum of varied intensity. Second, the researchers' method was based on the review of previously attained ready data, which, additionally, consisted of a very large number of participants with no specified profile. Drawing valid conclusions based on such a divergent participant target is challenging, and errors can occur, due to possible interference with non-controlled variables

such as, for example, specific personality traits. Finally, it may be hypothesized that people who describe themselves as being highly religious but who do not attend organized worships, may have higher levels of depression-related symptoms, because they miss the connection with others; in a sense, they hold a need for religious expression, but they are unable to fulfil it; therefore, they feel psychologically worse.

As the final comment of this section I would like to point to the phenomenon of mindfulness as spiritually – bound practice aimed to enhance mental health. The concept of mindfulness is rooted in Buddhist and other contemplative traditions where conscious attention and awareness are actively cultivated (Brown and Ryan, 2003). Mindfulness is commonly defined as "the state of being attentive to and aware of what is taking place in the present" (p. 822). Much of psychological research has shown beneficial outcomes of mindfulness practice for one's wellbeing (e.g. Kabat-Zinn, 1990; Brazier, 1995; Martin, 1997; Shapiro et al., 1998; Ryan and Deci, 2000; Shonin et al., 2016; Jazaieri and Shapiro, 2017). For example, it has been evidenced that practising mindfulness helps people disengage from automatic thoughts, habits and unhealthy behavioural patterns (Ryan and Deci, 2000). From this point of view mindfulness can play an important role in combating depression: by enhancing the ability of conscious awareness in the present moment, the practice actively disengages the subject from cognitive and emotional 'anchoring' in dysfunctional, negative schemata (I discussed depressive schemata in the context of depressive delusions, see chapter 4).

7.4 SUMMARY

To sum up, the majority of research supports the claim that being spiritual plays an important role in maintaining mental health. The empirical evidence suggests that being spiritual offers people a unique kind of life meaning, which protects them from giving up in the face of difficulties, supports agency and coping behaviour. A certain amount of empirical data links religiosity, in a form of following religious rituals, to higher levels of depression. Unlike spirituality, such a form of religion has been called immature (Allport, 1960) and it has been evidenced that people who follow institutional rules without deeper spiritual involvement lack compassion (e.g. Saslow et al., 2013). Extended interdisciplinary research is needed to further clarify the character of the relation between religion and mental health; current on-going studies focusing on meditation as a way to prevent depression are promising.

CHAPTER 8: THESIS SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND SUGGESTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

The motivation for this thesis was to provide an alternative, more complex view of depression as a source of unique experiences associated not just with mental and physical harm, but also with certain short or long-term benefits of a cognitive, emotional, pragmatic and epistemic character. This was achieved through critical analysis of empirical data as well as by offering original arguments for and against the links between depression-related symptoms and selected beneficial traits. Here I summarise the main thesis of each chapter, address some questions that follow, and offer suggestions for further research.

8.1 SUMMARY OF THE KEY FINDINGS

In the first chapter I looked into the phenomenon of 'depressive realism'-the claim that people who suffer from depression make more accurate inferences about reality than 'healthy' people. The analysis of empirical data exploring this question led me to the conclusion that there is a limited number of circumstances in which depression-related experiences offer some epistemic benefits. Firstly, the majority of data shows that it is low mood, but not more severe symptoms of depression, which is linked to more accurate judgements. The judgements made by people suffering from clinical forms of depression are overly negative ('negativity bias'). Secondly, the accuracy of judgements made by people suffering from low mood seems the best in estimations about the self and self-related circumstances, rather than about other people and neutral events. Having established the circumstances for epistemic benefits of depression – related symptoms, in chapter 2 I asked whether they can also deliver benefits of a psychological character. Here I challenged the so-called 'trade-off' view, according to which psychological wellbeing is the price which one has to pay in exchange for more realistic judgements. I examined the phenomena of low mood and low self-esteem and argued that both experiences, despite associated psychological costs, may relate to better wellbeing (as well as to better accuracy of judgements) by enabling certain psychological strategies combating anxiety. Although the advantages obtained may sometimes be only temporary and relate to specific circumstances, it is critical to recognise that the depression-related experiences offer more than just suffering.

In chapter 3 I provided further arguments against the trade-off view by exposing unrealistically positive views of oneself ('positive illusions') as psychologically costly. I challenged Taylor and Brown's (1988) account of PIs as advantageous for our mental health by showing that it is not (as they claim) departure from reality which makes these beliefs beneficial. Based on the empirical data I argued that beliefs which turn beneficial are rather based on a realistic evaluation of one's own capabilities and resources prior to deliberate focus on the positive aspects.

In chapter 4, I investigated the phenomenon of depressive delusions. I propose the hypothesis that delusions in depression emerge as a result of the attempt to eliminate the inconsistency between self-schemata formed via a biased process of learning, and new conflicting information. The function of depressive delusions is to restore the equilibrium of the cognitive processes of adaptation, assimilation and accommodation. Due to their role of

reducing dissonance and restoring unified narrative self, delusions have the potential to deliver both psychological and epistemic benefits by relieving anxiety and preserving a coherent self.

In chapter 5, I looked into the links between depression and empathy. Upon examination of the empirical data I argued that people who suffer from depression have elevated levels of empathetic response to the suffering of others. Next, I proceeded to investigate whether enhanced empathy in depression may constitute a source of psychological benefits for the subject. Based on psychological research I showed that empathy found in people suffering from depression is linked to feelings of guilt and leads to personal distress. However, I further argued that by offering a temporary relief from depression-related loneliness, such a kind of empathy may play a role in protecting people from developing more acute, psychotic symptoms.

In chapter 6, I was interested in acquiring an answer to the question of whether depression is linked to enhanced creativity. Upon analysis of the empirical research I argued that creativity is indeed evidenced to be associated with depression, predominantly in the population of eminent artists, particularly in poets. The neuropsychological research points to a specific mode of creation, namely spontaneous/emotional creativity, that is especially linked to depression. I propose that by contributing to work of the highest cultural and aesthetic value, creativity may be seen as an epistemic benefit of depression.

Chapter 7 presented an analysis of the alleged links between depression and spirituality and religiosity. Upon drawing a distinction between the concepts of spirituality, religiosity and

religion I asked whether being spiritual or/and religious may affect one's depressive symptoms. Based on the analysis of empirical evidence I argued that having spiritual beliefs contributes to better mental health and plays a role in preventing depression. However, in cases where people simply follow religious practices but do not consider themselves deeply spiritual, their levels of depression-related symptoms are higher than those of controls. What might be the nature of the link between spirituality and mental health? Based on psychological data I argued that by offering a meaning of life, spirituality enhances one's mental health and general wellbeing.

8.2 CONCLUSIONS AND LIMITATIONS

The main conclusion reached in this thesis is such that depression and related experiences, such as low mood, anxiety or low self-esteem can be seen as more than merely products (or by-products) of mental dysfunction. Undoubtedly, suffering comes as an inseparable part of depressive illness; the research aiming to reduce psychological costs of depression and to establish the most effective ways of treatment should not be underestimated. However, in order to bring on the best outcomes, such research ought to be based on the thorough and detailed understanding of the nature of the illness itself. Here is where this dissertation has a potential to make the best impact. Although there has been an enormous number of studies investigating the negative side of depressive experience as well as its countless harmful outcomes, not much has been said about the possibility of its more positive contribution to our mental experience. Meanwhile, as I showed in the subsequent chapters of this thesis, we have the grounds to believe that particular experiences related to depression come to our lives

not only as a result of our mental deficiencies or psychological trauma; they also come because they have an important role to play in our lives. Although they come disguised as clinical symptoms, the function they play in our lives seems to be much more sophisticated. To better understand the role which depression plays in one's life could mean to have the capacity to develop better tools for its treatment, but, more importantly, to develop new strategies of prevention.

Similarly to other studies, the current research also has several limitations. The most obvious one is such that only certain depression-related phenomena were taken into account when exploring potential benefits. I explored realism, pessimism, self-handicapping, delusions, empathy, creativity and spirituality, leaving a potentially long list of other factors behind, primarily due to consideration of the structural limits of this work. This is not to say that the phenomena I considered and analysed here are the only ones evidenced in science as linked to depression. The list of positive traits which one could attain together with (or because of) depression could be much longer as people's circumstances and life stories vary. The seven phenomena featured in this thesis are however those which are evidenced in the best way and are the most widespread in the empirical literature.

The key question which lies at the basis of my research: is depression related to anything positive? was originated in the countless psychological encounters I had with my clients, people who suffered from depression. It is them who have given me the inspiration to research further. What have I learnt throughout this journey? Whilst conducting the analysis of the empirical data related to my key question, one thing becomes especially apparent: whereas symptoms related to mild or moderate depression such as low mood, low self-esteem

or anxiety have the capacity to offer some benefits to the subject, more severe forms of the illness do not seem to offer such an advantage. Our low mood can make our self-related judgements more realistic; our anxiety, when harnessed, may play the key role in enhancing the success of a given task; our low self-esteem may constitute self-defence against more costly psychological damage, and so on. However, when the severity of depression reaches the heights (or rather, shall we say, the lows), when it becomes impossible to find the motivation to cope with everyday demands, searching for benefits most often ends up in a fiasco. Here the mental costs seemingly outweigh the potential benefits.

This conclusion supports the view that depression together with its associated experiences ought to be understood as a spectrum of mental events rather than the sudden outburst of an illness. Phenomena such as low mood, low self-esteem and anxiety are common in both clinical and non-clinical populations. They can be seen as part of our personality and/or patterns of behaviour but they also can be listed as the symptom of mental illness after reaching a certain level of severity. This leads us to a subsequent question: what could be done from a therapeutic point of view to support people who experience mild forms of depression in order to prevent the symptoms from escalating? Although there is a wide range of pharmacological and psychological treatment available for those who experience clinical forms of depressive cognitive alterations in vulnerable people (e.g. negative self-schemata described in more detail in chapter 4 of this thesis), early intervention for high-risk individuals ought to become a priority. The aim of such intervention could be, firstly, to make a person aware of their automatic negative thinking patterns and support the change in their habits and,

secondly, to support their personal agency. The latter factor seems especially important as, by its nature, rumination in depressive thought deprives us of the motivational force necessary to take an action (e.g. Bandura, 1989; Goodwin and Jamison, 1990). In his highly influential work 'Human agency in social cognitive theory' Albert Bandura writes:

Depressive rumination not only impairs ability to initiate and sustain adaptive activities, but it further diminishes perceptions of personal efficacy... Much human depression is also cognitively generated by dejecting ruminative thoughts... Therefore, perceived self-inefficacy to exercise control over ruminative thought figures prominently in the occurrence, duration, and recurrence of depressive episodes. (Bandura, 1989, p. 1178)

In the context of current research, agency becomes an imperative in order to be able to acknowledge and utilise the benefits associated with the clinical symptoms. Without the action a person will not enter a social situation; with no social context, the symptoms may become a subject of ongoing psychological inflammation. Furthermore, the action becomes necessary for taking up a task (e.g. the cognitive-behavioural strategy of defensive pessimism), for joining spiritual (or any other) community, for expressing empathy or creating a work of art. Finally, at least minimal action is required to talk to a therapist. Inability to act significantly decreases one's chances of noticing and acknowledging the beneficial sides of depression and subsequently takes away one's opportunity for recovery. It is not a purpose of this thesis to argue for the best solution for depression, nor is it to advocate any particular treatment over the others. However, after having met many people going through depressive illness in its various stages, I have come to believe that whether one will or will not benefit from their own depressive symptoms, they firstly and most importantly ought to be offered a chance to examine it in their own capacity.

Another conclusion that can be drawn from the research presented is such that although more severe forms of depression do not seem to offer any immediate benefits to the subject, certain phenomena that occur at this stage, such as mood-congruent delusions, still may play an important role in the personal narrative. As I argued in chapter 4, the function of depressive delusions is to protect self-coherence, in other words, to prevent more serious psychological damage to occur, which might happen in the case of severe cognitive dissonance. Moodcongruent delusions, such as-for example-paranoid beliefs, not only bring obvious psychological suffering but also, by confirming the subject's severely negatively biased perception of events, re-affirm the coherence of her story. From this point of view, depressive delusions have an important epistemic role to play, even if they are woven with serious psychological costs.

8.3 FURTHER SUGGESTIONS

Based on the current findings, I believe that further research into the continuity of depressive symptoms in the clinical and non-clinical population could determine the most effective ways of depression prevention. What might such a study look like? First, it would further critically assess current accounts of 'depressive symptoms' in the clinical literature in order to move towards accounts which are sensitive to the potential epistemic, psychological and ethical benefits and to their role in supporting a unified and coherent sense of self and agency. Second, it would inform therapeutic interventions on people with depression and related disorders on the basis of the complex role of their experienced symptoms in the recovery and in the development of a self-narrative which supports their agency and wellbeing. Finally, it

would provide strong theoretical reasons to challenge the perceived discontinuity between 'normal' and 'abnormal' experiences related to depression such as feelings of sadness, low self-esteem, biased perception, negative self-evaluation, and mood-congruent delusions.

The most fundamental part of this study would be to develop a new theoretical framework of psychological intervention for depression and related problems. When does a 'symptom' have the potential to be used as a therapeutic tool in order to prevent mental decline or on the way to recovery? The central idea is that the support to shift one's attention from psychological and epistemic costs of depression to accept and include its beneficial potential in a specific and personalized context will lead to a better sense of agency and cognitive control over the symptoms; eventually, this will result in a structured and accelerated way to recovery. Certainly, the full formulation of the framework needs rigorous analytical analysis and careful methodology.

Neglecting the possibility of epistemic, cognitive or ethical benefits of depression-related symptoms prevents us from understanding the complexity of the mental phenomena to be investigated and it precludes the development of a psychologically realistic picture of human nature as constantly developing in spite of constraints and limitations. Such a picture would easily support a more nuanced account of the distinction between the normal and the pathological. If the divide is between 'feeling worried' and 'being paranoid', then the divide appears to be sharp and clear. But if the divide is between beliefs or emotions that are affected by contextual factors (e.g. the loss of one's job) and beliefs or emotions affected by contextual factors plus additional deficits associated with a psychiatric disorder (e.g. negativity bias or generalized anxiety), then the divide is no longer so clear. It becomes even

less sharp if both types of experiences, the normal one and the pathological one, have similar cognitive or epistemic benefits in spite of their costs. The study proposed here would aim to develop and expand this line of thought, widening its scope, and working out its wide-ranging implications. In the possible theoretical framework for psychological interventions, the beneficial features of depression-related symptoms are to be conducive to one's wellbeing given cognitive and emotional limitations.

Bibliography

Abelson, R.P. (1968). *Theories of Cognitive Consistency: a sourcebook*. Chicago: Rand-McNally.

Abraham, A., Windmann, S., McKenna, P. and Güntürkün, O. (2007). 'Creative thinking in schizophrenia: the role of executive dysfunction and symptom severity'. *Cognitive Neuropsychiatry*, 12(3), pp. 235-258.

Abramson, L. Y. and Alloy, L. B. (1981). 'Depression, nondepression, and cognitive illusions: Reply to Schwartz'. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 110(3), pp. 436-447.

Abramson, L.Y., Alloy, L.B., Hankin, B.L., Haeffel, G.J., Maccoon, D.G. and Gibb, B.E. (2002). 'Cognitive vulnerability-stress models of depression in a self-regulatory and psy-chobiological context', in Gotlib, I.H. and Hammen, C.L. (eds.), *Handbook of Depression*. New York: Guilford, pp. 268-294.

Abramson, L. Y., Alloy, L. B., and Rosoff, R. (1981). 'Depression and the generation of complex hypotheses in the judgement of contingency'. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 19, pp. 35–45.

Adams, K.B., Sanders, S. and Auth, E. (2004). 'Loneliness and depression in independent living retirement communities: risk and resilience factors'. *Aging & mental health*, 8(6), pp. 475-485.

Ackermann, R. and DeRubeis, R.J. (1991). 'Is depressive realism real?' *Clinical Psychology Review*, 11(5), pp.565-584.

Adler, A. (1929). *Problems of neurosis: A book of case histories*. London: Kegan, Paul, Trench, Truebner

Ahrens, A. H. (1991). 'Dysphoria and social comparison: Combining information regarding others' performances'. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 10, pp. 190–205.

Ahrens, A. H., Zeiss, A. M., and Kanfer, R. (1988). 'Depressive deficits in interpersonal standards, self-efficacy, and social comparison'. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 12, pp. 53–67.

Akhtar, S. (1996). "Someday..." and "if only..." fantasies: Pathological optimism and inordinate nostalgia as related forms of idealization'. *Journal of the American Psychoanalytic Association*, 44, pp. 723-753.

Akinola, M. and Mendes, W.B. (2008). 'The dark side of creativity: Biological vulnerability and negative emotions lead to greater artistic creativity'. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 34(12), pp. 1677-1686.

Alicke, M.D. and Govorun, O., (2005). 'The better-than-average effect'. *The self in social judgment*, 1, pp. 85-106.

Allen, B. and Lauterbach, D. (2007). 'Personality characteristics of adult survivors of childhood trauma'. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 20(4), pp. 587-595.

Alloy, L. B. and Abramson, L. Y. (1979). 'Judgment of contingency in depressed and nondepressed students: sadder but wiser?' *Journal of Experimental Psychology. General*, 108(4), pp. 441–485.

Alloy, L. B., and Abramson, L. Y. (1980). 'The cognitive component of human helplessness and depression: A critical analysis', in Garber, J. and Seligman, M.E.P. (eds.) *Human helplessness: Theory and application*, New York: Academic Press, pp. 59–70.

Alloy, L. B. and Abramson, L. Y. (1988). 'Depressive realism: four theoretical perspectives', in L. B. Alloy (ed.). *Cognitive Processes in Depression*, New York: Guilford Press, pp. 223-265.

Alloy, L. B., Abramson, L. Y., and Viscusi, D. (1981). 'Induced mood and the illusion of control'. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 41(6), pp. 1129–1140.

Alloy, L.B. and Seligman, M.E., (1979). 'On the cognitive component of learned helplessness and depression'. *Psychology of learning and motivation*, 13, pp. 219-276.

Allport, G.W. (1960). *The individual and his religion*. New York: Macmillan.

Amabile, T. (1983). The social psychology of creativity. New York: Springer-Verlag.

American Psychiatric Association (APA). (2013). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. 5th ed., Arlington: American Psychiatric Publishing.

Andreasen, N.C. (1987). 'Creativity and mental illness'. *American journal of Psychiatry*, 144(10), pp. 1288-1292.

Andreasen, N.C. (2005). *The creating brain: The neuroscience of genius*. Washington, DC: Dana Press.

Andreasen, N.J.C. and Canter, A. (1974). 'The creative writer: Psychiatric symptoms and family history'. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 15(2), pp. 123-131.

Anglina, D. M., Lightya, Q., Isaaca, K. and Ellmanb, L. M. (2013). 'Immigrant status, racial discrimination, and clinically high risk for psychosis among racial and ethnic minority youth'. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 54(8), pp. e15–e16.

Antrobus, M. and Bortolotti, L. (2016). 'Depressive delusions'. *Filosofia Unisinos*, 17(2), pp.192-201.

Aristotle, 'Problemata XXX', in: Barnes, J. (ed., 2014) *Complete Works of Aristotle, Volume* 1: *The Revised Oxford Translation*. Vol. 1. Princeton University Press.

Ashby, G. F., Isen, A. M. and Turken, A. U. (1999). 'A neuropsychological theory of positive affect and its influence on cognition'. *Psychological Review*, 106(3), pp. 529-550.

Baas, M., Nijstad, B.A., Boot, N.C. and De Dreu, C.K. (2016). 'Mad genius revisited: Vulnerability to psychopathology, biobehavioral approach-avoidance, and creativity'. *Psychological bulletin*, 142(6), pp.668-692.

Baer, J. (1999). 'Domains of creativity', in Runco, M.A. and Pritzer, S.R. (eds.), *Encyclopedia of creativity* (Vol. 1), San Diego, CA: Academic Press, pp. 591-596.

Baetz, M., Griffin, R., Bowen, R. and Marcoux, G. (2004). 'Spirituality and psychiatry in Canada: psychiatric practice compared with patient expectations'. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 49(4), pp. 265-271.

Bandura, A. (1989). 'Human agency in cognitive theory'. *American Psychologist* 44(9), pp. 1175-1184.

Bandura, A., (1986). 'The explanatory and predictive scope of self-efficacy theory'. *Journal* of social and clinical psychology, 4(3), pp. 359-373.

Bandura, A., Pastorelli, C., Barbaranelli, C. and Caprara, G.V. (1999). 'Self-efficacy pathways to childhood depression'. *Journal of Personality and social Psychology*, 76(2), pp. 258-269.

Banning M.J. (eds.), *Cognitive coping, families, and disability*. Baltimore: Paul H. Brookes Publishing, pp. 123-133.

Barnett, M.M., (2006). 'Does it hurt to know the worst?—psychological morbidity, information preferences and understanding of prognosis in patients with advanced cancer'. *Psycho-Oncology*, 15(1), pp. 44-55.

Bash, A. (2004). 'Spirituality: the emperor's new clothes?' *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 13(1), pp. 11-16.

Batey, M. and Furnham, A. (2008). 'The relationship between measures of creativity and schizotypy'. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 45(8), pp. 816-821.

Batson, C.D., Early, S. and Salvarani, G. (1997). 'Perspective taking: Imagining how another feels versus imaging how you would feel'. *Personality and social psychology bulletin*, 23(7), pp. 751-758.

Baumeister, R.F., Campbell, J.D., Krueger, J.I. and Vohs, K.D. (2005). 'Exploding the self-esteem myth'. *Scientific American*, 292(1), pp. 84-91.

Baumeister, R.F. and Leary, M.R. (1995). 'The need to belong: desire for interpersonal attachments as a fundamental human motivation'. *Psychological bulletin*, 117(3), pp. 497-529.

Baumeister, R. F., and Newman, L. S. (1994). 'Self-Regulation of Cognitive Inference and Decision Processes'. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 20, pp. 3–19.

Baumeister, R.F., Smart, L. and Boden, J.M. (1996). 'Relation of threatened egotism to violence and aggression: the dark side of high self-esteem'. *Psychological review*, 103(1), pp. 5-33.

Baumeister, R. F. Stillwell, A. M. and Heatherton, T. F. (1994). 'Guilt: An interpersonal approach'. *Psychological Bulletin*, 115(2), pp. 243-267.

Baumgardner, A. H. (1991). 'Claiming depressive symptoms as a self-handicap: A protective self-presentation strategy'. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, 12(1), pp. 97-113.

Beck, A. T. (1976). *Cognitive therapy and emotional disorders*. New York: International Universities Press.

Beck, A. T. (1967). *Depression: Clinical experimental and theoretical aspects*. New York: Harper & Row.

Beck, A. T. (1963). 'Thinking and depression: I. Idiosyncratic content and cognitive distortions'. *Archives of general psychiatry*, 9(4), pp. 324-333.

Beck, A. T. (1987). 'Cognitive models of depression'. *Journal of Cognitive Psychotherapy: An International Quarterly*, 1, pp. 5–37.

Beck, A.T., Emery, G. and Greenberg, R.L. (1985). Anxiety disorders and phobias: A cognitive approach. New York: Basic.

Beck, A. T., Rush, A. J., Shaw, B. F., and Emery, G. (1979). *Cognitive therapy of depression*. New York: Guilford Press.

Beevers, C.G. (2005). 'Cognitive vulnerability to depression: A dual process model'. *Clinical psychology review*, 25(7), pp. 975-1002.

Berglas, S. and Jones, E. E. (1978). 'Control of attributions about the self through self-handicapping strategies: The appeal of alcohol and the role of underachievement'. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 4(2), pp. 200-206.

Blair, R. J. R. (1997). 'Moral reasoning and the child with psychopathic tendencies'. *Personality and Indifferences*, 22, pp. 731–739.

Blanco, F., Matute, H., and Vadillo, M. (2012). 'Mediating Role of Activity Level in the Depressive Realism Effect'. *PLoS ONE*, 7(9), p.e46203.

Bloom, P., (2017). Against empathy: The case for rational compassion. London: Random House.

Boden, M.A. (1998). 'Creativity and artificial intelligence'. *Artificial Intelligence*, 103(1), pp. 347-356.

Bordini, E. J., Tucker, J. A., Vuchinich, R. E., and Rudd, E. J. (1986). 'Alcohol consumption as a self-handicapping strategy in women'. *Journal of abnormal psychology*, 95(4), pp. 346-349.

Borsboom, D. and Cramer, A.O. (2013). 'Network analysis: an integrative approach to the structure of psychopathology'. *Annual review of clinical psychology*, 9, pp. 91-121.

Bortolotti, L., (2010). *Delusions and other irrational beliefs*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Bortolotti, L., (2015a). 'Epistemic benefits of elaborated and systematized delusions in schizophrenia'. *The British journal for the philosophy of science*, 67(3), pp. 879-900.

Bortolotti, L. (2015b). 'The epistemic innocence of motivated delusions'. *Consciousness and cognition*, *33*, pp. 490-499.

Bortolotti, L., and Antrobus, M. (2015). 'Costs and benefits of realism and optimism'. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, 28(2), pp. 194-198.

Bortolotti, L. and Miyazono, K., (2016) 'The ethics of delusional belief'. *Erkenntnis*, 81(2), pp. 275-296.

Boyd, T. and Gumley, A., (2007). 'An experiential perspective on persecutory paranoia: A grounded theory construction'. *Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice*, 80(1), pp. 1-22.

Boydell, J., Bebbington, P., Bhavsar, V., Kravariti, E., van Os, J., Murray, R.M. and Dutta, R. (2013). 'Unemployment, ethnicity and psychosis'. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 127(3), pp. 202-209

Bransford, J.D. and Stein, B.S. (1984). *The IDEAL problem solver: A guide for improving thinking, learning, and creativity.* NY: WH Freeman and Company.

Brazier, D., (1995). Zen therapy: Transcending the sorrows of the human mind. New York: John Wiley & Sons.

Brehm, J.W. and Cohen, A.R. (1962). *Explorations in Cognitive Dissonance*. New York: John Wiley & Sons Inc.

Bridges, L.J. and Moore, K.A. (2002). *Religion and spirituality in childhood and adolescence*. Washington, DC: Child trends.

Brown, J. D. (1993). 'Coping with stress: The beneficial role of positive illusions', in Turnbull, A. P., Patterson, J. M., Behr, S. K., Murphy, D. L., Marquis, J. G. and Blue-Banning, M. J. (eds.) *Cognitive coping, families, and disability*. Baltimore: Paul H. Brookes Publishing, pp. 123-133.

Brown, G. K., Beck, A. T., Steer, R. A. and Grisham, J. R. (2000). 'Risk factors for suicide in psychiatric outpatients: A 20-year prospective study'. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 68, pp. 371–377.

Brown, K.W. and Ryan, R.M. (2003). 'The benefits of being present: mindfulness and its role in psychological well-being'. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 84(4), pp. 822-848.

Brown, R.P., Frances, A., Kocsis, J.H. and Mann, J.J. (1982). 'Psychotic vs. nonpsychotic depression: comparison of treatment response'. *The Journal of nervous and mental disease*, 170(10), pp. 635-637.

Burns, D.D. and Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (1992). 'Therapeutic empathy and recovery from depression in cognitive-behavioral therapy: a structural equation model'. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 60(3), pp. 441-449.

Bynum, J., and Scogin, F. (1996). 'The impact of dysfunctional attitudes on depressive realism'. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 15, pp. 305–317.

Cacioppo, J.T., Hawkley, L.C. and Thisted, R.A. (2010). 'Perceived social isolation makes me sad: 5-year cross-lagged analyses of loneliness and depressive symptomatology in the Chicago Health, Aging, and Social Relations Study'. *Psychology and aging*, 25(2), pp. 453-463.

Campbell, M.L. and Morrison, A.P. (2007). 'The relationship between bullying, psychoticlike experiences and appraisals in 14–16-year olds'. *Behaviour research and therapy*, 45(7), pp. 1579-1591.

Cantor-Graae, E. and Selten, J.-P. (2005). 'Schizophrenia and migration: A metaanalysis and review'. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 162(1), pp. 12–24.

Carr, A. (2004). 'Positive psychology: New worlds for old'. *Irish Psychologist*, 30 (11), pp. 278-279.

Carson, R. C. (1969). *Interaction concepts of personality*. Oxford, England: Aldine Publishing Co.

Carson, R. C., Hollon, S. D., and Shelton, R. C. (2010). 'Depressive realism and clinical depression'. *Behaviour research and therapy*, 48(4), pp. 257-265.

Cattaneo, A., Macchi, F., Plazzotta, G., Veronica, B., Bocchio-Chiavetto, L., Riva, M.A. and Pariante, C.M. (2015). 'Inflammation and neuronal plasticity: a link between childhood trauma and depression pathogenesis'. *Frontiers in cellular neuroscience*, *9*(40).

Clare, L., Nelis, S. M., Martyr, A., Roberts, J., Whitaker, C. J., Markova, I. S., and Morris, R. G. (2011). 'The influence of psychological, social and contextual factors on the expression and measurement of awareness in early-stage dementia: Testing a biopsychosocial model'. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 27, pp. 167–177.

Colvin, C. R., & Block, J. (1994). 'Do positive illusions foster mental health? An examination of the Taylor and Brown formulation'. *Psychological Bulletin*, 116(1), pp. 3-20.

Comstock, W.R., (1972). *The study of religion and primitive religions* (Vol. 1). New York: Harper Collins Publishers.

Costantini, G., Epskamp, S., Borsboom, D., Perugini, M., Mõttus, R., Waldorp, L.J. and Cramer, A.O. (2015). 'State of the aRt personality research: A tutorial on network analysis of personality data in R'. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 54, pp. 13-29.

Corlett, P.R., Murray, G.K., Honey, G.D., Aitken, M.R., Shanks, D.R., Robbins, T.W., Bullmore, E.T., Dickinson, A. and Fletcher, P.C. (2007). 'Disrupted prediction-error signal in psychosis: evidence for an associative account of delusions'. *Brain*, 130(9), pp. 2387-2400.

Cotton, S., Hoopes, A., and Larkin, E., (2004). 'The impact of adolescent spirituality and religiosity on depressive symptoms'. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 34(2), p. 114.

Cotton, S., Larkin, E., Hoopes, A., Cromer, B.A. and Rosenthal, S.L. (2005). 'The impact of adolescent spirituality on depressive symptoms and health risk behaviours'. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 36(6), pp. 529, e7-529.e14.

Cramer, D., and Jowett, S. (2010). 'Perceived empathy, accurate empathy and relationship satisfaction in heterosexual couples'. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 27(3), pp. 327–349.

Critchley, S. (2014) 'Abandon (nearly) all hope', *Opinionator*, 19 April. Available at: *https://opinionator.blogs.nytimes.com/2014/04/19/abandon-nearly-allhope/?mcubz=1* (Accessed: 14 September 2017).

Cropley M. and MacLeod, A. (2003). 'Dysphoria, attributional reasoning and future event probability'. *Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy* 10, pp. 220–227.

Crowe, S.F. (1996). 'The performance of schizophrenic and depressed subjects on tests of fluency: Support for a compromise in dorsolateral prefrontal functioning'. *Australian Psychologist*, 31(3), pp. 204-209.

Csikszentmihalyi, M. (1996). 'Society, culture, person: A systems view of creativity', in Sternberg, R.J. (ed.), *The nature of creativity*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 325-339.

Cummins, D. (2013). *Why Paul Bloom is wrong about empathy and morality*. Available at: https://www.psychologytoday.com/blog/good-thinking/201310/why-paul-bloom-is-wrong-about-empathy-and-morality (Accessed 25 October 2016).

Cunningham, M. R., Steinberg, J. and Grev, R. (1980). 'Wanting to and having to help: Separate motivations for positive mood and guilt-induced helping'. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 38, pp. 181-192.

Cusi, A.M., MacQueen, G.M., Spreng, R.N. and McKinnon, M.C. (2011). 'Altered empathic responding in major depressive disorder: relation to symptom severity, illness burden, and psychosocial outcome'. *Psychiatry research*, 188(2), pp. 231-236.

Dalmida, S.G. (2006). 'Spirituality, mental health, physical health, and health-related quality of life among women with HIV/AIDS: integrating spirituality into mental health care'. *Issues in mental health nursing*, 27(2), pp. 185-198.

Davies, M., Coltheart, M., Langdon, R. and Breen, N. (2001). 'Monothematic delusions: Towards a two-factor account'. *Philosophy, Psychiatry &Psychology*, 8(2), pp. 133-158.

Davis, M.H. (1994). Empathy: A social psychological approach. Boulder: Westview Press.

DeBono, A. and Muraven, M. (2013). 'Keeping it real: Self-control depletion increases accuracy, but decreases confidence for performance'. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 43(4), pp. 879–886.

De Castella, T. (2013). *Spiritual, but not religious*. Available at: http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/magazine-20888141, (Accessed 6 November 2014).

De Dreu, C.K., Baas, M. and Nijstad, B.A. (2008). 'Hedonic tone and activation level in the mood-creativity link: toward a dual pathway to creativity model'. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 94(5), p.739-756.

De La Ronde, C., and Swann, W. B. (1998). 'Partner verification: Restoring shattered images of our intimates'. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 75, pp. 374–382.

DeMonbreun, B. G., and Craighead, W. E. (1977). 'Distortion of perception and recall of positive and neutral feedback in depression'. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 1, pp. 311–329.

DeMoss, K., Milich, R. and DeMers, S. (1993). 'Gender, creativity, depression, and attributional style in adolescents with high academic ability'. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 21(4), pp. 455-467.

Dennard, D. O., and Hokanson, J. E. (1986). 'Performance on two cognitive tasks by dysphoric and nondysphoric students'. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 10, pp. 377–386.

Dietrich, A. (2004). 'The cognitive neuroscience of creativity'. *Psychonomic bulletin & review*, 11(6), pp. 1011-1026.

Dobson, K. S. and Pusch, D. (1995). 'A test of the depressive realism hypothesis in clinically depressed subjects'. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 19(2), pp. 179–194.

Donahue, M.J. and Benson, P.L. (1995). 'Religion and the well-being of adolescents'. *Journal of social issues*, 51(2), pp. 145-160.

Doolittle, B.R. and Farrell, M. (2004). 'The association between spirituality and depression in an urban clinic'. *Primary care companion to the Journal of clinical psychiatry*, 6(3), pp. 114-118.

Dozois, D.J. and Beck, A.T. (2008). 'Cognitive schemas, beliefs and assumptions'. *Risk factors in depression*, 1, pp. 121-143.

Eisenberg, N., and Strayer, J. (eds.) (1987). *Empathy and Its Development*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Elliot, A.J. and Devine, P.G. (1994). 'On the motivational nature of cognitive dissonance: Dissonance as psychological discomfort'. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 67(3), pp. 382-394.

Erikson, E., (1969). 'Identity and the life cycle [Special issue]'. Psychological Issues, 1.

Essa, E.L. (2012). Introduction to Early Childhood Education. Andover: Cengage Learning.

Eysenck, H. J. (1993). 'Creativity and personality: Suggestions for a theory'. *Psychological Inquiry*, 4, pp. 147-178.

Eysenck, H.J. (1995). *Genius: The natural history of creativity* (Vol. 12). Cambridge University Press.

Eysenck, M.W. (2013). Anxiety: The cognitive perspective. Hove, Psychology Press.

Fehring, R.J., Brennan, P.F. and Keller, M.L. (1987). 'Psychological and spiritual well-being in college students'. *Research in nursing & health*, 10(6), pp. 391-398.

Festinger, L. (1957). A Theory of Cognitive Dissonance. Stanford: Stanford University Press.

Festinger, L. (1962). 'Cognitive dissonance'. Scientific American, 207(4), pp. 93-106.

Fineberg, S.K. and Corlett, P.R. (2016). 'The doxastic shear pin: delusions as errors of learning and memory'. *Cognitive neuropsychiatry*, 21(1), pp. 73-89.

Fletcher, P.C. and Frith, C.D. (2009). 'Perceiving is believing: a Bayesian approach to explaining the positive symptoms of schizophrenia'. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience*, 10(1), pp. 48-58.

Folkman, S. (1997). 'Positive psychological states and coping with severe stress'. *Social science & medicine*, 45(8), pp. 1207-1221.

Ford, C.E. and Neale, J.M. (1985). 'Learned helplessness and judgments of control'. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 49(5), pp.1330-1336.

Frances, A., Brown, R.P., Kocsis, J.H. and Mann, J.J., (1981). 'Psychotic depression: a separate entity'. *Am J Psychiatry*, 138(6), pp. 831-833.

Frankl, V. (1967). *The doctor and the soul: From psychotherapy to logotherapy*. New York: Washington Square Press.

Frankl, V. (1978). The unheard cry for meaning. New York: Simon & Schuster.

Freeman, D. (2007). 'Suspicious minds: the psychology of persecutory delusions'. *Clinical psychology review*, 27(4), pp. 425-457.

Freeman, D.; Bentall, R. and Garety, P. (2008). *Persecutory delusions: Assessment, theory and treatment*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Freeman, D., Garety, P.A., Fowler, D., Kuipers, E., Bebbington, P.E. and Dunn, G. (2004). 'Why do people with delusions fail to choose more realistic explanations for their experiences? An empirical investigation'. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 72(4), pp.671-680.

Freeman, D., Garety, P.A. and Kuipers, E., (2001). 'Persecutory delusions: developing the understanding of belief maintenance and emotional distress'. *Psychological medicine*, 31(7), pp. 1293-1306.

Freud, S., 2012 (1928). The future of an illusion. Broadview Press.

Freud, S. (1917) *The Standard Edition of the Complete Psychological Works of Sigmund Freud*, vol. IV, London, Hogarth Press.

Friedel, J.M., Cortina, K.S., Turner, J.C. and Midgley, C., (2007). 'Achievement goals, efficacy beliefs and coping strategies in mathematics: The roles of perceived parent and teacher goal emphases'. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 32(3), pp. 434-458.

Fromm-Reichmann, F. (1959). 'Loneliness'. Psychiatry, 22(1), pp. 1-15.

Fulford, K. W. M. (2004). 'Facts/values', in Radden, J. (ed.) *The philosophy of psychiatry: A companion*, Oxford, New York: Oxford University Press, pp. 205-236.

Fulford, K. W. M. (2011). 'Bringing together values-based and evidence-based medicine: UK Department of Health Initiatives in the 'Personalization' of Care'. *Journal of evaluation in clinical practice*, 17(2), pp. 341-343.

Fulford, K.W.M. (2008). 'Values-based practice: a new partner to evidence-based practice and a first for psychiatry?'. *Mens Sana Monographs*, 6(1), pp. 10-21.

Galvez, J. F., Thommi, S., and Ghaemi, S. N. (2011). 'Positive aspects of mental illness: A review in bipolar disorder'. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 128(3), pp. 185–190.

Garcia-Retamero, R., Okan, Y., and Maldonado, A. (2015). 'The Impact of Depression on Self-Other Discrepancies in Decision Making'. *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making*, 28, pp. 89–100.

Gardner, H. (1993). Creating minds: An anatomy of creativity seen though the lives of Freud, Einstein, Picasso, Stravinsky, Eliot, Graham, and Gandhi. New York: Basic Books.

Garrett, N., Sharot, T., Faulkner, P., Korn, C. W., Roiser, J. P., and Dolan, R. J. (2014). 'Losing the rose tinted glasses: neural substrates of unbiased belief updating in depression'. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 8(August), pp. 1–9.

Gaudiano, B.A., Young, D., Chelminski, I. and Zimmerman, M. (2008). 'Depressive symptom profiles and severity patterns in outpatients with psychotic vs nonpsychotic major depression'. *Comprehensive psychiatry*, 49(5), pp.421-429.

Gayer-Anderson, C. and Morgan, C. (2013). 'Social networks, support and early psychosis: A systematic review'. *Epidemiology and Psychiatric Sciences*, 22(02), pp. 131–146.

Genia, V. and Shaw, D.G. (1991). 'Religion, intrinsic-extrinsic orientation, and depression'. *Review of religious research*, pp. 274-283.

George, L.K., Larson, D.B., Koenig, H.G. and McCullough, M.E. (2000). 'Spirituality and health: What we know, what we need to know'. *Journal of social and clinical psychology*, 19(1), pp. 102-116.

Gerrans, P. (2014). *The Measure of Madness*. Harvard, MIT Press.

Gerretsen, P., Flint, A.J., Whyte, E.M., Rothschild, A.J., Meyers, B.S., and Mulsant, B.H., (2015). 'Impaired insight into delusions predicts treatment outcome during a randomized controlled trial for Psychotic Depression (STOP-PD study)'. *The Journal of clinical psychiatry*, 76(4), pp. 427-433.

Ghaemi, S.N. (2010). *The rise and fall of the biopsychosocial model: reconciling art and science in psychiatry*. Baltimore: JHU Press.

Ghaemi, N. (2011). A first-rate madness: Uncovering the links between leadership and mental illness. New York: Penguin.

Goetzmann, W.N. and Peles, N. (1997). 'Cognitive dissonance and mutual fund investors'. *Journal of Financial Research*, 20(2), pp. 145-158.

Golin, S., Terrell, F., and Johnson, B. (1977). 'Depression and the illusion of control'. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 86, pp. 440–442.

Gombrich, E. H. (1980). 'Four theories of artistic expression', in Woodfield, R. (ed.), *Gombrich on art and psychology*, Manchester: Manchester University Press, pp. 141–155.

Goodwin, F.K. and Jamison, K.R. (1990). *Manic-depressive illness*. New York: Oxford University Press.

Gordon, A. M., Tuskeviciute, R., and Chen, S. (2013). 'A multimethod investigation of depressive symptoms, perceived understanding, and relationship quality'. *Personal Relationships*, 20, pp. 635–654.

Gotlib, I. H. (1983). 'Perception and recall of interpersonal feedback: Negative bias in depression'. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 7, pp. 399–412.

Gotlib, I. H., and Meltzer, S. J. (1987). 'Depression and the perception of social skill in dyadic interaction'. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 11, pp. 41–54.

Greenberg, J. (1985). 'Unattainable Goal Choice as a Self-Handicapping Strategy'. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 15(2), pp. 140-152.

Greenwald, A. G. (1980). 'The totalitarian ego: Fabrication and revision of personal history'. *American Psychologist.* 35, pp. 603-618.

Griffiths, O., Langdon, R., Le Pelley, M.E. and Coltheart, M. (2014). 'Delusions and prediction error: re-examining the behavioural evidence for disrupted error signalling in delusion formation'. *Cognitive neuropsychiatry*, 19(5), pp. 439-467.

Gruber, H. E. (1981). *Darwin on man: A psychological study of scientific creativity*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Guilford, J. P. (1950). 'Creativity'. American Psychologist, 5, pp. 444-454.

Guilford, J.P. (1982). 'Is some creative thinking irrational?' *The Journal of Creative Behavior*, 16(3), pp. 151-154.

Hagerty, B.M. and Williams, A. (1999). 'The effects of sense of belonging, social support, conflict, and loneliness on depression'. *Nursing research*, 48(4), pp. 215-219.

Hales, R.E. and Yudofsky, S.C. (eds.). (2003). *Textbook of Clinical Psychiatry*. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Publishing.

Hankin, B.L. and Abramson, L.Y. (2001). 'Development of gender differences in depression: An elaborated cognitive vulnerability – transactional stress theory'. *Psychological bulletin*, 127(6), pp. 773-796. Harmon-Jones, E. (2002). 'A cognitive dissonance theory perspective on persuasion', in: Dillard, J.P. and Pfau, M. (eds.), *The persuasion handbook: Developments in theory and practice*, Thousands Oaks, Sage Publications, pp. 99-116.

Harris, R. N. and Snyder, C. R. (1986). 'The role of uncertain self-esteem in self-handicapping'. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 51(2), pp. 451-458.

Haselton, M.G. and Nettle, D., (2006). 'The paranoid optimist: An integrative evolutionary model of cognitive biases'. *Personality and social psychology Review*, 10(1), pp. 47-66.

Hawkley, L.C. and Cacioppo, J.T. (2010). 'Loneliness matters: a theoretical and empirical review of consequences and mechanisms'. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 40(2), pp. 218-227.

Hay, D. F. and Pawlby, S. (2003). 'Prosocial development in relation to children's and mothers' psychological problems.' *Child Development*, 74(5), pp. 1314–1327.

Heider, F., (1946). 'Attitudes and cognitive organization'. *The Journal of psychology*, 21(1), pp. 107-112.

Heim, C., Newport, D.J., Mletzko, T., Miller, A.H. and Nemeroff, C.B. (2008). 'The link between childhood trauma and depression: insights from HPA axis studies in humans'. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 33(6), pp. 693-710.

Higgins, R. L., Snyder, C. R., and Berglas, S. (2013). *Self-handicapping: The paradox that isn't*. New York: Springer Science & Business Media.

Hill, J., (2003). 'Childhood trauma and depression'. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, 16(1), pp. 3-6.

Hills, J., Paice, J.A., Cameron, J.R. and Shott, S. (2005). 'Spirituality and distress in palliative care consultation'. *Journal of palliative medicine*, 8(4), pp. 782-788.

Hodge, D.R., Cardenas, P. and Montoya, H. (2001). 'Substance use: Spirituality and religious participation as protective factors among rural youths'. *Social Work Research*, 25(3), pp. 153-161.

Hodges, S. (2002). 'Mental health, depression, and dimensions of spirituality and religion'. *Journal of Adult Development*, 9(2), pp. 109-115.

Hoerger, M., Quirk, S. W., Chapman, B. P., and Duberstein, P. R. (2012). 'Affective forecasting and self-rated symptoms of depression, anxiety, and hypomania: Evidence for a dysphoric forecasting bias'. *Cognition & Emotion*, 26(6), pp. 1098–1106.

Hoffman, M. (2000) *Empathy and Moral Development*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Houellebecq, M. (2006). *The Possibility of an Island*, trans. Gavin Bowd, New York: Vintage International.

Hume, D. (1978). *A Treatise of Human Nature*, 1739, 2d edition of 1888, edited by LA Selby Bigge, revised by PH Nidditch.

Hume, D. (2006/1751). *An enquiry concerning the principles of morals* (Vol. 4). Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Hurt, C.S., Burn, D.J., Hindle, J., Samuel, M., Wilson, K., and Brown, R.G., (2014). 'Thinking positively about chronic illness: An exploration of optimism, illness perceptions and well-being in patients with Parkinson's disease'. *British journal of health psychology*, 19(2), pp. 363-379.

Idler, E.L. (1987). 'Religious involvement and the health of the elderly: Some hypothesis and an initial test'. *Social Forces*, 66(1), pp. 226-1238.

Ingersoll, R.E. (1994). 'Spirituality, religion, and counseling: Dimensions and relationships'. *Counseling and values*, 38(2), pp. 98-111.

Ingram, R.E. (ed.). (2009). *The International Encyclopedia of Depression*. New York, Springer Publishing Company,

Ingram, R.E. (1984). 'Toward an information-processing analysis of depression'. *Cognitive therapy and research*, 8(5), pp. 443-477.

Ingram, R.E., Miranda, J. and Segal, Z.V. (1998). *Cognitive Vulnerability to Depression*. New York: Guilford.

Isaacowitz, D. M. and Seligman, M. E. P. (2001). 'Is pessimism a risk factor for depressive mood among community-dwelling older adults?' *Behaviour research and therapy*, 39(3), pp. 255-272.

Isen, A.M. (1987). 'Positive affect, cognitive processes, and social behavior'. Advances in experimental social psychology, 20, pp. 203-253.

Isen, A.M. (2000). 'Some perspectives on positive affect and self-regulation'. *Psychological Inquiry*, 11(3), pp. 184-187.

Ivcevic, Z. (2007). 'Artistic and everyday creativity: An act-frequency approach'. *The Journal of Creative Behavior*, 41(4), pp. 271-290.

Jackson, M. and Fulford, K. W. M. (2002). 'Psychosis good and bad: Values-based practice and the distinction between pathological and nonpathological forms of psychotic experience'. *Philosophy, Psychiatry, & Psychology, 9*(4), pp. 387-394.

Jahoda, M. (1958). Current concepts of positive mental health. New York: Basic Books.

Jahoda, M. (1953). 'The meaning of psychological health'. Social Casework, 34, pp. 349-354.

Jain, K., Bearden, J. N., and Filipowicz, A. (2013). 'Depression and forecast accuracy: Evidence from the 2010 FIFA World Cup'. *International Journal of Forecasting*, 29(1), pp. 69–79.

James, I.A., Reichelt, F.K., Freeston, M.H. and Barton, S.B. (2007). 'Schemas as memories: Implications for treatment'. *Journal of Cognitive Psychotherapy*, 21(1), pp. 51-57.

Jamison, K.R. (1995). 'Manic-depressive illness and creativity'. *Scientific American*, 272(2), pp. 62-67.

Jamison, K. R. (1989). 'Mood disorders and patterns of creativity in British writers and artists'. *Psychiatry*, 52, pp. 125–134.

Jamison, K.R. (1993). 'Suicide and Manic-Depressive Illness in Artists & Writers', in *National Forum* (Vol. 73, No. 1, p. 28). Honor Society of Phi Kappa Phi.

Jamison, K.R. (1996). *Touched with fire*. New York: Simon and Schuster.

Janka, Z., (2004). 'Artistic creativity and bipolar mood disorder'. *Orvosi hetilap*, 145(33), pp. 1709-1718.

Jaspers, K. (1963). General Psychopathology. Manchester: Manchester University Press.

Jaya, E.S., Hillmann, T.E., Reininger, K.M., Gollwitzer, A. and Lincoln, T.M. (2017). 'Loneliness and psychotic symptoms: The mediating role of depression'. *Cognitive therapy and research*, 41(1), pp. 106-116.

Jazaieri, H. and Shapiro, S. (2017). 'Mindfulness and Well-Being'. In *The Happy Mind:* Cognitive Contributions to Well-Being, Springer, Cham, pp. 41-58.

Jefferson, A., (2017). 'Born to be biased? Unrealistic optimism and error management theory'. *Philosophical Psychology*, pp. 1-17.

Jeffery, B. (2011). *Anti-matter: Michel Houellebecq and Depressive Realism*. Alresfort: John Hunt Publishing.

Johnson, S.L., Murray, G., Fredrickson, B., Youngstrom, E.A., Hinshaw, S., Bass, J.M., Deckersbach, T., Schooler, J. and Salloum, I. (2012). 'Creativity and bipolar disorder: touched by fire or burning with questions?' *Clinical psychology review*, 32(1), pp. 1-12.

Joiner Jr., T. E. and Timmons, K. A. (2008) 'Depression in its interpersonal context', in Gotlib, C. L. and Hammen, C. L. (eds.) *Handbook of Depression*. Guilford Press, pp. 322–339.

Jones, W. H., Kugler, K. and Adams, P. (1995). 'You always hurt the one you love: Guilt and transgressions against relationship partners', in Fischer, K. and Tangner, J. (eds.) *Self*-conscious emotion, New York: Guilford Press, pp. 301-321.

Jung, C. G. (1933). Modern man in search of a soul. New York: Harcourt-Brace.

Jung, C. G. (1958). *The undiscovered self*. Boston: Little & Brown.

Kabat-Zinn, J. (1990). Full catastrophe living: Using the wisdom of your body and mind to face stress, pain and illness. New York: Dell Publishing.

Kapci, E. G. and Cramer, D. (1998). 'The accuracy of dysphoric and nondepressed groups' predictions of life events'. *Journal of Psychology: Interdisciplinary and Applied*, 132, pp. 659–670.

Kaplan, A. and Midgley, C., (1999). 'The relationship between perceptions of the classroom goal structure and early adolescents' affect in school: The mediating role of coping strategies'. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 11(2), pp. 187-212.

Kaufman, J. C. (2009). Creativity 101. New York: Springer.

Kaufman, J.C. (ed.) (2014). Creativity and mental illness. Cambridge University Press.

Kaufman, J. C. (2003). 'The cost of the muse: Poets die young'. *Death Studies*, 27, pp. 813–821.

Kaufman, J.C. (2001). 'The Sylvia Plath effect: Mental illness in eminent creative writers'. *The Journal of Creative Behavior*, 35(1), pp. 37-50.

Kaufman, J.C. and Baer, J. (2002). 'Could Steven Spielberg manage the Yankees?: Creative thinking in different domains'. *Korean Journal of Thinking and Problem Solving*, 12(2), pp. 5-14.

Kaufman, J.C. and Baer, J. (2004). 'Sure, I'm creative—but not in mathematics!: Self-reported creativity in diverse domains'. *Empirical studies of the Arts*, 22(2), pp. 143-155.

Kaufman, J. C. and Sexton, J. D. (2006). 'Why doesn't writing cure help poets?' *Review of General Psychology*, 10(3), pp. 268–282.

Keller, P. A., Lipkus, I. M., and Rimer, B. K. (2002). 'Depressive realism and health risk accuracy: The negative consequences of positive mood'. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 29(1), pp. 57-69.

Kelly, B.D., O'Callaghan, E., Waddington, J.L., Feeney, L., Browne, S., Scully, P.J., Clarke, M., Quinn, J.F., McTigue, O., Morgan, M.G. and Kinsella, A. (2010). 'Schizophrenia and the city: A review of literature and prospective study of psychosis and urbanicity in Ireland'. *Schizophrenia research*, 116(1), pp. 75-89.

Kessler, R.C., McGonagle, K.A., Zhao, S., Nelson, C.B., Hughes, M., Eshleman, S., Wittchen, H.U. and Kendler, K.S. (1994). 'Lifetime and 12-month prevalence of DSM-III-R psychiatric disorders in the United States: results from the National Comorbidity Survey'. *Archives of general psychiatry*, 51(1), pp. 8-19.

Kimbrel, N. A. (2008). 'A model of the development and maintenance of generalized social phobia'. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 28, pp. 592–612.

Kinney, D. K. and Richards, R. L. (2007). 'Artistic Creativity and Affective Disorders: Are They Connected?' in Martindale, C., Locher, P. and Petrov, V.M. (eds.), *Foundations and frontiers in aesthetics. Evolutionary and neurocognitive approaches to aesthetics, creativity and the arts,* Amityville, NY: Baywood, pp. 225-237.

Klimes-Dougan, B. and Bolger, A. K. (1998). 'Coping with maternal depressed affect and depression: adolescent children of depressed and well mothers'. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 27(1), pp. 1–15.

Koenig, H.G., and Larson, D.B. (2001). 'Religion and mental health: Evidence for an association'. *International review of psychiatry*, 13(2), pp. 67-78.

Koenig, H.G., Smiley, M. and Gonzales, J.A.P. (1988). *Religion, health, and aging: A review and theoretical integration* (Vol. 10). Praeger Pub Text.

Korn, C. W., Sharot, T., Walter, H., Heekeren, H. R., and Dolan, R. J. (2014). 'Depression is related to an absence of optimistically biased belief updating about future life events'. *Psychological Medicine*, *44*, pp. 579–92.

Kraus, A. (1983). 'Schizo-affective psychoses from a phenomenological-anthropological point of view'. *Psychopathology*, 16(2-4), pp.265-274.

Kuiper, N. A. (1978). 'Depression and causal attributions for success and failure'. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 36(3), pp. 236-246.

Kunda, Z. (1990). 'The case for motivated reasoning'. *Psychological Bulletin*, 108(3), pp. 480-498.

Kundera, M. (1988). *The art of the novel* (Grove Press, Trans.). New York, NY: Harper & Row Publishers. (Original work published 1986).

Lammers, C., Ireland, M., Resnick, M. and Blum, R. (2000). 'Influences on adolescents' decision to postpone onset of sexual intercourse: a survival analysis of virginity among youths aged 13 to 18 years'. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 26(2000), pp. 42-48.

Lange, C. and Irle, E. (2004). 'Enlarged amygdala volume and reduced hippocampal volume in young women with major depression'. *Psychological Medicine*, 34(6), pp. 1059-1064.

Langer, E. J. (1975). 'The illusion of control'. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 32(2), pp. 311-328.

Lauronen, E., Veijola, J., Isohanni, I., Jones, P.B., Nieminen, P. and Isohanni, M. (2004). 'Links between creativity and mental disorder'. *Psychiatry: Interpersonal and Biological Processes*, 67(1), pp. 81-98.

Lazarus, R. S. (1983). 'The costs and benefits of denial', in S. Benitz (ed.) *Denial of stress*, New York: International Universities Press, pp. 1-30.

Lazarus, R.S., (1998). 'The stress and coping paradigm', in: *Fifty years of the research and theory of RS Lazarus: An analysis of historical and perennial Issues*, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, pp.182-220.

Lench, H. C. and Bench, S. W. (2012). 'Automatic optimism: Why people assume their futures will be bright'. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 6(4), pp. 347-360.

Linscott, R. J. and van Os, J. (2013). 'An updated and conservative systematic review and meta-analysis of epidemiological evidence on psychotic experiences in children and adults: On the pathway from proneness to persistence to dimensional expression across mental disorders'. *Psychological Medicine*, 43(6), pp. 1133–1149.

Linville, P.W. (1982). 'The complexity–extremity effect and age-based stereotyping'. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 42(2), pp.193-211.

Lipps, T. (1979). 'Empathy, inner imitation and sense-feelings', in Rader, M. (ed.) *A modern book of esthetics*, 5th ed., New York: Harcourt College, pp. 374-382.

Lobitz, W. C., and Post, R. D. (1979). 'Parameters of self-reinforcement and depression'. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 88, pp. 33–41.

Lombroso, C. (1891). The man of genius. London: Walter Scott.

Long, E. C. J. (1993). 'Maintaining a stable marriage: Perspective taking as a predictor of a propensity to divorce'. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, 21, pp. 121–138.

Long, E. C. J., and Andrews, D. W. (1990). 'Perspective taking as a predictor of marital adjustment'. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 59, pp. 126–131.

Ludwig, A. M. (1992). 'Creative achievement and psychopathology: Comparison among professions'. *American Journal of Psychotherapy*, 46, pp. 330–357.

Ludwig, A.M. (1994). 'Mental illness and creative activity in female writers'. *The American journal of psychiatry*, 151(11), pp.1650-1656.

Ludwig, A. M. (1995). *The price of greatness: Resolving the creativity and madness controversy*. New York, NY: The Guilford Press.

Martin, D. J., Abramson, L. Y., and Alloy, L. B. (1984). 'Illusion of control for self and others in depressed and nondepressed college students'. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 46, pp. 125–136.

Martin, G. B. and Clark, III, R. D. (1982). 'Distress crying in neonates: species and peer specificity'. *Developmental Psychology*, 18, pp. 3–9.

Martin, J.R., (1997). 'Mindfulness: A proposed common factor'. *Journal of Psychotherapy integration*, 7(4), pp. 291-312.

Martin, L.L. and Tesser, A. (1996). 'Some ruminative thoughts'. Advances in social cognition, 9, pp. 1-47.

Martindale, C. (1999). 'Biological bases of creativity', in Sternberg, R.J. (ed.) *Handbook of creativity*, 2, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 137-152.

Martindale, C. (1995). 'Creativity and connectionism', in Smith, S.M, Ward, T.B. and Finke, R.A. (eds.), *The creative cognition approach*, Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, pp. 249-268.

Mascaro, N. and Rosen, D.H. (2006). 'The role of existential meaning as a buffer against stress'. *Journal of Humanistic Psychology*, 46(2), pp. 168-190.

Maslow, A. H. (1950). 'Self-actualizing people: a study of psychological health'. *Personality, Symposium* 1, pp. 11-34.

Maslow, A. H. (1971). The farther reaches of human nature. New York: Viking.

Masto, M. (2015). 'Empathy and its role in morality'. *The Southern Journal of Philosophy*, 53(1), pp. 74-96.

Matlin, M. and Stang, D. (1978). The Pollyanna principle. Cambridge, MA: Schenkman.

Mauritzen, J. (1988). 'Pastoral care for the dying and bereaved'. *Death studies*, 12(2), pp. 111-122.

Mayberg, H. S. (1997). 'Limbic–cortical dysregulation: A proposed model of depression'. *Journal of Neuropsychiatry & Clinical Neuroscience*, 9(3), pp. 471-481.

McCormick, M.S., (2017). 'Rational hope'. *Philosophical Explorations*, 20(sup1), pp. 127-141.

McCoubrie, R.C. and Davies, A.N. (2006). 'Is there a correlation between spirituality and anxiety and depression in patients with advanced cancer?' *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 14(4), pp. 379-385.

McCree, D.H., Wingood, G.M., DiClemente, R., Davies, S. and Harrington, K.F. (2003). 'Religiosity and risky sexual behavior in African-American adolescent females'. *Journal of adolescent health*, 33(1), pp. 2-8.

McFarlane, A.H., Bellissimo, A. and Norman, G.R. (1995). 'The role of family and peers in social self-efficacy: links to depression in adolescence'. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 65(3), pp. 402-410.

McKay, R.T. and Dennett, D.C., (2009). 'Our evolving beliefs about evolved misbelief'. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 32(6), pp. 541-561.

McKendree-Smith, N. and Scogin, F. (2000). 'Depressive realism: Effects of depression severity and interpretation time'. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 56(12), pp. 1601-1608.

Mednick, S. A. (1962). 'The associative basis of the creative process'. *Psychological Review*, 69, pp. 220-232.

Meeks, B. S., Hendrick, S. S., and Hendrick, C. (1998). 'Communication, love and relationship satisfaction'. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 15, pp. 755–773.

Meichenbaum, D. (1977). *Cognitive-behavior modification: An integrative approach*. New York: Springer Science & Business Media.

Meltzer, H., Bebbington, P., Dennis, M.S., Jenkins, R., McManus, S. and Brugha, T.S. (2013). 'Feelings of loneliness among adults with mental disorder'. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 48(1), pp. 5-13.

Miceli, M. (1992). 'How to make someone feel guilty: Strategies of guilt inducement and their goals'. Journal for the Theory of Social Behaviour, 22(1), pp. 81-104.

Miller, A. (2012). *The untouched key: Tracing childhood trauma in creativity and destructiveness*. New York: Anchor.

Miller, J.F. (1985). 'Assessment of loneliness and spiritual well-being in chronically ill and healthy adults'. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 1(2), pp. 79-85.

Miller, L. and Gur, M. (2002). 'Religiosity, depression, and physical maturation in adolescent girls'. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 41(2), pp. 206-214.

Mishara, A.L. (2009). 'Klaus Conrad (1905–1961): delusional mood, psychosis, and beginning schizophrenia'. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 36(1), pp. 9-13.

Mishara, A.L. and Corlett, P. (2009). 'Are delusions biologically adaptive? Salvaging the doxastic shear pin'. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 32(6), pp. 530-531.

Mitchell, D. (2008) Cloud atlas. London: Hachette.

Miyazono, K., Bortolotti, L. and Broome, M.R. (2014). 'Prediction-error and two-factor theories of delusion formation'. *Aberrant Beliefs and Reasoning*, in Galbraith, N. (ed.) *Aberrant Beliefs and Reasoning*. Hove: Psychology Press, pp. 34-54.

Mohr, S., Brandt, P.Y., Borras, L., Gilliéron, C. and Huguelet, P. (2006). 'Toward an integration of spirituality and religiousness into the psychosocial dimension of schizophrenia'. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 163(11), pp. 1952-1959.

Modell, A. H. (1971). 'The origin of certain forms of pre-oedipal guilt and the implications for apsychoanalytic theory of affects'. *International Journal of Psychoanalysis*, 52, pp. 337–346.

Mograbi, D. C., and Morris, R. G. (2014). 'On the relation among mood, apathy, and anosognosia in Alzheimer's disease'. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society : JINS*, 20, pp. 2–7.

Moore, M. T., and Fresco, D. M. (2007). 'Depressive realism and attributional style: Implications for individuals at risk for depression'. *Behavior Therapy*, 38, pp. 144–154.

Moore, M. T., and Fresco, D. M. (2012). 'Depressive realism: A meta-analytic review'. *Clinical psychology review*, 32(6), pp. 496-509.

Moran, G. and Diamond, G. (2008). 'Generating nonnegative attitudes among parents of depressed adolescents: The power of empathy, concern, and positive regard'. *Psychotherapy Research*, 18(1), pp. 97-107.

Morgan, C., Kirkbride, J., Hutchinson, G., Craig, T., Morgan, K., Dazzan, P., Boydell, J., Doody, G.A., Jones, P.B., Murray, R.M. and Leff, J. (2008). 'Cumulative social disadvantage, ethnicity and first-episode psychosis: a case-control study'. *Psychological medicine*, 38(12), pp. 1701-1715.

Mueller, P.S., Plevak, D.J. and Rummans, T.A. (2001). 'Religious involvement, spirituality, and medicine: implications for clinical practice'. *Mayo clinic proceedings* 76(12), pp. 1225-1235, Elsevier.

Murray, S.L. and Holmes, J.G., (1997).' A leap of faith? Positive illusions in romantic relationships'. *Personality and social psychology Bulletin*, 23(6), pp. 586-604.

Murray, G. and Johnson, S.L. (2010). 'The clinical significance of creativity in bipolar disorder'. *Clinical psychology review*, 30(6), pp. 721-732.

Neeleman, J. and Power, M.J. (1994). 'Social support and depression in three groups of psychiatric patients and a group of medical controls'. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 29(1), pp. 46-51.

Nelson, J.C. and Bowers, M.B. (1978). 'Delusional unipolar depression: description and drug response'. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 35(11), pp. 1321-1328.

Nelson, R. E., and Craighead, W. E. (1977). 'Selective recall of positive and negative feedback, self-control behaviors and depression'. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 86, pp. 379–388.

Nemeroff, C.B., Heim, C.M., Thase, M.E., Klein, D.N., Rush, A.J., Schatzberg, A.F., Ninan, P.T., McCullough, J.P., Weiss, P.M., Dunner, D.L. and Rothbaum, B.O. (2003). 'Differential responses to psychotherapy versus pharmacotherapy in patients with chronic forms of major depression and childhood trauma'. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100(24), pp.14293-14296.

Neumeister, M. D., Charney, D. and Drevets, W. C. (2004). *NIMH Mood and Anxiety Disorders Program, and colleagues, report on their positron emission tomography (PET) scan study.* Available at: http://www.nih.gov/news/pr/aug2004/nimh-03.htm (Accessed 10 December 2014).

Niederland, W.G., (1961). 'The problem of the survivor'. *Journal of the Hillside Hospital*, 10, pp. 233-247.

Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (1991). 'Responses to depression and their effects on the duration of depressive episodes'. *Journal of abnormal psychology*, 100(4), p. 569-582.

Nolen-Hoeksema, S., Larson, J. and Grayson, C. (1999). 'Explaining the gender difference in depression'. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 77, pp. 1061–1072.

Nolen-Hoeksema, S. and Morrow, J. (1993). 'Effects of rumination and distraction on naturally occurring depressed mood'. *Cognition & Emotion*, 7(6), pp. 561-570.

Norem, J. K. and Cantor, N. (1986a). 'Anticipatory and post hoc cushioning strategies: Optimism and defensive pessimism in "risky" situations'. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 10(3), pp. 347–362.

Norem, J. K. and Cantor, N. (1986b). 'Defensive pessimism: harnessing anxiety as motivation'. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 51(6), pp. 1208–1217.

O'Connor, L. E. (2000). 'Pathogenic beliefs and guilt in human evolution: implications for psychotherapy', in Gilbert, P. and Bailey, K.G. (eds.), *Genes on the Couch: Explorations in Evolutionary Psychology*. London: Brunner-Routledge, pp. 276–303.

O'Connor, L. E., Berry, J. W., Lewis, T., Mulherin, K., and Crisostomo, P. S. (2007). 'Empathy and depression: The moral system on overdrive', in Farrow, T. and Woodruff, P. (eds.) *Empathy in mental illness*, New York, Cambridge University Press, pp. 49-75. O'Connor, L.E., Berry, J.W., Lewis, T.B. and Stiver, D.J., (2012). 'Empathy-based pathogenic guilt, pathological altruism, and psychopathology', in Oakley, B., Knafo, A., Madhavan, G. and Wilson, D.S. (eds)., *Pathological altruism*. New York: Oxford University Press, pp. 10-30.

O'Connor, L. E., Berry, J. W., Weiss, J., Bush, M. and Sampson, H. (1997). 'Survivor guilt. The development of a new measure'. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 53(1), pp. 73–89

O'Connor, L.E., Berry, J.W., Weiss, J. and Gilbert, P. (2002). 'Guilt, fear, submission, and empathy in depression'. *Journal of affective disorders*, 71(1), pp. 19-27.

Olszewski, M. E. (1994). *The effect of religious coping on depression and anxiety in adolescents*. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Corvallis, OR: Valley Library.

Pagani, M., Gardner, A., Salmaso, D., Crespo, A.S., Jonsson, C., Jacobsson, H., Lindberg, G., Wägner, A., Hällström, T. and Larsson, S.A. (2004). 'Principal component and volume of interest analyses in depressed patients imaged by 99mTc-HMPAO SPET: a methodological comparison'. *European Journal of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging*, 31(7), pp. 995–1004.

Pargament, K. (1997). The Psychology of Religion and Coping, New York: Guilford Press.

Parker, G., Roy, K., Hadzi-Pavlovic, D. and Pedic, F. (1992). 'Psychotic (delusional) depression: a meta-analysis of physical treatments'. *Journal of affective disorders*, 24(1), pp. 17-24.

Parnas, J. (2013). 'On psychosis: Karl Jaspers and beyond', in: Stanghellini, G. and Fuchs, T. (eds.) *One century of Karl Jaspers' general psychopathology*. Oxford, New York: Oxford University Press, pp. 204-228.

Parnas, J. and Sass, L.A. (2001). 'Self, solipsism, and schizophrenic delusions'. *Philosophy*, *Psychiatry*, & *Psychology*, 8(2), pp. 101-120.

Pérez, J. E., Little, T.D. and Henrich, C.C. (2009). 'Spirituality and depressive symptoms in a school-based sample of adolescents: A longitudinal examination of mediated and moderated effects'. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 44(4), pp. 380-386.

Peterson, C. (2000). 'The future of optimism'. American Psychologist, 55(1), pp. 44-55.

Piaget, J. (1977). *The development of thought: Equilibration of cognitive structures. (Trans A. Rosin).* New York: Viking Press.

Pollmann, M. M. H., and Finkenauer, C. (2009). 'Investigating the role of two types of understanding in relationship well-being: Understanding is more important than knowledge'. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 35, pp. 1512–1527.

Pressman, P., Lyons, J.S., Larson, D.B. and Strain, J.J. (1990). 'Religious belief, depression, and ambulation status in elderly women with broken hips'. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 147(6), pp. 758-760.

Presson, P. K., and Benassi, V. A. (2003). 'Are depressive symptoms positively or negatively associated with the illusion of control?'. *Social Behavior and Personality: an international journal*, 31(5), pp. 483-495.

Prinz, J. (2011a) 'Is empathy necessary for morality?' in Coplan, A. and Goldie, P. (eds.) *Empathy: Philosophical and psychological perspectives*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 211-229.

Prinz, J. (2011b). 'Against empathy'. *The Southern Journal of Philosophy*, 49(s1), pp. 214-233.

Puchalski, C.M. (1999). *Touching the spirit: The essence of healing*. Available at: http://www.findarticles.com/p/articles/mi_qa3885/is_199910/ai_n8858940 (Accessed: 6 November 2014).

Pyszczynski, T., Holt, K., and Greenberg, J. (1987). 'Depression, self-focused attention, and expectancies for positive and negative future life events for self and others'. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 52, pp. 994–1001.

Radden, J. (2010). On Delusion. New York: Routledge.

Radden, J. and Varga, S. (2013). 'The epistemological value of depression memoirs: A metaanalysis', in Fulford, K.W.M., Davies, M., Gipps, R.G.T., Graham, G., Sadler, J.Z., Stanghellini, G., and Thornton, T. (eds.) *Oxford Handbook of Philosophy and Psychiatry*, Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 99-115.

Ramachandran, V.S. (2003). *The emerging mind: the Reith Lectures 2003*, London: Profile Books.

Ratcliffe, M. (2014). *Experiences of depression: A study in phenomenology*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Ratcliffe, M. (2008). *Feelings of being: Phenomenology, psychiatry and the sense of reality.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Richards, R.L. (1994). 'Creativity and bipolar mood swings. Why the association?' in Shaw, M. P. and Runco, M. A. (eds.). *Creativity research. Creativity and affect.* Westport, CT: Ablex Publishing, pp. 44-72.

Robins, R.W. and Beer, J.S. (2001). 'Positive illusions about the self: short-term benefits and long-term costs'. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 80(2), pp. 340-352.

Rothenberg, A. (1990). *Creativity and madness: New findings and old stereotypes*. Johns Hopkins University Press.

Rothschild, A.J., Bates, K.S., Boehringer, K.L. and Syed, A. (1999). 'Olanzapine response in psychotic depression'. *The Journal of clinical psychiatry*, 60(2), pp. 116-118.

Rotter, J.B. (1966). 'Generalized expectancies for internal versus external control of reinforcement'. *Psychological monographs: General and applied*, 80(1), p.1-28.

Rozensky, R. H., Rehm, L. P., Pry, G., and Roth, D. (1977). 'Depression and self reinforcement behavior in hospitalized patients'. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 8, pp. 35–38.

Runco, M. (2004). 'Personal creativity and culture', in Lau, S., Hui, A.H. and Ng, G.Y (eds.) *Creativity: When east meets west*, Singapore: World Scientific Publishing, pp. 9-21.

Russell, D., Cutrona, C.E., Rose, J. and Yurko, K. (1984). 'Social and emotional loneliness: an examination of Weiss's typology of loneliness'. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 46(6), pp. 1313-1321.

Ryan, R.M. and Deci, E.L. (2000). 'Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being'. *American psychologist*, 55(1), pp.68-78.

Sagi, A. and Hoffman, M. L. (1976). 'Empathic distress in the newborn'. *Developmental Psychology*, 12, pp. 175–226.

Santosa, C.M., Strong, C.M., Nowakowska, C., Wang, P.W., Rennicke, C.M. and Ketter, T.A. (2007). 'Enhanced creativity in bipolar disorder patients: a controlled study'. *Journal of affective disorders*, 100(1), pp. 31-39.

Saslow, L.R., John, O.P., Piff, P.K., Willer, R., Wong, E., Impett, E.A., Kogan, A., Antonenko, O., Clark, K., Feinberg, M. and Keltner, D. (2013). 'The social significance of spirituality: New perspectives on the compassion–altruism relationship'. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality*, 5(3), pp. 201-218.

Saudia, T.L., Kinney, M.R., Brown, K.C. and Young-Ward, L. (2001). 'Health locus of control and helpfulness of prayer', in Francis, L.J. and Astley, J. (eds.) *Psychological Perspectives on Prayer: A Reader*, Gracewing, pp. 318-328.

Schapman, A.M. and Inderbitzen-Nolan, H.M. (2002). 'The role of religious behaviour in adolescent depressive and anxious symptomatology'. *Journal of Adolescence*, 25(6), pp. 631-643.

Scher, C.D., Ingram, R.E. and Segal, Z.V. (2005). 'Cognitive reactivity and vulnerability: Empirical evaluation of construct activation and cognitive diatheses in unipolar depression'. *Clinical psychology review*, 25(4), pp. 487-510.

Schlesinger, J. (2009). 'Creative mythconceptions: A closer look at the evidence for the" mad genius" hypothesis'. *Psychology of Aesthetics, Creativity, and the Arts*, 3(2), pp. 62-72.

Schreiter, S., Pijnenborg, G.H.M. and Aan Het Rot, M. (2013). 'Empathy in adults with clinical or subclinical depressive symptoms'. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 150(1), pp. 1-16.

Schuldberg, D. (2001). 'Six subclinical spectrum traits in normal creativity'. *Creativity Research Journal*, 13(1), pp. 5-16.

Schwitzgebel, E. (2015) 'Depressive Thinking Styles and Philosophy', *The splintered mind*, 25 February. Available at: http://schwitzsplinters.blogspot.co.uk/2015/02/depressive-thinking-styles-and.html (accessed: 3 January 2016).

Seligman, M.E. (1975) *Helplessness: On depression, development, and death.* WH Freeman/Times Books/Henry Holt & Co.

Seligman, M. E. (1972). 'Learned helplessness'. Annual review of medicine, 23(1), pp. 407-412.

Seligman, M.E. (2006). *Learned Optimism*. New York, Random Books.

Seligman, M.E., (1990). 'Why is there so much depression today? The waxing of the individual and the waning of the commons', in *Contemporary psychological approaches to depression*, Springer US, pp. 1-9.

Selten, J.-P., van der Ven, E., Rutten, B. P. F. and Cantor-Graae, E. (2013). 'The social defeat hypothesis of schizophrenia: An update'. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 39(6), pp. 1180–1186.

Shapiro, S.L., Schwartz, G.E. and Bonner, G. (1998). 'Effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction on medical and premedical students'. *Journal of behavioral medicine*, 21(6), pp. 581-599.

Shapiro, P.J. and Weisberg, R.W. (1999). 'Creativity and bipolar diathesis: Common behavioural and cognitive components'. *Cognition & Emotion*, 13(6), pp. 741-762.

Sharot, T. (2011). *The Optimism Bias*. New York: Pantheon Books.

Shepperd, J.A., Klein, W.M., Waters, E.A., and Weinstein, N.D., (2013). 'Taking stock of unrealistic optimism'. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 8(4), pp. 395-411.

Shin, L.M., Dougherty, D.D., Orr, S.P., Pitman, R.K., Lasko, M., Macklin, M.L., Alpert, N.M., Fischman, A.J. and Rauch, S.L. (2000). 'Activation of anterior paralimbic structures during guilt-related script-driven imagery'. *Biological psychiatry*, 48(1), pp. 43-50.

Shirley, D.A. and Langan-Fox, J. (1996). 'Intuition: A review of the literature'. *Psychological Reports*, 79(2), pp 563-584.

Shonin, E., Van Gordon, W. and Griffiths, M.D. (2016). 'Ontological addiction: classification, etiology, and treatment'. *Mindfulness*, 7(3), pp. 660-671.

Showalter, S.E. (2010). 'Compassion fatigue: What is it? Why does it matter? Recognizing the symptoms, acknowledging the impact, developing the tools to prevent compassion fatigue, and strengthen the professional already suffering from the effects'. *American Journal of Hospice and Palliative Medicine*, 27(4), pp. 239-242.

Siegel, S. J., and Alloy, L. B. (1990). 'Interpersonal perceptions and consequences of depressive-significant other relationships: A naturalistic study of college roommates'. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 99, pp. 361–373.

Silvia, P. J. (2006). Exploring the psychology of interest. New York: Oxford University Press.

Silvia, P. J. and Kaufman, J. C. (2010). 'Creativity and mental illness', in Kaufman, J.C. and Sternberg, R.J. (eds.). *Cambridge Handbook of Creativity*, New York: Cambridge University Press, pp. 381-394.

Silvia, P.J. and Kimbrel, N.A. (2010). 'A dimensional analysis of creativity and mental illness: Do anxiety and depression symptoms predict creative cognition, creative accomplishments, and creative self-concepts?' *Psychology of aesthetics, creativity, and the arts*, 4(1), pp. 2-10.

Simeonova, D.I., Chang, K.D., Strong, C. and Ketter, T.A. (2005). 'Creativity in familial bipolar disorder'. *Journal of psychiatric research*, 39(6), pp. 623-631.

Simonton, D.K. (1984). 'Artistic creativity and interpersonal relationships across and within generations'. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 46(6), p. 1273-1286.

Simonton, D. K. (1988). 'Creativity, leadership, and chance'. In Sternberg, R. J. and Davidson, J. E. (eds.) *The nature of creativity: Current psychological perspectives*, Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, pp. 386-426.

Simonton, D. K. (2014a). 'More method in the mad-genius controversy: A historiometric study of 204 historic creators'. *Psychology of Aesthetics, Creativity, and the Arts*, 8, pp. 53–61.

Simonton, D. K. (2014b). 'The mad-genius paradox: Can creative people be more mentally healthy but highly creative people more mentally ill?' *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 9, pp. 470–480.

Simonton, D.K. (1975). 'Sociocultural context of individual creativity: a transhistorical timeseries analysis'. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 32(6), pp. 1119-1133.

Smith, A. (1966/1853). *The Theory of Moral Sentiments*, New York: August M. Kelley Publishers.

Snyder, C. R. (1988). 'Reality negotiation: From excuses to hope and beyond'. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 8(2), pp. 130-157.

Solomon, A. (2014). *Depression is a disease of loneliness*. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2014/aug/16/depression-disease-loneliness-friends (Accessed 20 August 2014).

Sorajjakool, S., Aja, V., Chilson, B., Ramírez-Johnson, J. and Earll, A. (2008). 'Disconnection, depression, and spirituality: A study of the role of spirituality and meaning in the lives of individuals with severe depression'. *Pastoral psychology*, 56(5), pp. 521-532.

Sowislo, J. F. and Orth, U. (2013). 'Does low self-esteem predict depression and anxiety? A meta-analysis of longitudinal studies'. *Psychological bulletin*, 139(1), pp. 213-240.

Stanghellini, G. and Ballerini, A. (1992). Ossessione e rivelazione. Turin: Bollati-Boringhieri.

Stanghellini, G. and Raballo, A. (2015). 'Differential typology of delusions in major depression and schizophrenia. A critique to the unitary concept of 'psychosis''. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 171, pp. 171-178.

Stanghellini, G. and Rosfort, R. (2013). *Emotions and personhood: Exploring fragilitymaking sense of vulnerability*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Sternberg, R. J. and Lubart, T. I. (1995). 'An investment perspective on creative insight', in Sternberg, R.J. and Davidson, J.E. (eds.), *The nature of insight*, Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, pp. 386-426.

Sternberg, R. J. and Lubart, T. I. (1999). 'The concept of creativity: Prospects and paradigms', in Sternberg, R.J. (Ed.), *Handbook of creativity*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 3-15.

Stotland, E. (1969). 'Exploratory investigations of empathy'. *Advances in experimental social psychology*, 4, pp. 271-314.

Strickland, B.R. and Shaffer, S. (1971). 'IE, IE, & F'. Journal for the Scientific Study of *Religion*, pp. 366-369.

Strunk, D.R., and Adler, A.D. (2009). 'Cognitive biases in three prediction tasks: a test of the cognitive model of depression'. *Behaviour Research and Therapy* 47, pp. 34–40.

Strunk, D.R., Lopez, H., and DeRubeis, R.J. (2006). 'Depressive symptoms are associated with unrealistic negative predictions of future life events'. *Behaviour Research and Therapy* 44, pp. 861–882.

Stueber, K. (2010). Rediscovering empathy. Cambridge, Massachusetts, MIT Press.

Subasi, M. and Tas, Y., (2016). 'The role of motivating tasks and personal goal orientations in students' coping strategies in science'. *Asia-Pacific Forum on Science Learning & Teaching*, 17, 2(15).

Sullivan-Bissett, E., Bortolotti, L., Broome, M. and Mameli, M. (2016) 'Moral and legal implications of the continuity between delusional and non-delusional beliefs', in Keil, G., Keuck, L., and Hauswald, L. (eds.) *Vagueness in Psychiatry*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 91-210.

Sussman, A. (2007). 'Mental illness and creativity: A neurological view of the "Tortured Artist". *Stanford Journal of Neuroscience*, 1(1), pp 21-24.

Sündermann, O., Onwumere, J., Kane, F., Morgan, C. and Kuipers, E. (2014). 'Social networks and support in first-episode psychosis: exploring the role of loneliness and anxiety'. *Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology*, 49(3), pp. 359-366.

Swann JR., W.B. (1990). 'To be adored or to be known? The interplay of self-enhancement and self-verification', in: Higgins, T.E. and Sorrentino, R.M. (eds.), *Handbook of Motivation and Cognition: Foundations of Social Behavior*. New York: Guilford Press, vol. 2, pp. 408-448.

Swann, W. B., De La Ronde, C., and Hixon, J. G. (1994). 'Authenticity and positivity strivings in marriage and courtship'. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 66, pp. 857–869.

Swann, W. B., and Pelham, B. (2002). 'Who wants out when the going gets good? Psychological investment and preference for self-verifying college roommates'. *Self and Identity*, 1, pp. 219–233.

Swann, W.B., Stein-Seroussi, A. and Giesler, R.B. (1992a). 'Why people self-verify'. *Journal* of personality and social psychology, 62(3), pp. 392-401.

Swann, W. B., Wenzlaff, R. M., and Tafarodi, R. W. (1992b). 'Depression and the search for negative evaluations: More evidence of the role of self-verification strivings'. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 101(2), pp. 314-317.

Swinton, J., (2001). Spirituality and mental health care: Rediscovering a 'forgotten' dimension. London, Philadelphia: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.

Tangney, J. P. (1992). 'Situational determinants of shame and guilt in young adulthood'. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 18, pp. 199-206.

Taylor, S.E. (1989). *Positive illusions: Creative self-deception and the healthy mind*. New York: Basic Books.

Taylor, S. E., and Armor, D. A. (1996). 'Positive illusions and coping with adversity'. *Journal of personality*, 64(4), pp. 873-898.

Taylor, S.E. and Brown, J.D. (1988). 'Illusion and well-being: a social psychological perspective on mental health'. *Psychological bulletin*, 103(2), pp. 193-210.

Taylor, S. E., and Brown, J. D. (1994). 'Positive illusions and well-being revisited: separating fact from fiction'. *Psychological bulletin*, 116(1), pp. 21-27.

Taylor, S. E., Kemeny, M. E., Aspinwall, L. G., Schneider, S. G., Rodriguez, R., and Herbert, M. (1992). 'Optimism, coping, psychological distress, and high-risk sexual behavior among men at risk for acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS)'. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 63(3), pp. 460-473.

Taylor, S. E., Kemeny, M. E., Reed, G. M., Bower, J. E., and Gruenewald, T. L. (2000). 'Psychological resources, positive illusions, and health'. *American Psychologist*, 55(1), pp. 99-109.

Teasdale, J.D. (1997). 'The relationship between cognition and emotion: The mind-in-place in mood disorders', in Clark, D.M. and Fairburn, C.G. (eds.), *Science and Practice of Cognitive Behaviour Therapy*. Oxford: Oxford Medical Publications, pp. 67-93.

Teasdale, J.D. and Barnard, P.J. (1993). Affect, Cognition and Change: Re-modelling Depressive Thought. Hillsdale: Erlbaum.

Tennen, H., and Herzberger, S. (1987). 'Depression, self-esteem, and the absence of selfprotective attributional biases'. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 52, pp. 72–80.

Tero, P. K and Connell, J. P. (1984). 'When children think they've failed: An academic coping inventory'. Paper presented at the *Annual Conference of the American Educational Research Association*, New Orleans, LA.

Thimm, J. C., Holte, A., Brennen, T., and Wang, C. E. (2013). 'Hope and expectancies for future events in depression'. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 4(July), pp. 1–6.

Thoma, P., Zalewski, I., von Reventlow, H.G., Norra, C., Juckel, G. and Daum, I. (2011). 'Cognitive and affective empathy in depression linked to executive control'. *Psychiatry research*, 189(3), pp.373-378.

Thomas, K.M. and Duke, M. (2007). 'Depressed writing: Cognitive distortions in the works of depressed and nondepressed poets and writers'. *Psychology of Aesthetics, Creativity, and the Arts*, 1(4), p. 204-218.

Tiger, L. (1979). Optimism: The biology of hope. New York: Simon & Schuster.

Tillich, P., (1965). 'The right to hope. Text: Romans 4, 18:» In hope he believed against hope «. *Neue Zeitschrift für systematische Theologie und Religionsphilosophie*', 7(3), pp. 371-377.

Titchener, E. B. (1909) *Lectures on the Experimental Psychology of Thought-Processes*, New York: Macmillan.

Torrance, E.P. (1988). 'The nature of creativity as manifest in its testing', in Sternberg, R. (ed.) *The nature of creativity*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 43-75.

Trew, J. L. (2011). 'Exploring the roles of approach and avoidance in depression: An integrative model'. *Clinical psychology review*, 31(7), pp. 1156-1168.

Treynor, W., Gonzalez, R. and Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2003). 'Rumination reconsidered: A psychometric analysis'. *Cognitive therapy and research*, 27(3), pp. 247-259.

Tsoudis, O. (2002) 'The influence of empathy in mock jury criminal cases: Adding to the affect control model'. *Western Criminology Review* 4, pp. 55–67.

Vangelisti, A. L., Daly, J. A. and Rudnick, J. R. (1991). 'Making people feel guilty in conversations: Techniques and correlates'. *Human Communication Research*, 18(1), pp. 3-39.

Vázquez, C. (1987). 'Judgment of contingency: cognitive biases in depressed and nondepressed subjects'. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 52(2), pp. 419–431.

Ventis, W.L. (1995). 'The relationships between religion and mental health'. *Journal of Social Issues*, 51, pp. 33-48.

Verhaeghen, P., Joorman, J. and Khan, R. (2005). 'Why we sing the blues: the relation between self-reflective rumination, mood, and creativity'. *Emotion*, 5(2), pp. 226-232.

Walker, A., Koestner, R. and Hum, A. (1995). 'Personality correlates of depressive style in autobiographies of creative achievers'. *The Journal of Creative Behavior*, 29(2), pp. 75-94.

Wallace Jr, J.M. and Williams, D.R., (1997). 'Religion and adolescent health-compromising behavior'. In Schulenberg, J., Maggs, J. L., and Hurrelmann, K., *Health risks and developmental transitions during adolescence*, New York: Cambridge University Press, pp. 444-468.

Ward, T. B., Smith, S. M. and Finke, R. A. (1999). 'Creative cognition'. In Sternberg, R.J. (ed.), *Handbook of creativity*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 189-212.

Weary, G. and Williams, J. P. (1990). 'Depressive self-presentation: beyond self-handicapping'. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 58(5), pp. 892-898.

Weeks, D.G., Michela, J.L., Peplau, L.A. and Bragg, M.E. (1980). Relation between loneliness and depression: a structural equation analysis. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 39(6), pp. 1238-1244.

Wegner, D. M., Schneider, D. J., Carter, S. R., and White, T. L. (1987). 'Paradoxical effects of thought suppression'. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 53(1), pp. 5–13.

Weisberg, R.W. (1993). Creativity: Beyond the myth of creativity. New York: Freeman.

Weisberg, R. W. (2006). *Creativity: Understanding innovation in problem solving, science, invention, and the arts.* Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.

Weiss, R. S. (1973). *Loneliness: The experience of emotional and social isolation*. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.

Wertheimer, M. (1982). Productive thinking. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Wispé, L. (1987). 'History of the Concept of Empathy', in Eisenberg, N. and Strayer, J. (eds.) *Empathy and Its Development*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 17–37

Wispé, L. (1991). The psychology of sympathy. New York: Springer Science & Business Media.

Wolke, D., Lereya, S. T., Fisher, H. L., Lewis, G. and Zammit, S. (2014). 'Bullying in elementary school and psychotic experiences at 18 years: A longitudinal, population-based cohort study'. *Psychological Medicine*, 44(10), pp. 2199–2211.

Wolkenstein, L., Schönenberg, M., Schirm, E. and Hautzinger, M. (2011). 'I can see what you feel, but I can't deal with it: impaired theory of mind in depression'. *Journal of affective disorders*, 132(1), pp. 104-111.

Wright, L.S., Frost, C.J. and Wisecarver, S.J. (1993). 'Church attendance, meaningfulness of religion, and depressive symptomatology among adolescents'. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 22(5), pp. 559-568.

Xu, X., X. Zuo, X. Wang, and S. Han (2009). 'Do You Feel My Pain? Racial Group Membership Modulates Empathic Neural Responses', *Journal of Neuroscience*, 29, pp. 8525–8529.

Yates, S. M. (2002). 'The influence of optimism and pessimism on student achievement in mathematics'. *Mathematics Education Research Journal*, 14(1), pp. 4-15.

Young, J. E. (1982). 'Loneliness, depression, and cognitive therapy: Theory and application', in Peplau, L.A. and Perlman, D. (eds.) *Loneliness: A sourcebook of current theory, research and therapy*. New York: Wiley, pp. 379–405.

Young, J.E., Klosko, J.S. and Weishaar, M.E. (2003). *Schema therapy: A practitioner's guide*. New York: Guilford Press.

Zahn-Waxler, C. (2000). 'The development of empathy, guilt, and internalization of distress: implications for gender differences in internalizing and externalizing problems', in R. J. Davidson (ed.), *Anxiety, Depression, and Emotion*. New York: Oxford University Press, pp. 222-265.

Zahn-Waxler, C., Radke-Yarrow, M. and King, R. A. (1979). 'Child rearing and children's prosocial initiations towards victims of distress'. *Child Development*, 50, pp. 319–330.

Zavos, H.M., Freeman, D., Haworth, C.M., McGuire, P., Plomin, R., Cardno, A.G. and Ronald, A. (2014). 'Consistent etiology of severe, frequent psychotic experiences and milder,

less frequent manifestations: a twin study of specific psychotic experiences in adolescence'. JAMA psychiatry, 71(9), pp. 1049-1057.

Zinnbauer, B.J., Pargament, K.I., Cole, B., Rye, M.S., Butter, E.M., Belavich, T.G., Hipp, K.M., Scott, A.B. and Kadar, J.L. (1997). 'Religion and spirituality: Unfuzzying the fuzzy'. *Journal for the scientific study of religion*, pp. 549-564.

Zinnbauer, B.J., Pargament, K.I. and Scott, A.B. (1999). 'The emerging meanings of religiousness and spirituality: Problems and prospects'. *Journal of personality*, 67(6), pp. 889-919.

Zuckerman, D.M., Kasl, S.V., and Ostfeld, A.M. (1984). 'Psychosocial predictors of mortality among the elderly poor: The role of religion, well-being and social contacts'. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 119, pp. 410-423.